i

__ approximately $45. Significant assumptions for the discount
‘rate, long-term rate of return on plan assets and composite rate
of compensation increase used in developing the APBQ and
related postretirement benefit costs were the same as those
used in developing the pension information.

NOTE 13. Other Employee Benefits

Employee Stock Cronership Plans - SBC maintains contribu-
tary savings plans which cover substantially all employees.
Under the savings plans, SBC matches a stated percentage of
eligible employee contributions, subject to a specified ceiling.

SBC has three leveraged Employee Stock Qwnership Plans
(ESOPs) as part of the existing savings plans. Two of the ESOPs
were funded with notes issued by the savings plans to various
lenders, the proceeds of which were used to purchase shares of
58C's common stock in the open market. These notes are
unconditionally guaranteed by SBC and therefore presented as’
a reduction to shareowners’ equity and an increase in long-term
debt. They will be repaid with SBC contributions to the savings
plans, dividends paid on SBC shares and interest earned on
funds held by the ESQPs.

The third ESOP purchased PAC treasury shares in exchange
for a promissory note from the plan to PAC. Since PAC is the
tender, this note is not reflected as a liabifity and the remaining
cost of unallocated trust shares is carried as a reduction of
shareowners’ equity. Principal and interest on the note are paid
from employer contributions and dividends received by the
strust. All PAC shares were exchanged for SBC shares effective
with the merger April 1, 1997 The provisions of this ESOP were
unaffected by this exchange. .

SBC's match of employee contributions to the savings plans
is fulfilled with shares of stock allocated from the ESOPs and
with purchases of SBC's stock in the open market. Shares held
by the ESOPs are released for allocation to the accounts of
employees as employer matching contributions are earned.
Benefit cost is based on a combination of the contributions to
the savings plans and the cost of shares altocated to participat-
ing employees’ accounts. Both benefit cost and interest
expense on the notes are reduced by dividends on SBC's shares
held by the ESOPs and interest earned on the ESOPs’ funds.

Information related to the ESOPs and the savings plans is
summarized below:

1997 1996 1995
Benefit expense-net of dividends
and interest income $46 $ 65 $ 66
Interest expense-net of dividends
and interest income 18 26 37
Total expense $64 ¢ 9 $103
Company contributions for ESOPs $98 $108 5 89
Dividends and interest income
far deht service $58 $ 62 $ 72

SBC shares held by the ESOPs are summarized as follows at
. December 31: '

oo 1997 1996
—"Unallocated 15,621,250 31,005,792
Committed to be allocated 282,388 -355,188
Allocated to participants 43,151,816 31,119,148
Total 59.055.454 62,480,128

[

NOTE 14. Stock-Based Compensation

Under various SBC plans, senior and other management
employees and non-employee directors have received stock
options, SARs, performance shares and nonvested stock units
to purchase shares of SBC common stock, Options issued
through December 31, 1997 carry exercise prices equal to the
market price of the stock at the date of grant and have maxi-
mum terms ranging from five to ten years. Depending upon the
grant, vesting of options may occur up to four years from the
date of grant. Performance shares are granted to key employees
in the form of common stock and/or in cash based upon the
price of common stock at date of grant and are awarded at the
end of a two or three year period, subject to the achievement
of certain performance goals. Nenvested stock units are also
valued at market price of the stock at.date of grant and vest
over a three-year period. Up to 156 million shares may be
issued under these plans,

"In 1996 SBC elected to:continue: measuring compensation
cost for these plans using the intrinsic value-based method
of accounting prescribed in Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation” (FAS 123). Accordingly, no compensation cost
for SBC's stock option plans has been recognized. The compen-
sation cost that has been charged against income for S8C's
other stock-based compensation plans, primarily SARs and non-
vested stock units, totaled $43, $22 and $24 for 1997, 1996
and 1995, Had compensation cost for stock option plans been
recognized using the fairvalue based method of accounting at
the date of grant for awards in 1997, 1996 and 1995 as defined
by FAS 123, SBC’s niet income (loss) would have been $1,400,
$3.250 and $(3,074) and basic net income (loss) per share
would have been $0.77, $1.77 and $(1.67).

Options and SARs heid by the continuing employees of
PAC at the time of the AirTouch Communications Inc. spin-off
were supplemented with an equal number of options and SARs
for common shares of spun-off operations. The exercise prices
for outstanding options and SARs held by continuing employ-
ees of PAC were adjusted downward to reflect the value of the
supplemental spun-off operations’ options and SARs. The bal-
ance sheet reflects a related liability equal to the difference
between the current market price of spun-off operations
stock and the exercise prices of the supplemental options
outstanding (see Note 10). As of December 31, 1997,
831,139 supplemental spun-off operations options and SARs
were outstanding with expiration dates ranging from 1998 to
2003. Qutstanding options and SARs that were held by
employees of the wireless operations at the spin-off date were
replaced by options and SARs for common shares of spun-off
operations. The spun-off operations assumed liability for
these replacement options and SARs.

For purposes of these pro forma disclosures, the estimated
fair vaiue of the options granted after 1994 is amortized to
expense over the options’ vesting period. Because most
employee options vest over a two- to three-year period,
these disclosures will not be indicative of future pro forma
amounts until the FAS 123 rules are applied to all outstanding
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non-vested awards. The fair value for these options was esti-
mated at the date of grant, using a Black-5choles option pricing
model with the following weighted-average assumptions used
for grants in 1997 1996 and 1995: risk-free interest rate of
6.57%, 6.26% and 6.34%: dividend yield of 2.99%, 4.92%
and 3.61%: expected volatility factor of 15%, 18% and 18%;
and expected option life of 5.8, 4.7 and 4.6 years.

Information related to options and $SARs is summarized
below and has been restated to reflect the two-for-one stock
split declared January 30, 1998:

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Number Price
Outstanding at January 1, 1995 43,988,164 $19.52
Granted 16,735,644 23.49
Exercised (4.373,340) 16.90
Forfeited/Expired (1,509,368) 21.36
Outstanding at December 31, 1995
(25.524,518 exercisable
at weighted average price
of $19.05) 54,841,100 20.89
Granted 24,643,276 2298
Exercised (3,767,420} 18.73
Forfeited/Expired {1.518,552) 21.56
Qutstanding at December 31, 1996
(35,522,826 exercisable
at weighted average price ’
of $20.13) 74,198,404 21.68
Cranted 32,034,238 27.58
Exercised (17,118,968) 20.52
Forfeited/Expired (4,441,532) 25.4%
Qutstanding at December 31, 1997
(40,802,392 exercisable
at weighted average price
of $21.02) 84,672,142 $23.95

Information related to options and SARs outstanding at
December 31, 1997:

~$20.00
-22.49

$12.00
Exercise Price Range ~ -1249

$12.50
-19.99

$22.50
-29.19

Number of options and SARs:

Outstanding 67.560 9,877,430 18,978,694 55748458

Exercisable 67,560 9.877.430 18944252 11,913,150
Weighted average exercise price:

Qutstanding $1208 $17.50 $ 20.92 $26.13

Exercisable $1208 $1750  $2092 $24.14
Weighted average

remaining

contractual life 0.8 year 5.9 years 6.2 years 7.5 years

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of each option
granted during 1997, 1996 and 1995 was $5.65, $3.45 and
$4.16.

NOTE 15. Shareowners' Equity

Common Stock Split - On January 30, 1998, the Board of
Directors of SBC (Board) declared a two-for-one stock split,
effected in the form of a stock dividend, on the shares of SBC's
common stock. Each shareholder of record on February 20,
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1998 will receive an additional share of common stock for ea
share of comman stock then heid. The stock will be issued
March 19, 1998. SBC will retain the current par value of $1.00
per share for all shares of comman stock.

Shareowners” Rights Plan - The Shareowners’ Rights Plan
{Plan} becomes operative in certain events involving the acqui-
sitian of 20% or mare of SBC's common stock by any person
or group in a transaction not approved by the Board, or the
designation by the Board of a person or group owning more
than 10% of the outstanding stock as an adverse person; as
provided in the Plan. Upon the cccurrence of these events,

each right, unless redeemed by the Board, generally entitles the

holder (other than the holder triggering the right} to purchase
an armount of common stock of SBC (or, in certain circum-
stances, of the potential acquiror) having a value equal to two
times the exercise price of $160. The rights expire in january
1999. After giving effect to stock splits in January 1998 and

May 1993, effected in the form of a stock dividend, each share

of common stock represents one-quarter of a right:

The rights have certain antitakeover effects. The rights will
cause substantial dilution to a person or group that attempts to
acquire SBC on terms not approved by the Board.

The rights should not interfere with any merger or other
business combination approved by the Board since the rights
may be redeemed.

NOTE 16. Acquisitions and Dispositions

In May 1997, a consortium made up of SBC and Telekom
Malaysia Berhad, 60% owned by SBC, completed the purchase
of 30% of Telkom SA Limited (Teftkom), the state-owned
telecommunications company of South Africa. SBC invested
$760, approximately $600 of which will remain in Telkom.

In October 1995, SBC combined its United Kingdom cable
television operations with those of TeleWest Communications,
PL.C., a publicly held joint venture between Telecommunications,
Inc. and U § WEST, Inc. The resulting entity, TeleWest PL.C.

ot

(TeleWest), is the largest cable television operator in the United:. ..

Kingdom. SBC owns approximately 15% of the new entity and
accounts for its investment using the cost method of account-
ing. Restrictions expiring over the next three years exist on the
sale of SBC's interest in TeleWest. SBC recorded an after-tax
gain of $111 associated with the combination.

During 1995, SBC purchased at auction PCS licenses in
Los Angeles-San Diego, California; San Francisco-Oakland-
San jose, California; Memphis, Tennessee; Little Rock, Arkansas;
and Tulsa, Oklahoma for approximately $769. During 1996,
SBC received several AT&T cellular networks in Arkansas in
exchange for SBC's PCS licenses in Memphis and Little Rock
and other consideration.

These acquisitions were primarily accounted for under the
purchase method of accounting. The purchase prices in exce.

of the underlying fair value of identifiable net assets acquired- -

are being amortized over periods not to exceed 40 years.
Results of operations of the properties acquired have been
included in the consolidated financial statements from their
respective dates of acquisition.
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The above developments did not have a significant impact on

“onsolidated results of operations for 1997 or 1995, nor would

they had they occurred on January 1 of the respective periods.

NQTE 17. Additional Financial Information

No customer accounted for more than 10% of consolidated
revenues in 1997, 1996 or 1995.

Several subsidiaries of SBC have negotiated contracts with

the Communications Workers of America (CWA). Approximately
67% of SBC's employees are represented by the CWA.

December 31,

Balance Sheets 1997 1996
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Accounts payable $2,848 $2,743

Accrued taxes 1,108 893

Advance billing and customer deposits 699 611

Compensated future absences 524 479

Accrued interest 306 279

Accrued payroll 318 194

Other 2,088 1,387
Total $7.883 36,584
Statements of [ncome 1997 1996 1995
Interest expense incurred $1,067 3 948  $1,000
Capitalized interest (120 (136) {(43)
Total interest expense $ 947 % 812 % 957
Allowance for funds used ‘

during canstruction - - % 48
Statements of Cash Flows 1997 1996 1995
Cash paid during the year for:

Interest $ 920 $ 799 § 974
y Income taxes $ 410 $1283 §£1,220

/

Contracts covering an estimated 77,000 employees between
- the CWA and several SBC subsidiaries end in 1998. New
contracts are scheduled to be negotiated in 1998.

NOTE 18, Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

Basic
Earnings

Calendar Oper;-fintag' Operating Net Income (?::1)::; Stock Price®
Quarter Revenuest® Income (Loss) (Loss) Share'® High Low Close
1997
First(" £ 5973 $1,586 $ 857 $047 $29.125 $24.813 $26.250
Second"” 5,921 (933) (787) (0.43) 30.938.  24.625 30.938
Thirdt" 6,329 1,472 816 0.45 31.125 26.781 30.719
Fourth" 6,633 1,045 588 0.32 38.063 30.000 36.625
Annual™ $24,8356 $3.170 $1.474 $ 081
1996
First @ $ 5564 $1,458 $ 888 $048 $30.125 $24.875 $26.313
Second 5731 1,489 303 0.44 25.375 23125 24625
Third 5,948 1.532 867 0.47 25.500 23.000 24.063
Fourth 6,202 1,357 721 0.39 27.625 23.500 25938
Annual® $23.445 $5.836 $3,279 $1.78

“Net income (loss) includes $90 first quarter pension settlement gain for 1996 retirements (see Note 12), $1.6 billion second quarter charges related to post-merger

initiatives (see Note 3), $43 and $360 of third and fourth quarter merger integration costs and customer number portability expenses and $33 fourth quarter gain
“von sale of SBC's interests in Bell Communications Research, Inc.

Net Income and Earnings per Common Share reflect a cumulative effect of accounting change of $90 or $0.05 per share from change in accounting for

" directory operations.

“IRestated to reflect two-for-one stock split declared January 30, 1998. Stock prices have not been adjusted to reflect the merger with PAC.
“'Quarterly information has been restated to conform to the current presentation of promotional discounts.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The Board of Directors and Shareowners
SBC Communications inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets of SBC Communications Inc. (the Company) as of
December 31. 1997 and 1996, and the related consolidated
statements of income, shareowners’ equity, and cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
1997. These consolidated financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. QOur responsibility
is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audits. We did not audit the 1996
and 1995 financial statements of Pacific Telesis Group, a
wholly-owned subsidiary, which statements reflect total assets
constituting 42% of the Company’s related 1996 consolidated
financial statement total and which reflect total operating
revenues constituting approximately 41% and 42% of the
Company's related consolidated financial statement totals for -
the years ended December 31, 1996 and 1995, respectively.
Those statements.were audited by other auditors whose report,
which has been furnished to us, included an explanatory
paragraph that describes the change in its methad of
recognizing directory publishing revenues and related expenses,
and the discontinuance of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 71, "Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types
of Regulation.” Cur opinion, insofar as it relates to the 1996
and 1995 data included for Pacific Telesis Group, is based
solely on the report of the other auditors.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financiai statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audits and the report of other auditors
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

in our opinion, based on our audits and, for 1996 and
1995, the report of other auditors, the consolidated financial
statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of SBC
Communications Inc. at December 31, 1997 and 1996, and the
consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 1997, in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements, Pacific Bell, a subsidiary of Pacific Telesis Group,
changed its method of recognizing directory publishing revenues
and related expenses effective January 1, 1996. As discussed in
Note 2 to the consolidated finandial statements, SBC
Communications Inc. discontinued its application of Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 71, “Accounting for the
Effects of Certain Types of Regulation™ in 1995.

Banct ¢ MLLP

San Antonio, Texas
February 20, 1998
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REPORT OF MANAGEMENT

The consclidated financial statements have been prepared in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. The
integrity and objectivity of the data in these financial
statements, including estimates and judgments relating to
matters not concluded by year end, are the responsibility of
management, as is all other information included in the Annual
Report, unless otherwise indicated.

The financial statements of SBC Communications Inc.
(SBC} have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP. independent
auditors. Management has made available to Ernst & Young LLP
all of SBC’s financial records and related data, as well as the
minutes of shareowners’ and directors’ meetings. Furthermore,
management believes that all representations made to Ernst &
Young LLP during its audit were valid and appropriate.

Management has established and maintains a system of
internal accounting controls that provides reasonable assurance
as to the integrity and reliability of the financial statements, the
protection of assets from unauthorized use or disposition and
the prevention and detection of fraudulent financial reporting,
The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that the costs
of an internal accounting controls system should not exceed, in
management’s judgment, the benefits to be derived.

Management also seeks to ensure the objectivity and
integrity of its financial data by the careful selection of its
managers, by organizational arrangements that provide an
appropriate division of responsibility and by communication
programs aimed at ensuring that its policies, standards and
managerial authorities are understood throughout the
organization. Management continually monitors the system of
internal accounting controls for compliance. SBC maintains an
internal auditing program that independently assesses the
effectiveness of the internal accounting controls and
recommends improvements thereto.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, which
consists of eight directors who are not employees, meets
periodically with management, the internal auditors and the
independent auditors to review the manner in which they are
performing their responsibilities and to discuss auditing,
internal accounting controls and financial reporting matters.
Both the internal auditors and the independent auditors
periodically meet alone with the Audit Committee and have
access to the Audit Committee at any time.

i d & Mm}.

Edward E. Whitacre Jr.
Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer

e E. Sforman

Donald E. Kiernan
Senior Vice President, Treasurer
and Chief Financial Officer




SBC BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Fdward E. I hHuere 1., 56%49
Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer
SBC Communications inc.
ol San Antonio, Texas
SBC Director since Qctober 1986
Background: Telecommunications

Gitbert #Umelio. Ph.D.. 559

Partner

The Parkside Group, LLC

) Principal

W Aircraft Ventures, LLC

San Francisco, California

Advisory Director since April 1997

PTG Director 1955-1997

Background: Technology, electronics
engineering

Clarence . Burksdude, 659
Vice Chairman,
Board of Trustees
Washington University
5t. Louis, Missouri
SBC Director since October 1983
SWBT Director 1982-1983
Background: Banking

James E. Barnes. 649
Chairman of the Board.
President and

Chief Executive Officer
‘ 4 MAPCQC Inc,
Tulsa, Oklzhoma

SBC Director since November 1990
Background: Diversified energy

Jack 5. Blanton. 709

Chairman

Houston Endowment, Inc.

President and

Chief Executive Officer

Eddy Refining Company
Houston, Texas
Advisory Director since Aprit 1397
SBC Director 1983-1997
SWRBT Director 1977-1983
Background: Petroleum products

Avgust A. Busch Il go>4®
Chairman of the
Board and President
Anheuser-Busch
Companies, Inc.
St. Louis, Missouri
SBC Director since October 1983
SWBT Director 1980-1983
Background: Brewing, family
entertainment, transportation,
manufacturer of aluminum
beverage containers

Royee 8. Caldwell, 599
President-SBC Operations
SBC Communications inc.
San Antonio, Texas
SBC Director since
April 1957
Background: Telecommunications

Huben R Cardenas. 67
Partner
Cardenas, Whitis &
Stephen, L.LP
McAllen, Texas
SBC Director since October 1983
SWBT Director 1975-1983
Background: Law

The Honorable
Ititliam B Clark. 66®
Chief Executive Officer
Clark Company
Senior Counsel
Clark, Cali and Negranti
Paso Robles, California
SBC Director since April 1997
PTG Director 1985-1997
Background: Law, ranching

Martin K. Eby, Ir, 63"

Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer

The Eby Corporation
Wichita, Kansas

SBC Director since june 1992

Background: General building

construction

Tom C. Frost, 70/%9
Senior Chairman of

the Board
Cullen/Frost 8ankers, Inc.
San Antonio, Texas
Advisory Director since April 1997
SBC Director 1983-1997
SWBT Director 1974-1983
Background: Banking

Herman E. Gullegos. 67

independent Management
Consultant
¢3 Brisbane, California
SBC Director since

April 1997
PTG Director 1983-1997
Background: Management consuiting

Jess T Hay, 6709

Chairman

Texas Foundation for
Higher Education

Chairman

HCB Enterprises Inc

Dallas, Texas

SBC Director since April 1986
Background: financial services

Admiral Bobby R Inman. 669

United States Navy, Retired
Austin, Texas
) SBC Director since
P March 1985
Background; Private investment

Charles F. Knight, 62%%9

Chairman and

E Chief Executive Officer
Emerson Electric Co.
St. Louis, Missouri

SBC Director since October 1983
SWBT Director 1974-1983
Background: Electrical manufacturing

Mary 8. Metz. Ph.D., 60"

Dean
: University Extension
University of California,
Berkeley

Berkeley, California

SBC Director since April 1997

PTG Director 1986-1997

Background: Education, administration

Dr: Haskell M. Monroe. Jr., 66°9

Dean of Faculties Emeritus
and Director of Academic
Development

Texas A&M University

College Station, Texas

SBC Director since QOctober 1983

SWBT Director 1982-1983

Background: Education, administration

Toni Remsbe, Esq.. 619

Partner

Pillsbury Madison &

Sutro LLP

San Francisco, California
SBC Director since January 1998
Advisory Director 1997-1998
PTG Director 1991-1997
Background: Law

3. Donley Ritchey, 6459

Managing Partner

Alpine Partners

Chairman and Chief

Executive Officer {Retired)

Lucky Stores, Inc.
Danville, California
SBC Director since April 1997
PTG Director 1984-1997
Background: Diversified retail

Richard M. Rosenberg, 67%9

Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer (Retired)

BankAmerica Corporation
San Francisco, California

SBC Director since April 1997

PTG Director 1994-1997

Background: Banking

Ing. Carlos Stim Helii, 589
Chairman of the Board
‘+¥ GCrupo Carso, SA.de CV.
\  Mesico City, Mexico
N SBC Director since
September 1993
Background: Telecommunications,
consumer goods, automobile parts.
construction, retailing

Patricia P Upton, 539
President and
Chief Executive Officer
Aromatique, Inc.
.4 Heber Springs. Arkansas
SBC Director since June 1993
Background: Decorative home
fragrances

Cammittees of the Board:

(1) Audit

(2) Corporate Development

(3) Corporate Public Policy
and Environmental Affairs

(4) Executive

(5) Fimance/Pension

(6) Human Resources
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EXECUTIVES OF SBC AND

SBC Senior Executives
Fdward E. Thitaere Ji., 56

chairman and
chief executive officer,
SBC Coemmunications

gl Ho AtterDue 111, 49
sanior vice president-
international operations,
SBC Communications
Rovee 3. Caldicel!, 59
president-SBC operations,
SBC Communicaticns
Cussundra C. Cwr 53
senior vice president-
human resources,

SBC Communications
Hitliem £, Drever: 60
senior executive vice: -
president-external-affairs.
SBC Communications
Jumes D, Ellis, 58
senior executive vice president
and general counsei,

SBC Communications
Chartes £, Foster: 61
group president-SBC,
SBC Communications

James S. Aahan. 50

sertior vice president -
carporate development,

$8C Communications

Donald E. Kiernan. 57
senior vice president, treasurer
and chief financiai officer,

SBC Communications

Linda 5. Mills, 46

senior vice president-
corporate communications,
SBC Communications

Stanlev T Sigmnan, 50
president and

chief executive officer

SBC Wireless inc. -

Other Executives
Hayme S, Alexangdef, 49
president-SBC] (CHifeY,
SBC International
Thomas M. Barr: 53
senior vice president-
federal relations,

SBC Telecommunications

Iiltien 4. Blase. 42

vice president-regutatory,
Pacific Telesis

Biaine Bull. 40
president-government affairs,
Pacific Telesis

James 117 Callaieay, 51
president-public affairs,
Pacific Telesis

Lee Ceunp, 55
president and

chief executive officer-
Pacific Teiesis

Enhanced Services,
Pacific Telesis
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Stephen M. Curter: 44
president-special markets,
5BC Telecommunications
Lea Ann Champion, 39
regional president-

customer services,
Southwestern Bell Telephone

Duvid 1. Cole, 49
president (Texas),
Southwestern Bell Telephone

Liam 5. Coonan. 62
senior vice president and
assistant general counsel,
SBC Communications

Hitbur Crosstey. 54
vice president-network
(Telkom South Africa),
SBC International
Patricia Ditz Dennis. 51
senior vice president and
assistant general counsel,
SBC Communications
Richard €. Dietz. 51
president, SBCI (Mexica),
SBC International

Iiiam E. Downing, 58
executive vice president.
Pacific Telesis

Durteard D. Dupre, 54
vice president and

associate general counsel,
SBC Telecommunications

A Cliff Eason. 50

president and

chief executive officer,
Southwestern Bell Telephone

Melanie 5. Funnin. 47
regional president (Sacramento),
Pacific Telesis

Robert Frrguson. 38
regional president (San Diego},
Pacific Telesis

James D. Gallemore, 46
executive vice president-
strategic marketing,

58C Operations

R McRae Geschivind. 56
president-SBCI

{Telkom South Africa),

SBC International

Michael N, Gilliam. 45
regional president-

network operations,
Southwestern Bell Telephone
Edward L. Glotzbach. 43
president and

chief executive officer,
SBC Services

flilliam J. Hannigan, 38
regional president-

customer services.,
Southwestern Bell Telephone

ITS SUBSIDIARIES

Timothy 5, [furden. 44
vice president and

generai manager-

industry operations,

SBC Telecommunications
Priscifla Hilt-\rdoin. 46
president {Missouri),
Southwestern Bell Telephone

Ross K. Irefand, 50

vice president-netwark
planning and engineering,
Pacific Telesis

Raren E. Jennings. 47
vice president and general
manager-operator services,
SBC Telecommunications

Ronald M. Jennings. 56
vice president and
general manager-

public communications
SBC Telecommunications

Martin . Aaplan, 60
executive vice president,
Pacific Telesis

Michael Raufinan, 52
president-consumer
communications services,
Pacific Bell

Sandy Rirnney, 50

vice president and general
manager-industry markets,
SBC Telecommunications

Robert Lee, 49
executive vice president-
merger transition,
Pacific Bell

Richard G. Lindner. 43
vice president and

chief financial officer.
Southwestern Bell Telephone
David R Lopez. 46
president {Cklahoma),
Southwestern Bell Telephone

Norma Martinez Lozano. 41
vice president-

diversity marketing,

SBC Operations

Gary 17 Lucas. 53
vice president-labor relations,
Southwestern Bell Telephone

Robert M. Lynch, 47

senior vice president and
general counsel-externat affairs,
SBC Telecommunications

Mary T Muanning. 47
vice president-
corporate real estate,
SBC Services

epme D, Muasters. 52

vice president-

customer services,
Southwestern Beil Telephone
Hilliean B. McCutlough, 46
president and

chief executive officer,
Southwestern Bell Wireless

Shawen M. McKenzie, 39
president (Kansas),
Southwestern Bell Telephone

Forrest E. Miller. 45
president and

chief executive officer,
SBC Directory Operations

Tom E. Morgan. 51
regional president-
customer services,
Southwestern Bell Telephone

Thomas O. Moudton. Ji.. 51
vice president-state relations,
Pacific Telesis

Edward 4. Mueller. 50
president and

chief executive officer,
Pacific Bell

Carmen Nava. 35
regional president
{Los Angeles),
Pacific Telesis

Robert J. Nelson. 39
president-Midwest,
Cellular Cne

David Nichols, 40
president (Nevada),
Nevada Bell

Richard I}, Odgers, 61
executive vice president
and general counsel,
Pacific Telesis

Thomas 4. Pall. 58
senior vice president-sales,
SBC Directory Operations

Patsy F. Parker, 50
president,
SBC Center for Learning

T Michael Paynie, 47
senjor vice president,

general counsel and secretary,
Pacific Telesis

Robert B. Pickering, 39
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progress for SBC Communications, as we
strengthened our leadership in telecommunications

and continued to shape our future as an integrated,




Amid dynamic industry change, we remain
focused on providing our customers a seamless
range of high-quality services whenever and
wherever they need them, while providing

outstanding value to our shareowners. °

This document reports progress on our
initiatives to remain one of the world’s leading
telecommunications companies now and in

the 21st century.

*Adjusted earnings per diluted share represent income before extraordinary loss and cumulative effect of accounting change adjusted
for the following: 1998 excludes a net charge of $0.03 per diluted share prindpaily for strategic decisions reiated to the merger of SBC
and SNET offset by gains on the sale of certain non-core businesses; 1997 excludes a net charge of $0.91 per dituted share regarding
$1.8 billion of ene-time charges principally for strategic decisions related to the merger of SBC and Pacific Telesis, These adjustments
are described on page 6.
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1998 Progress Report

Financial information dollars in mitlions) 1997 Change
Reported net income $4,023 $1.674 140.3%
Accounting change and Extraordinary loss - net $ 45 5 — —
Reported earnings 54,068 51,674 143.0%
Special charges $§ 49 51,776 —
Adjusted earnings $4,117 53,450 19.3%

Adjusted earnings for 1998 exclude 548 million for net charges principally for strategic dedisions related o the merger of SBC and SNET offset
by gains on the sales of cettain non-core businesses. Adjusted eamings for 1997 exclude $1.8 biilion of one-time net charges principaity for
strategic decisions related to the merger of SBC and Pacific Telesls. These adjustmenys are described on page 6.

Per Share of Common Stock 1998 1997 Change

Adjusted earnings per diluted share $ 208 5 176 18.2%

Dividend ) $ 0.935 $ 0.895 45%

Year-end stock price $53.625 $36.625 46.4%
HIGHLIGHTS

SBC advances its global strategy by announcing plans to merge with Ameritech and then
expand to 30 markets beyond the new company’s combined region. The merger will provide
increased scale and geographic scope, enabling the company to provide high-quality,
competitive services to customers in the nation’s 50 largest markets.

SBC acquires Southern New England Telecommunications (SNET), gaining another great
brand, strong wireline and complementary wireless businesses, long-distance experience and
expanded presence in the Northeastern United States.

Synergies from the Pacific Telesis merger are ahead of schedule to add $1 billion in net
income by next year.

In January 1999, SBC launches the nation’s largest rollout of Asymmetrical Digital
Subscriber Line (ADSL) — a high-speed Internet access service — at affordable prices,
capitalizing on opportunities in the rapidly growing data market.

The February 1999 alliance with Williams Communications provides SBC with a high-
quality fiber-based broadband network for long-distance service.
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DEAR FELLOW INVESTOR:

Nineteen ninety-eight was an excellent year for SBC Communications.

It was, first and foremost, a year in which your company delivered strong

earnings growth. We also took strategic steps to ensure that, as our industry

continues to evoive, SBC will continue to create outstanding value for you

well into the future.

In 1998, our adjusted earnings rose by 19.3 percent. Accounting |

for our February 1998 two-for-one stock split, SBC's diluted earnings
per share were 52.08, up 18.2 percant over 1997,

Including stock price appreciation and reinvested dividends, total
shareowner return in 1998 was 49.72 percent. This brings our total
compounded annual return since 1984 — when we became an
independent company — to 23.15 percent. That resuit exceeds a
combined return during the same period of 22.04 percent for our
telecommunications peers, and 17.84 percent for the Standard &
Poor's 500.

We are pleased but not satisfied. To ensure that we continue
deiivering excellent performance in 1999 and beyond, the SBC
team moved forward in 1998 on four strategic fronts:

Continuing to maximize growth in aur core businesses, Over the
years, 5BC has established a solid record for making the most of our
core wireline and wireless businesses by increasing revenues while
controlling expenses. Nineteen ninety-eight was no exception:

+ Revenues were $28.8 billian, up 7.9 percent over the previous year.

Access line growth remained impressive in 1998, with a 4.1 percent
increase in residential fines. Meanwhile, our business line growth
was 15.6 percent, including both voice lines and data circuits.

We achieved outstanding sales of additional calling features.
Pacific Bell, for example, ended the year with more than 1.5 million
Caiter 1D customers, and increased the penetration of features for
residential customers by mare than 44 pergent to 1.26 vertical
features per fine, :

.

Southwestern Bell achieved an industry-leading residential
Caller iD penetration rate of more than 50 percent.

PAGE 2

The company’s wireless operations also performed well in 1998. Our
new Personal Communications Services (PCS) offering in California and
Nevada, in particular, experienced exceptional growth. Across all of our
markets, including Southwestern Bell, Pacific Bell, and Cellular One, we
increased our number of subscribers to 6.9 million and added digital
service to meet the demands of high-use customers. This includes the
half mitlion subscribers we serve through the acquisition of Southern
New England Telecommunications (SNET) that further increased our
wireless customer base. In January 1999, we agreed to acquire
Comcast Cellular Corporation, which has cellular properties in
Pennsylvania, New Jersey and Delaware, subject to requlatory approval,
With these significant acquisitions, we are confident of our ability to
grow our wireless base — and maintain heaithy margins — despite
fierce competition.

We also accelerated the process of value creation from the Pacific
Telesis merger. Thanks to the hard work and dedication of our merger
integration teams, we took full advantage of the best practices of both
companies through operational initiatives that are ahead of schedule
in adding $1 billion to our annual income by the end of 2000. Equally
important, the completion of our merger with Southern New England
Telecommunications established SNET as a solid anchor for our
expansion in the Northeast.

Aggressively expanding our data capabilities. To remain a com-
munications industry leader, SBC must be a data communications
leader, Qur 1998 data service revenues increased 32 percent over
1997, as demand for data services continued to expand rapidiy.

We mada major stricdes in meating that demand. We introduced
industry-leading, high-speed Asymmetrical Digital Subscriber Line
(ADSL) services in California, a flexible offering that will provide
customers with much faster internet access to move integrated ;
packages of voice, data and video quickly and securely.




Developing national and international reach. As the telecommuni-
cations industry evolves, we believe two types of cornpanies will
emerge. A small group of fuli-service, global carriers will offer
customers what they increasingly demand — integrated services,
including locai, long distance, wireless, and high-speed data
communications, A second, larger group will consist of smaller,
narrowly focused regional providers. SBC intends to be a global
competitor. Only by doing so can we provide the financial returns
you expect well into the future.

As a result, we decided in 1998 to expand our resources and
geographic reach, gaining size and scope to provide our customers
a seamless range of high-quality services whenever and wherever
they need them. OQur planned merger with Ameritech, which has
received overwhelming approval from the shareowners of both
companies, is a critical step in this direction.

Based on both companies combined 1998 revenues, the Ameritech
merger will create a powerful competitor, with more than 345 billion
in revenues and some 200,000 of the best employees in our business.
Our combined territories will include the headquarters of almast haif
of the Fortune 500 companies, and we will have a presence in 20 of
*he top 50 markets in the country. But what reaily sets this merger
apart is the role it plays in our becoming a global company.

Our merged company will move aggressively to enter the top 30
markets outside our combined territories. We plan to provide resi-
dential and business customers in those markets with one-stop shop-
ping for their telecommunications needs. As we build a competitive
presence in the nation’s top 50 markets, we plan to develop a state-
of-the-art voice and data network that will carry our customers’ voice
and data traffic anywhere in the world. Our ability to do just that took
a major step forward in February 1999, when we announced an
alliance with Williams Communications. This agreement gives us
access to one of the industry’s highest quality data and voice
broadband networks, while enabling us to have a veice in the future
expansion and development of that network around the needs of
our customers,

We expect to complete the Ameritech merger in the second half of
1999, then move quickly to integrate Ameritech's operations into
SBC, as we did with Pacific Telesis and are doing with SNET.

Providing long-distance services. To be a true full-service provider,
SBC must have the freedom to offer long-distance service to all

our customers, wherever they live or work. in 1998, we moved closer
to securing that capability by continuing t0 open our local markets
to competitors. And we are working closely with regulators to gain
their suppert for our long-distance entry. While we are disappointed
that the process has taken so long, our alliance with Williams ensures
that, as soon as we receive regulatory approval to offer long distance,
we can move immediately to add this critical offering to our range

of services.

SBC entered 1998 strongly positioned to buitd value for our share-
owners, with great markets, great businesses and a proven ability
to execute our plans, During the year, we expanded those markets,
strengthened our businesses and enhanced our reputation for
superior execution.

More important, by refining our strategies and taking decisive steps
to become an integrated, worldwide competitor, we are guiding SBC
toward a clearly defined objective — becoming a globai enterprise
with the resources and flexibility to take advantage of the most
promising growth opportunities.

That is where SBC's focus has always been. And, despite the changes
ahead, that is where it wilf stay — on building vaiue for our owners,

We will keep you informed as we move ahead in 1999, In the
meantime, thank you for your continued confidence and support.

?Miédﬁzém.}_

Edward £, Whitacre Jr.

- Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

February 12,1999
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SELECTED FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Dollars in millions except per share amounts, as af or for the year ended December 31.

54,117

— 549

53,450

B Spedial Charges

B income Before
Extraordinary Loss
and Cumulative Effect
of Accounting Change

tncome Before Extraordinary
Loss and Cumulative Effect of

Accounting Change
Results for 1998 and 1997 ware
adjusted for special charges:* -

50,895 $0.935

1997

1998

Dividends Declarad
Per Common Shars

*im thousands
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§22,210
520,926
1997 1998
Wiraline Operating Revenues

Results for 1998 and 1997 were
adjusted for special charges.

35,727 37,252

1997

Access Lines*

$4,185

$3,697

1997

1998

Wireless Operating Revenues

6,851
5951

1997 1998

Wireless Customers®




SELECTED FINANCIAL AND OPERATING DATA

Dollars in millions except per share amaunts

it December 31 or for the year ended: 1998’ 1997 1996 1995 1994
Financial Data

Operating revenues ) $28,777 526,681 $25,202 $23,356 $22,555
Operating expenses $21,891 523,103 518,976 517,878 $17,.216
Operating income o S 6,886 $ 3,578 5 6,226 $ 5478 $ 5,339
Interest expense 5 993 § 1,043 $ 90 $ 1,043 $ 1,010
Equity in net income of affiliates $ 236 s 201 § 207 s 120 S 226
Income taxes $ 2,306 5 984 $ 2,070 $ 1,632 51,575

tncome from continuing operations before

extraordinary loss and cumulative effect of

accounting changes® $ 4,068 $ 1,674 $ 3,387 $ 3132 5 2,962
Net income {loss) $ 4,023 $ 1,674 § 3,477 $(3,577) $ 2,985
Earnings per common share:
Income from continuing operations before

extraordinary loss and cumulative effect of

accounting changes® $ 208 $ 086 $ 173 5 1.60 $ 153
Net income (loss) S 206 S 0.86 5 178 $ (1.83) $ 1.54

Earnings per common share — Assuming Dilution:
Income from continuing operations before
extraordinary loss and cumulative effect of

accounting changes’® $ 205 $ 0.85 5 172 S 160 $ 153
Net income (loss) $ 2.03 $ 085 s 177 $ (1.82) $ 1.54
‘Total assets " $45,066 $44,836 542,057 $40,361 $49,525
Long-term debt $11,612 513,176 512,100 $11,592 511,698
Construction and capital expenditures $ 5,927 $ 6,230 $ 5,855 § 4,729 5 4,262
Free cash flow* $ 2,454 3 1,366 5 2,046 $ 2572 5 3,058
Dividends declared per common share’ $ 0.935 $ 0.895 $ 086 $ 0825 S 079
Book value per comman share $ 6.52 $ 538 $ 522 § 450 $ 736
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges 5.89 2.77 5.22 512 4.99
Debt ratio 48.86% 57.07% 56.83% 63.04% 48.71%
Weighted Average Common Shares ,

Qutstanding (000,000) 1,957 1,945 1,956 1,955 1.936
Weighted Average Common Shares

Qutstanding With Dilution (000,000) 1,984 1,962 1,967 1,963 1,940
End of Period Commen Shares

Qutstanding (000,000) 1,959 1,954 1,942 1,960 1,952
Operating Data
Network access lines in service (000) ‘ 37,252 35,727 34,003 32,385 31,173
Access minutes of use (000,000) 148,580 139,470 128,716 112,874 100,800
Wireless customers (000) 6,851 5,951 4,827 3,995 3,158
Number of employeas 129,850 128,100 119,270 117,260 120,140

'As detailed in management's discussion and analysis of Results of Operations, 1998 resuits include charges for strategic initiatives related to the merger with Southern New England
Telecommunications Corporation {SMET) and gains on sales of certain non-core businesses. Excluding these items, SBC reported an adjusted incorme from continuing operations before
extraordinary loss and cumulative effect of accounting change of 54,117 and an adjusted net income of $4,072 for 1998.

*As detailed in management’s discussion and analysis of Results of Operations, 1997 results include charges for several items including strategic initiatives and ongoing merger

integration costs, gain on the sale of SBC’ interests in Bell Communications Research, Inc. and a first quarter after-tax settiement gain. Excluding these items, SBC reported an adjusted
net income of $3,450 for 1997,

/998, Early retirement of debt and Change in directory accounting; 1996, Change in directary accounnng 1995, Discontinuance of Regulatory Accounting; and 1994, Income from
spun-off operations.

‘Free cash flow is net cash pravided by operating activities less construction and capital expenditures.
‘Dividends declan_:d by SBC's Board of Directors; these amounts do not include dividends dectared and paid by Pacific Telesis Group and SNET prior 10 their respective mergers,
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Dallars in millions except per share amounts

SBC Cormmunications Inc. (SBC) is a holding company whase
subsidiaries and affiliates operate predominantly in the commu-
nications services industry. S8C’s subsidiaries and affiliates
provide landline and wireless telecommunications services as
well as equipment and directory advertising both domestically
and worldwide,

The consclidated financial results reflect SBC's mergers with
Southern New Engiand Telecommunications Corporation {(SNET) in
1998 and Pacific Telesis Group {PAC) in 1997 as pooling of interests
(see Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Staterments).

$BC's principal wireline subsidiaries are Southwestern Bell
Telephone Company (SWBeil), providing telecommunications
services in Texas, Missouri, Oklahoma, Kansas and Arkansas

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Summary

(five-state area), Pacific Bell {PacBell, which also includes
Pacific Bell Information Services), The Southern New England
Telephone Company (SNETel) and Nevada Bell {collectively
referred to as the Telephone Companies). SBC's principal wireless
subsidiaries are Southwestern Bell Mobile Systems, Inc. {Mobile
Systems), Pacific Beli Mobiie Services (PBMS) and SNET Cetluiar,
Inc. SBC's principal directory subsidiaries are Southwestern Bell
Yellow Pages, Inc. {SWBYP), Pacific Bell Directory (PB Directory)
and SNET Information Services, Inc. The Telephone Companies are
subject to regulation by each of the states in which they operate
and by the Federal Communications Commission (FCC).

This discussion should be read in conjunction with the -
cansolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes.

Financial results, including percentage changes from the prior year, are summarized as follows:

Percent Change

1998 vs. 1997 vs,

1998 1997 1996 1997 1996

Operating revanues $28,777 526,681 $25,202 7.9% 5.9%

Operating expenses $21,891 $23,103 $18,976 (5.2)% 21.7%

Income before extraordinary foss and

cumulative effect of accounting change $ 4,068 $ 1,674 $ 3,387 -_ -
Extraordinary loss $ (60) — — — —
Cumulative effect of accounting change $ 15 —_ $ 90 - —
Net income $ 4,023 5 1,674 $ 3477 — —

ln 1998 and 1996, SBC reflected a cumulative effect of accounting
change related to accounting for directory revenues and expenses
(see Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). In 1998,
SBC incurred an extraordinary loss refated to the early retirement of
debt at PacBell (see Note 10 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements).

Resuits for 1998 and 1997 also include several items that SBC
normalizes for management purposes. For 1998, normalizing items
included $219 of gains on sales of certain non-core businesses,
principally the required disposition of SBC's interest in Mobile
Telephene Networks (MTN}, a South African national cellular
company, due to 5BC's investment in Telkom SA Limited (Telkom),
and 5268 of charges related to strategic initiatives resuiting from
the merger integration process with SNET. For 1997, normalizing
items included $1.899 of costs related to strategic initiatives
resulting from the merger integration process with PAC, the impact
of several second quarter 1997 regulatory rulings and charges
far ongoing merger integration costs (see Note 2 of Nates to
Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of
merger integration costs), as well as $33 of gain on the sale of the
Telephone Companies' interasts in Bell Communications Research,
Inc. (Belicore) and $90 of first quarter 1997 settlement gain at PAC
associated with lump-sum pension payments that exceeded the
projected service and interest costs for 1996 retirements.
Collectively these items decreased income before extraordinary

PAGE &

loss and cumulative effect of accounting change by 549 and
$1,776 in 1998 and 1997. Excluding these items, 1998 income
before extraordinary loss and cumulative effect of accounting
change would have been 54,117, or 19.3% higher than 1997 earn-
ings of $3,450. The corresponding diluted per share amounts
would be $2.08 in 1998, or 18.2% higher than 51.76 in 1997.
Excluding these items, the 1998 increase in income before extra-
ordinary loss and cumulative effect of accounting change was due
primarily to broad-based growth in demand for SBC's Wireline,
Wireless and Directory operations. Results for 1998 also reflect
reduced dilution from Personal Communications Services (PCS) oper-
ations in California and Nevada. Demand growth was also the primary
factor contributing to the 1997 increases, partially offset by a high
level of expenses for the introduction of PCS in California and Nevada.

Segment Resuits

SBC has four reportable segments: Wireline, Wireless, Directory
and Other. The Wireline segment provides landline telecommuni-
cations services, including local, network access and long distance
services, messaging and Internet services and sells customer
premise and private business exchange equipment, The Wireless
segment provides wireless telecommunications services, includ-
ing local and long distance services, and sells wireless equipment.
The Directory segment selis advertising for and publication of
yellow pages and white pages directories and electronic publish-
ing. The Other segment includes SBC's international investments




ind other domestic operating subsidiaries. {(See Note 9 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.)

SBC evaluates performance of these segments based on
income before income taxes, adjusted for normalizing items.
Normalizing items for 1998 and 1997 are described above.

There were no normalizing items for 1996.

Collectively, these normalizing items had the effect of reduc-

ing operating revenues in 1998 and 1997 by $8 and $188 and

Operating Revenues

increasing operating expenses in 1998 and 1997 by 5422

and $2,550, as well as affecting non-operating income and
expenses. If all of the normalizing items were included in their
respective segments, the effect would be to increase (reduce) each
segment’s income before income tax in 1998 and 1997 as follows:
Wireline $(306) and $(2,007); Wireless $(49) and $(100); Directory
$12 and ${75); and Other $268 and $0.The following sections will
discuss SBC's operations excluding these normalizing items.

Following are SBC's normalized operating revenues, including segment totals and percentage changes from the pricr year {reductions of

$8in 1998 and $188 in 1997 are excluded):

Percent Change
1998 vs. 1997 vs,
1998 1997 1996 1997 1996
wireline ' $22,210 $20,926 $19,919 6.1% 5.1%
Wireless 4,185 3,697 3,137 13.2 179
Directory 2,393 2,286 2,145 4.7 6.6
Other - 85 57 43 49.1 3286
Corporate, adjustments & eliminations {88) 97) (42) 9.3) —_
Total Normalized Operating Revenues 528,785 $26,869 $25,202 7.1% 6.6%

Wireline

Wireline operating revenues increased $1,284, or 6.1%,in 1998 and $1,007, or 5.1%, in 1997. Components of Wireline operating revenues,

nctuding percentage changes from the prior year, are as follows:

Percent Change
1998 vs. 1997 vs,
1998 1997 1996 1997 1996
Local service $11,154 $10434 59513 6.9% 9.7%
Network access:
Interstate 4,612 4,454 4,354 2.6 32
Intrastate 1,917 1,884 1,851 1.8 1.8
Long distance service 2,353 2,351 2,523 0.1 6.8)
Other 2,174 1,763 1,678 23.3 5.1
Total Wireline 522,210 $20,926 $19919 6.1% 5.1%

Local Service revenues increased $720, or 6.9%, in 1998 and
5921, or 9.7%, in 1997 due primarily to increases in demand which
totaled $656 and $799 in 1998 and 1997, including increases in
access lines and vertical services revenues. The number of access
lines increased by 4.3% and 5.1% in 1998 and 1997, Approximately
40% and 31% of access line growth in 1998 and 1997 was due to
sales of additional access lines to existing residential customers, In
both years, approximately 46% of the access line growth was in

California and 32% was in Texas. Access lines in Texas and California

account for approximately 75% of the Telephone Companies’
access lines. Vertical services revenues, which include custom call-
ing options, Caller ID, voice mail and other enhanced services,
increased by approximately 20% in both years and totaled approxi-

rately $1,892 and $1,582 in 1998 and 1997.

Additionally, local sarvice revenues increased as a result of

several regulatory actions that also had the effect of decreasing
one or more other types of operating revenues. In 1998 and 1997,

federal payphone reguiation, introduction of extended area ser-
vice plans and the introduction of the Cafifornia High Cost Fund
(CHCFB) collectively increased local service revenues by approxi-
mately $157 and $211, and decreased long distance revenue by
approximately $53 and 5117, interstate network access revenue by
$20 and $53, intrastate network access revenue by approximately
524 and 526 and other operating revenue by approximately 47
and $0.The net effect on Wireline operating revenue was an
increase of $53 and $15 in 1998 and 1997.The California Public
Utilities Commission (CPUC) has stated that the CHCFB is intended
to directly subsidize the provision of service to high-cost areas and
allow PacBell to set competitive rates for other services.

These increases in local service revenues were partially offset
by decreases of approximately 543 and $18 resulting from cellular
interconnection rate reductions in 1998 and 1997. Rate
reductions under CPUC price cap orders also reduced 1997
local service revenues by approximately $56.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF QPERATIONS (conrinuen)

Dollars in millions except per share amounts

Network Access Interstate network access revenues
increased $118, or 2.6%, in 1998 and $140, or 3.2%, in 1997 due
largely to increases in demand for access services by interex-
change carriers; and growth in revenues from end-user charges
attributable to an increasing access line base, which collectively
resulted in an increase of approximately $420 and $361 in 1998
and 1997. Partially offsetting these increases were the effects of
rate reductions of approximately $189 in 1998 and $120 in 1997
related to the FCC's productivity factor adjustment, access reform
and other changes and regulatory shifts related to payphone
deregulation of approximately 520 and $53 as noted in local
service above, Additional decreases in 1998 totaling approxi-
mately $76 resulted from an increase in universal service fund net
payments implementad in the first quarter of 1998 that exceeded
the 1997 net payments of long-term support, which were
designed to subsidize universal service. The net federal universat
fund payments and receipts will be exogenous factors in future
federal price cap filings. interstate network access revenues in
1997 aiso had a net decrease of approximately $42 due to the
reversal of 1996 revenue sharing and proposed 1996 tariff
decrease estimates at the Telephone Companies.

Intrastate network access revenues increased 333 in both
1998 and 1997, due largely to increases in demand totaling
approximately $79 and $121 in 1998 and 1997, including usage
by alternative intral ATA toll carriers. These increases in 1998 and
1997 were partially offset by state regulatory rate reductions at
PacBell and SWBell totaling approximately $23 and $50 and the
effects of the CHCFB described above in local service totaling
approximately $24 and $26.

Wireless

Long Distance Service revenues were relatively unchanged
in 1998 and decreased approximately $172, or 6.8%, in 1997.
Long distance service revenues decreased due to the effect of the
regulatory shifts discussed in local service above of approxi-
mately $53 and $117 in 1998 and 1997 related to the CHCFB,
introduction of extended area service plans and payphone
deregulation, price competition from alternative intral ATA toll car-
riers of approximately $43 and $100 in 1998 and 1997 at SWBell
and SNETel and regulatory rate reductions of approximately $34
in 1997.These decreases were offset in 1998 and partially offset in
1997 by revenues from increased toil messages and demand at
PacBell totaling approximately $48 and $45 in 1998 and 1997 and
increased customer migration to SNET All Distance®, an interstate
and intrastate toll service, of approximately $20 and $42 in 1998
and 1997.!n addition, revenues in 1998 increased by approximately
$22 due to the net effact of requlatory rate orders and local
exchange carrier billing settlements,

Other operating revenues increased $411, or 23.3%, in 1998
and 585, or 5.1%, in 1997 due primariiy to increased sales from
nonregulated products and services at the Telephone Companies
totaling approximately $201 and $72 in 1998 and 1997, increased
eguipment sales at the Telephone Companies of approximatety
$92 and $6 in 1998 and 1997 and revenues from new business
initiatives, primarily Internet services, totaling approximately
$71 and $39 in 1998 and 1997.In addition, net payments for state
universal funds of approximately $15 in 1998 contributed to the
increase. These increases were partially offset in 1998 by approxi-
mately 57 related to the CHCFB, discussed in local service above.

Wireless operating revenues increased $488, or 13.2%, in 1998 and $560, or 17.9%, in 1997. Components of Wireless operating revenues,

including percentage changes from the prior year, are as follows:

Percent Change.
1998 vs. 1997 vs.
. 1998 1997 1996 1997 1996
Subscriber $3,783 $3372 $2,907 12.2% 16.0%
Other 402 325 230 23.7 413
Total Wireless $4,185 53,697 $3,137 13.2% 17.9%

Subscriber revenues consist of wireless local service and
long distance. Wireless subscriber revenues increased $411, or
12.2%, in 1998 and 5465, or 16%, in 1997 due primarily to growth
in the number of customers of 15.1% and 23.3%, partially offset
by declines in average revenue per customer. Increases in 1997
wireless subscriber revenues of approximately $103 also resulted
from the intraduction of PCS operations in California, Nevada and
Oklahoma. At December 31, 1998, SBC had 5,924,000 traditional
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cellular customers, 81,000 resale customers and 846,000 PCS
customers. At December 31, 1997, SBC had 5,526,000 traditional
cellular customers, 60,000 resale customers and 365,000

PCS customers.

Other wireless revenues increased $77, or 23.7%, in 1998 and
$95, or 41.3%, in 1997 due primarily to increases in equipment
revenue attributable to growth in the number of customers and
conversion to digital equipment.




directory

Directory operating revenues increased $107, or 4.7%, in 1998 and $141, or 6.6%, in 1997. Directory operating revenues, including

percentage changes from the prior year, are as follows:

Percent Change
1998 vs. 1997 vs,
1998 1997 1996 1997 1996
Total Directory $2,393 $2,286 52,145 4,7% 6.6%

Directory operating revenues increased in 1998 due mainly to
increased demand, including benefits from merger initiatives.
Also contributing to the increase was approximately $17 from
directory rescheduling from the first quarter of 1999 into the

Operating Expenses

fourth quarter of 1998. Directary advertising revenues increased
in 1997 due mainly to increased demand and the publication of
directories in 1997 that were not published in 1996 due to
rescheduling.

Following are SBC's normalized operating expenses, including percentage changes from the prior year (additions of $422 in 1998 and

$2,550in 1997 are excluded): '

Percent Change
1998 vs. 1997 vs,
1998 1997 1996 1997 1996
Operations and support:
Wireline $12,711 $12,291 $11,464 3.4% 7.2%
Wireless 2,786 2610 1,954 6.7 309
Directory 1,227 1,230 1,159 (0.2) 6.1
Other 152 93 46 63.4 —
Corporate, adjustments & eliminations (363) {368} (153) (1.4) —
lotal operations and support 16,513 15,856 14,510 4.1 9.3
Depreciation and amortization* 4,956 4697 4,466 5.5 5.2
Total Normalized Operating Expenses 521,469 $20,553 $18,976 4.5% 8.3%

*See Note 9 of Notes to Consolldated Financial Statements for breakdown by segment.

Wireline Operatiaons and support expenses increased $420, or

3.4%,in 1998 and $827, or 7.2%, in 1997.Increases for 1998
include costs of approximately $262 related to progress in the
merger implementation process including centralizing support
functions and other merger initiatives at SWBell and PacBell.
Offsetting these increased costs were reductions in 1998
primarily related to realization of merger initiative benefits that
totaled approximately $317.These reductions included lower
use of contract labor, primarily at PacBell, lower costs associated
with customer number portability and reduced research and
development costs, Operations and support expense also
increased in 1998 due to costs associated with reciprocal compen-
sation for the termination of Internet traffic of approximately $136
at the Telephane Companies (see “Federal Requlation” for further
discussion about reciprocal compensation), increased expenses in
1998 of approximately $55 related to new business initiatives,
prirmarily voice mail, Internet, long distance and cable. Additional
costs In 1998 totaling approximately $172 related to increased
wages and salaries, benefits, materials and right to use fees.
'omparisons to 1997 are also impacted by the absence of the
recognition of 1997 pension settfement gains relating ta 1997
retirees after the merger with PAC totaling approximately $136.

Increases in 1997 inciude costs for wages, salaries, benefits,
sales commissions and contract [abor totaling approximately
$327.Increases in 1997 aiso include costs associated with
customer number portability after the merger with PAC, intercon-
nection, other regulatory. mandated network enhancements and
materials of approximately $414. Increased expenses in 1997 of
approximately $156 refated to new business initiatives, primarily
voice mail, Internet, long distance and cabie. These increases were
partially offset by a reduction related to the recognition of
pension settlement gains discussed above.

Wireless Wireless expenses increased $176, or 6.7%, in 1998 and
5616, or 30.9%, in 1997 due primarily to growth in the number of
customers and increased equipment sales.The large increase in
1997 expenses includes approximately $362 of expenses from the
intreduction of PCS operations, These increases were partiaily
offset by decreased customer acquisition costs of 11% and 4% in
1998 and 1997.

Directory Directory expenses remained relatively unchanged
in 1998 as lower costs resulting from the merger integration
process, including decreased empioyee-related costs, were offset
by expenses from increased demand and directory rascheduling
discussed in directory operating revenue abaove. Directory
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expenses increased in 1997 due mainly to increased demand and
the publication of directories in 1997 that were not published in
1996 due to rescheduling.

Depreciation and Amortization expense is primarily in
the Wireline and Wireless segments. In total, depreciation and
amortization increased $259, or 5.5%, in 1998 due primarily to
increased depreciation expense of $201 in the Wireline segment
and $41 in the Wireless segment resulting from overall higher
plant levels. The increase in 1998 was partially offset by reduced
depreciation at PacBell related to analog switching equipment
of $42,Total depreciation and amortization increased 5231, or
5.2%, in 1997.The increase was due to increased depreciation
expense of $193 in the Wireline segment and 5141 in the Wireless
segment resuiting from overall higher plant levels. The Wireless
increase was due primarily to the launch of PCS operations.
Reduced depreciation of $107 at PacBell related to analog
switching equipment partially offset the increase.

interest Expense on a consolidated basis for 1998 decreased
by 550, or 4.8%, in 1998 and increased by $142, or 15.8%, in 1997.
Interest expense for 1998 includes $3 of one-time charges for
SNET merger-approval costs and 1997 includes $27 associated
with one-time charges, primarily interest on the PAC merger-
approval costs. Excluding these charges, interest expense for
1998 decreased 526, or 2.6%, and increased $115, or 12.8%, for
1997.The 1998 decrease was due primarily to reductions in inter-
est expense resuiting from lower average debt levels and lower
weighted average interest rates, partially offset by lower capital-
ization of interest during construction. The 1997 increase was due
primarily to increased average debt levels,

Equity in Net Income of Affillates increased $35 in 1998 and
decreased 56 in 1997. The 1998 increase reflects increased equity
in net income of $78 from SBC's investment in Teléfonos de
México, 5.A. de C.V.{Telmex), Mexico's national telecommuni-
cations company, SBC's May 1997 investment in Telkom and
5BC’s wireless operations. Also contributing to the increase were
lower losses resuiting from reduced involvement in Tele-TV, These
increases were partiaily offset by a reduction of $53 in contribu-
tion from investments in Switzerland, France and Israel, primarily
resulting from expenditures on long distance and wireless in
Switzerland and long distance in France and Israel.

The 1997 decrease reflects decreased equity in net income of
$49 from Telmex. This lower income resuited from the change in
the functional currency used by SBC to record its interast in
Telmex from the peso to the U.S. dollar beginning in 1997 and
SBC's reduced ownership percentage after the sale of Telmex 1.
shares. Results also reflect preoperating expensaes of $32 in
several international investments, including long distance in
France, Switzerland and tsrael and cellular communications in
Taiwan, and decreased contribution of $13 from $BC's wireless
operations. These decreases were mainly offset by equity in net
income of 558 from Telkom and $27 in lower losses from Tele-TV.

5BC’s earnings from foreign affiliates will continue to be
generally sensitive to exchange rate changes in the value of the
respective local currencies. SBC's foreign investments are
recorded under U.5. generally accepted accounting principles,
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which include adjustments for the purchase method of account
ing and exclude certain adjustments required for locai reporting
in specific countries, such as inflation adjustments,

Other Income {Expense) - Net for 1998 and 1997 includes
amounits that SBC management normalized for reviewing results.
Normalizing amounts for 1998 include $358 in gains on the sale
of non-core businesses, primarily the required disposition of SBC's
interest in MTN and the sale of SBC Media Ventures, Inc., pending
from the prior year. Amounts for 1997 reflect gains of $54 from
the sale of SBC's interests in Bellcore and $32 in second quarter
charges related to SBC's strategic initiatives, primarily writeoffs of
nonoperating plant. Absent these items, other income (expense)
for 1998, 1997 and 1996 was $(113), $(100) and ${75).

During 1998, several offsetting transactions impacted other

income and expense contributing to the normalized increase of

net other expense of $13. SBC recognized other expense of $237
related to an impairment of an international investment and
investments in certain wireless technologies, primarily wireless
video. Also Increasing other expense were higher minority
interest, jower interest income and cail premiums and unamor-
tized discounts on early retirement of debt at SWBell that totaled
$67 more than the previous year. Offsetting these decreases were
other income related to a special dividend of $158 received from
a software affiliate and gains of $127 recognized on the saies and
the charitable contribution of SBC's available-for-sale investment
in Telewest Communications plc {see Note 7 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of the
gains). Movernent in the market value of Telmex L shares requires
a market valuation adjustment on certain SBC debt redeemable
either in cash or Telmex L shares. Additionally, Telmex under their
repurchase program from time to time repurchases enough
shares in the market that SBC is required to sell part of its Telmex
L share holdings to Teimex to remain under 10% ownership of
Telmex. The net of these activities contributed $90 more to other
income than in 1997, Also affecting comparisons with 1997 was
approximately 564 in royalties and gains recognized in 1997.
During 1997, there were aiso several offsetting transactions
contributing to the normalized increase in net other expense of
$25. Higher minarity interest, including distributions paid on an
additional $500 of Trust Originated Preferred Securities (TOPrS)
sold by PAC in June 1996, and lower interest income resulted in
$43 more net expense than in 1996.The net activity related to
market movement on Telmex L shares increased other expense
by $47 more than in 1996. Partially offsetting these net other
expenses were royalty payments associated with software devel-
oped by an affiliate and other investment gains totaling $64.
Income Taxes for 1998 include taxes refated to the sale of
certain non-core businesses discussed in other income
(expense) - net and tax benefits associated with merger integra-
tion initiatives reiating to SNET. Income taxes for 1997 reflect the
tax effect of charges for strategic initiatives resulting from SBC's
comprehensive review of operations and the impact of several
regulatory rulings. Income taxes for 1997 also included taxes on
the first quarter pension settlement gain discussed in operations
and support.The net effective tax rate on these items was lower




15 a result of non-deductible items included in the charge and
valuation adjustments to certain deferred tax assets which may
not be utilized due to restrictions associated with the merger.
Excluding these items, income taxes for 1598 and 1997 would
have been 52,332 and $1,951. Income taxes for 1998 were higher
due primarily to higher income before income taxes. Income
taxes for 1997, excluding the non-recurring items, were slightly
tower than income taxes for 1996 of $2,070.

Extraordinary Loss In 1998, SBC recorded an extraordinary
loss of $60 related to the refinancing of 5684 of long-term debt
at PacBell.

Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change As discussed
in Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, SNET
Information Services, Inc. and PB Directory changed their
methods of recognizing directory pubiishing revenues and
related expenses effective January 1, 1998 and January 1, 1996,
respectively. The cumulzative after-tax effect of appiying the new
method to prior years for SNET Information Services, Inc. was
recognized as of January 1, 1998 as a one-time, non-cash gain
applicable to continuing operations of $15, or 50.01 per share.
The gain is net of deferred taxes of $11.The one-time gain
recognized as of January 1, 1996 for PB Directory was $90, net of
deferred taxes of $53, or 50.05 per share. Management believes
the change to the issue basis method is preferable because it is
the method generally foilowed in the publishing industry,
‘ncluding SWBYP and better reflects the operating activity of
the businesses. These accounting changes are not expected to
have a significant effect on net income in future periods.

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT AND TRENDS OF THE BUSINESS

Regulatory Environment

Overview

The telecommunications industryis in a period of dynami¢
transition from a tightly regulated industry overseen by multipie
regulatory bodies to a market-driven industry monitored by
state and federal agencies. The Telephone Companies’ wireline
tefecommunications operations remain subject to regulation

by the eight state regulatory commissions for intrastate services
and by the FCC for interstate services.

Consolidation of companies is occurring within the market-
place for local telephone service and across other telecommuni-
cations services, such as long distance, cellular, cable television,
Internet and other data transmission services, Companies
operating in some of these markets are also expanding into
others, such as the provision of local service by long distance
companies. Additionally, new technologies are aisc affecting
the way people view and use communications services.

The telecommunications industry is also changing interna-
tionally, as government-owned telephone monopolies are being
privatized in many countries and competitive entrants are
authorized, U.S.-controlled companies may acquire or form
.nvestment, joint venture or strategic relationships with these
newly privatized companies or their new competitors involving
any or all of the range of telecommunications services.

Foreign-controlled companies also may acquire or form such
relationships with U.S. companies.

SBC is aggressively representing its interests before federal
and state regulatory bodies, courts, Congress and state legista-
tures. SBC will continue to evaluate the increasingiy competitive
nature of its business, and develop appropriate competitive,
legislative and regulatory strategies.

Wireline

Federal Reguiation

Through affiliates, SBC offers landline interLATA long distance
services to customers in sefected areas outside the Telephone
Companies’ operating areas. Further, SBC offers interLATA long
distance services to customers in Connecticut through SNET
America, Inc. (SAl). Under the Telecommunications Act of 1996
(Telecom Act), before being permitted to offer landline interLATA
long distance service in any state within the regulated operating
areas of SWBeli, PacBell and Nevada Bell, SBC must apply for and
obtain state-specific approval from the FCC.The FCC's approval,
which involves consultation with the United States Department
of Justice and the appropriate state commission, requires favor-
able determinations that certain of the Telephone Companies
have entered into interconnection agreement(s) that satisfy a
14-point “competitive checklist” with predominantly facilities-
based carrier(s) that serve residential and business customers
or, alternatively, that certain of the Telephone Companies have a
statement of terms and conditions effective in that state under
which they offer the “competitive checklist” items, The FCC must
also make favorable public interest and structural separation
determinations in connection with each application. See “State
Regulation” for status of the state applications.

in December 1997, the United States District Court for the
Northern District of Texas ruled that parts of the Telecom Act
were unconstitutional on the grounds that they improperly
discriminate against certain subsidiaries of SBC by imposing
restrictions that prohibit certain of the Telephone Companies by
name from offering interLATA long distance and other services
that other Local Exchange Carriers {LECs} are free to provide. In
September 1998, the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth
Circuit (Sth Circuit) reversed this decision and ruled that the
chailenged provisions of the Telecom Act were constitutional. In
January 1999, the United States Supreme Court (Supreme Court)
declined to hear an appeal of the 5th Circuit’s decision.

Interconnection In August 1996, the FCC issued rules by
which competitors coutd connect with LECs' networks, including
those of the Telephone Companies. Among other things, the rules
addressed unbundling of network elements, pricing for intercon-
nection and unbundled elements, and resale of retail telecommu-
nications services. The FCC rules were appealed by numerous
parties, including SBC.

In July 1997, the United States Court of Appeals for the Eighth
Circuit (8th Circuit) held that the FCC did not have the authority
to promulgate rules related to the pricing of local intrastate
telecommunications and that its rules in that regard were invalid.
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The 8th Circuit also overturned the FCC's ryles which allowed Act the state Commissions have authority to order recipracal
CoOmpetitors to “pick and choose among the terms and congj- ompensation for Intrastate or lpca) traffic, while only the Fce
tions of approveg Interconnection agreements. in Octaber 1997, has authority gver Interstate ang Interexchange traffic. sgc
the 8th Circuit i55ued a subsequent decision clarifying that the believes most Internet traffic is terexchange ang nterstate
Telecom Act does not require the incumbent LECs 10 deliver Several state Commissions, including the CPUC in an October 199g
network elements 10 competitars in anything other than order, have taken the position that internet commumcat:ons is
completely unbundled form, intrastate or joca) traffic and ordereq S8C to pay feciprocal com

In September 1997, a numiber of parties, including SBC, filed Pensation to certain CLECs pursyang ta then existing contracts
petitions 1o enforca the July 1997 ruling of the 8thy Circuit that the State commissions in the five-state area other than Kansas have
right to set incaf exchange prices, including the pricing methogd- 8l50 issued orders finding thay SBC is required 10 pay reciprocaj
ology used, is reserved exclusively to the states, The petitians COmpensation tg certain CLECs, in June 1998, 5 U.S. District Court
fesponded to the FCC's rejection of Ameritech Carporatiopys in Texas affirmed the Texas Public Utility Commission’s (TPug)
INterLATA long distance application in Michigan, in which the Fcc determination and upheld Payment of recCiproca compensation
stated it intended tg 3pply its own Pricing standards to Regional holding that an Internet cg)f IS comprised of two portions and that
Holding Company {RHG interl ATA applications The petitionars . the TPUC has Jurisdiction aver the loca) bortion of the traffic and
dasserted the FCC was violating state autharity, On January 22, 1998, the FCC over the interne; <ompanent. Similar decisions fegarding
the 8th Circyjt ordered the FCC to abide by the July 1997 fuling Internet traffic have been Mmade by ather state commissigns SBC
and reiterated that the Fe¢ cannot use inter{ ATA leng distance has SOught review or reconsideration of these casag
applications maqe by SBC and other RHC wireline subsigiaries ® question whether Internet Communications should be
wishing to Provide interL AT4 long distance to attempt tp reimpase classified a¢ Iocal/intrastate OF Interstate traffic for reciproca)
the pricing standards ruleq nvalid in July 1997 by the 8th Circuit, Compensation Purposes is the subject of 4 Pending FCC Proceed-

In January 1999, the Supreme Court ruled on ap appeal of the ing and the Fce S expectad to ryle oy this issue in the near
8th Circuirs order. The tuling held that the Telecom Act gives the future, SBC subsidiariag have been recording amounts sought
FCCthe authority to seq guidedines for states to follow in setting by certain CLEC for the termination of Internet traffic ¢o internet
Pricas under the Telecom Act, and feinstated the FCC riles allow- Service Providers,
ing those seeking to interconnect 1o “pick and choose” specific Asymmetricaj Digital Subscriber Line (ADSL) is a high-
Provisions from previous interconnection dgreements, Because sPeed data service Principally ysed for Internet access, In June
the 8th Circuit's decision dig not address the lawfulness of the 1998, SBC filag with the FCC 3 petition requesting refjaf for ADs|
content of the Fce pricing guidelines, the Supreme Court om pricing, unbundlmg and resale feguiatory restrictions. The
emanded that issye 10 the 8th Circuis for further tonsideration, FCC denied the Petition ang declared that incumbents, such as
The ruling ajsq Upheld FCC ryfes forbidding incumbeny LECs the Telephone Companies, must offer sych services for resale ¢ a
from separating alreadly combined network elements, but discount and must offer unbundjed access 1o the equipmeny
fémanded back tg the FCCits determination of which netwark used in ADSL Provisioning to the extent possible, sac has fileq
efements must be made available, The Supreme Court aisg held with the FCC 5 petition for reconsideration of this order. The FCc
that, before the FCC could require telecommunications Catriers sought comments on offering the incumbent L£Cs the option of
to make a particular networ element available to requesting providing deregulateq advanceq services through an affiliate
carriers, the FCC Must first consiger asto Proprietary elements, with appropriate safegquards,
whether access to the elements was necessary and whether the e effects of the FCC decisions on the above topics are
failure tg brovide access tp 4 particuiar element woyjq Impair the dependent on many factors ncluding, byy nat limited to, the
requesting carrigr's ability ro Provide the service it seeks to offer ultimate resolution of the pending appeals; the numbey and

e effect of thig ruling on the relecommumcatlons industry can.- nature of competitgrs requesting Nterconnection, unbundiing

not be determined 4t this time, Orresale; and the Fesuits of the state Tequlatory commissions’

Recipracal Compensation Reciprocal compensation review ang handling of related matters within theijr jutisdictions.
s billed to SBC subsidiaries by Competitive tocaf Exchange Accordlngly 3BCis not able to assess the impacy of the FCC
Carriers (CLECs) for the termination of certain loca| exchange orders and Proposed ruiemaking at this time,
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itate Regulation

The following pravides an overview of state regulation in the eight states in which the Telephone Companies operated at December 31, 1998.

Number of
Signed Wireline Long Distance
Alternative . Interconnection Application
State Regulation’ Dialing Parity* Agreements’ Status
Arkansas Yes, indefinite Presently not required 54 Decision expected in 1999*
prior to long distance
authorization
California Yes, ends 1/2002 Praceeding pending 66 Decision expected in 1999*
Connecticut Yes, ends 2/2001 Dialing parity exists 13 Long distance service
_ provided by the retail entity®
Kansas Yes, indefinite Commission ordered 55 Decision expected in 1999*
implementation by 2/1999;
state statute presently prohibits
requirement before long
distance authorization
Missouri Yes, indefinite Proceeding pending 61 Decision expected in 1999*
Nevada Yes, ends 12/2002 Presently not required 19 No activity
prior to long distance
approval; proceeding pending
Okfahoma Yes, ends 2/2001 Ordered by 3/1999 52 Decision expected in 199%*
Texas Yes, ends 9/2001 TPUC deferred its decision 175 Decision expected in 1999*
! pending FCC issuance of
new dialing parity rules, state
statute presently prohibits
requirement before long
distance authorization
Cther significant notes:

' Altarnative regulation is other than rate of returm regulation.

In a January 1999 decision, the Supreme Court ruled that the FCC had the authority to issue rules implementing intrastate and intral. ATA dialing parity. Several interexchange carriers
are arguing in pending state proceedings that the ruling requires immedlate implementation of dialing parity, preempting state requirements. The Telephone Companies take the posi-
tion that diating parity requirements should be consistent with state laws and that they should not be required to provide intralLATA toll dialing parity prior to receiving authorization
to provide interLATA long distance services. In states where dialing parity exists, customers are able to subscribe to an intral ATA toll carrier just as they do for ong distance services.

‘Interconnection agreements are signed with CLECs for the purpose of allowing the CLECs to exchange local calls with the incumbent telephane company,
“Awaiting determination by state commissions on the Telephone Companies’ compliance with the 14-point competitive checklist, FCC approval is required subsequent to state

determination,

*SNETel is restricted from providing interLATA long distance service in any of the aother Telephone Companies’ aperating regions.
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The following prasents highlights of certain regulatory
developments.

California In October 1998, the CPUC issued a decision modi-
fying the current regulatory framework for PacBell effective
January 1, 1999, The decision adopted PacBell’s proposal that the
current cap on basic residential rates be continued for three mare
years, through 2001, with the CPUC retaining the ability to adjust
basic telephone rates. The decision suspended earnings sharing,
rate of return reviews and the use of earnings caps and floors
through 2001. In addition, the decision adopted PacBeii’s
proposal to eliminate depreciation reviews and granted PacBell
the freedom to set its own depreciation rates and methodoiogy.
it also continued the suspension of the productivity factor
adjustment. in addition, the CPUC decision eliminated most
future exogenous cost adjustments, including the recovery of
future costs related to a 1993 accounting change for postretire-
ment benefits other than pensions. Management currently
estimates the items embodied within the new regulatory
framework will have the net effect of reducing annual revenue
by approximately $100 from 1999 through 2004.

In July 1998, the CPUC issued a rate rebalancing decision
related to its 1996 order on universal service. The CPUC's dacision
was implemented prospectively beginning September 1, 1998
and reduces PacBell's non-basic local service, network access and
long distance service revenues by $305 annually to offset the
approximately $305 annually that PacBell expects to receive from
the CHCFB. Beginning in February 1997, PacBell, and all other
California telecommunications carriers, began collecting funds
via customer surcharges consistent with the CPUC’s 1996 deci-
sion. The CPUC has yet to decide on the specific mechanism to be
employed to ensure the distribution of funds coilected by PacBell
and other carriers from February 1997 through August 1998 is
revenue neutral.

Connecticut In January 1997, SNET submitted to the
Connecticut Department of Public Utility Control (DPUC) its
proposal on corporate restructure. The proposal recommended
that SNETel functions be split: ownership and maintenance of
switching and transmission network facilities, i.e., all wholesale
functions, would remain in the telephone company, 5NETel, and
all retail functions wouid go to SAl, which was the long distance
subsidiary, Both would be whoily-owned by SNET. In June 1997,
the DPUC granted SNET permission to restructure its telephony
operations, with several DPUC-imposed modifications.

Under the plan, ail retail operations {retail marketing and
customer service) have been transferred to SAl, and SAl will be
treated by the regulators like all other CLECs. SNET local service
customers will choose their provider via a bailoting process,
which has been scheduled for September 1999, All wholesale
services and the network infrastructure will remain with SNETel,
which will be restricted to meeting the needs of CLECs, including
SAl and other wholesale customers, SAl can buy its wholesale
service from SNETel or any other wholesale provider. SAl' has been
providing interstate and international long distance service since
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1993, and received certification to provide local service and
intrastate toll in Connecticut in 1997,

Missouri Effective September 26, 1997, the Missouri Public
Service Commission (MPSC) determined that SWBell is subject
to price cap regulation, Prices in effect as of December 31,1996
are the initiat maximum ailowable rates for services and cannot
be adjusted until January 1, 2000 for basic and access services
and on January 1, 1999 for non-basic services. On an exchange
basis where a competitor began operations, the freeze on maxi-
mum ailowable rates for non-basic services was removed. After

" January 1, 2000, caps for basic and access services may be

adjusted based on one of two government indices. After
January 1, 1999, caps for non-basic services may be increased
up to 8% per year.In an exchange where competition for basic
local service exists for five years, services will be declared
competitive and subject to market pricing unless the MPSC
finds effective competition does not exist, The Office of Public
Counsel and MCl WorldCom, Inc. (MCl WorldCom) sought
judicial review of the MPSC determination and in May 1998
the state circuit court affirmed the MPSC decision.

Texas Under the Public Utility Regulatory Act, which became
effective in May 1995 (PURA), SWBell elected to move from rate of
return regulation to price regulation with elimination of earnings
sharing. Basic local service rates are capped at existing levels for
four years following the election, i.e., until September 1999, The
TPUC is prohibited from reducing switched access rates chargec
by LECs to interexchange carriers while rates are capped.

LECs electing price regulation are committed to network and
infrastructure improvement goals, including expansion of digital
switching and advanced high-speed services to qualifying public
institutions, such as schools, libraries and hospitais, requesting the
services. PURA aiso established an infrastructure grant fund for
use by public institutions in upgrading their communications and
computer technology. The 1997 Texas legislative session changed
the funding for this infrastructure grant fund from annually coi-
lecting $150 for ten years to a fixed percentage (1.25%) applied
to ail telecommunications providers' sales taxable revenues. The
law also provides a cap of $1,500 for the life of the fund. SWB8ell's
annual payments were approximately $36 in 1997 and $56 in
1998. Due to the industry's growth in revenues, the fund should
be completely funded before the original ten years.

PURA establishes local exchange competition by allowing
companies that desire to provide local exchange services to
apply for certification by the TPUC, subject to certain buildout
requirements, resale restrictions and minimum service require-
ments. PURA provides that SWBell will remain the defauit carrier
of “1 plus”intraLATA long distance traffic in its territory until
SWBell is allowed to carry interLATA long distance. In 1996, MCl
WorldCom and AT&T Corp. (AT&T) sued the state of Texas, alleging
that PURA violates the Texas state constitution, and claiming that
PURA establishes anticompetitive barriers designed to pravent
MCI WorldCom, AT&T and Sprint Corporation {Sprint) from
providing local services within Texas. The FCC, also in response 1o
petitions filed by AT&T and MCl WorldCom, preempted and




roided portions of PURA that requiréd certain buildout require-
ments. Furthermore, the FCC also preempted rules that excluded
competitors from entering markets with fewer than 31,000 access
lines and which made resale of Centrex phone services subject

1o a fimited property restriction. AT&T and MCl WaorldCom have
dismissed their suits regarding this matter.In Octcber 1997,
SWBell filed with the FCC a petition for reconsideration regarding
the preemption of the property restriction for Centrex services.
This issue is still pending before the FCC,

Compatition

Wireline

Competition continues to increase for telecommunications and
information services. Recent changes in legislation and regulation
have increased the opportunities for alternative service providers
offering telecommunications services. Technological advances
have expanded the types and uses of services and products
available. As a result, SBC faces increasing competition as well as
new opportunities in significant partions of its business.

Recent state legislative and regulatory developments allow
increased competition for local exchange services. Companies
wishing to provide competitive local service have filed numerous
applications with each of the state commissions throughout the
Telephone Companies’ reguilated operating areas, and the com-
missions of each state have been approving these applications
since late 1995, Under the Telecom Act, companies seeking to
intercannect to the Telephone Companies’ netwarks and
exchange local calls must enter into interconnection agree-
ments with the Telephone Companies. These agreements are
then subject to approvai by the appropriate state commission.
$BC has reached approximately 495 interconnection and resale
agreements with competitive local service providers, and most
have been approved by the relevant state commission. AT&T,
MCI WoridCom and other competitors are resailing SBC local
exchange services, and as of December 31,1998, there were
approximately 800,000 SBC access linas supporting services of
resale competitors throughout the Telephone Companies’
regulated operating areas, most of them in Texas and California.
Many competitors have piaced facilities in service and have
begun advertising campaigns and offering services. SBC also
was granted facilities-based and resale operating authority
in certain territories sarved by other LECs and now offers local
exchange service offerings to these areas.

in California, the CPUC authorized facilities-based local
services competition effective January 1996 and resale competi-
tion effective March 1996. While the CPUC has established local
competition rules and interim prices, several issues still remain
to be resolved, including final rates for resale and LEC provision-
ing and pricing of certain network alements to competitors.
PacBell has incurred substantial costs implementing local
competition and number portability, In November 1998, the
ZPUC issued a dacision allowing PacBeit to begin recovery of
local competition implementation costs.

In Texas, the TPUC set rates in December 1997 that SWBell
may charge for access and interconnection to ifs telephone

network. The TPUC decision sets pricing for dozens of network
components and completes a cansolidated arbitration between
SwWhBell and six of its wholesale customers, including AT&T and
MCI WorldCom.

In Missouri, the MPSC issued orders on a consolidated
arbitration hearing with AT&T and MCI WorldCom and on
selected itemns with Metropoiitan Fiber Systems, Among other
terms, the orders established discount rates for resale of SWBell
services and prices for unbundled network elements. SWBeil
appealed the interconnection agreement resulting from the
first arbitration proceeding on November 5, 1997; a decision is
still pending. A second arbitration process to address other
interconnection issues with AT&T has concluded, and the MPSC
ordered that a conforming interconnection agreemerit be filed.
SWBell appeaied this order in April 1998,

The Telephone Companies expect increased competitive
pressure in 1999 and beyond from multiple providers in various
markets, including facilities-based CLECs, interexchange carriers
and resellers. At this time, management is unable to assess the
effect of competition on the industry as a whole, or financially on
SBC, but expects both losses of market share in local service and
gains resuiting from new business initiatives, vertical services and
new service areas. Competition aiso continues to intensify in the
Telephone Companies’ intral ATA long distance markets. For
example, it is estimated that providers other than PacBell now
serve more than half of the business intralLATA long distance
customers in PacBell's service areas. In addition, if intral ATA toll
dialing parity is required, competition in intrabATA long distance
markets is expected to increase.

in the international arena, Telmex was granted a concession
in 1990, which expired in August 1996, as the sole provider of
long distance services in Mexico. Several large competitors have
raceived licenses to compete with Teimex and have begun
operations. As of December 31, 1998, Telmex has retained
approximately 75% of its long distance customers. Telmex's
share of international long distance traffic is expected to decline
significantly when the proportional return mechanism, which
guarantees Telmex the same percentage of incoming traffic as
autgoing traffic, expires at the end of 1999. Aggressive locat com-
petition is expected in 1999, primarily in the business segment.

Wireless

in 1993, the FCC adopted an order allocating radio spectrum

and licenses for PCS. PCS utilizes wireless telecommunications
digitai technology at a higher frequency radio spectrum than
cellular. Like cellular, it is designed to permit access to a variety

of communications services regardless of subscriber location.

In an FCC auction, which concluded in March 1995, PCS licenses
were awarded in 51 major markets. SBC or affiliates acquired

PCS licenses in the Major Trading Areas of Los Angeles-San Diego,
California; San Francisco-Oakland-5an Jose, California; Memphis,
Tennessae; Little Rock, Arkansas; and Tulsa, Oklahoma. The
California licenses cover substantiaily alt of California and Nevada.
SBC is currently operational in all of its major California-Nevada
markets and Tulsa, Oklahoma. During 1996, SBC received several
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AT&T cellular networks in Arkansas in exchange for SBC's PCS
licenses in Memphis, Tennessee, and Little Rock, Arkansas, and
other consideration. :

PCS service was formally launched in all the major California
and Nevada markets at different times throughout 1997, with
the buildout to other areas continuing. The network incorporates
the Global System for Mobile Communications standard, which
is widely used in Europe. PBMS is selling PCS as an off-the-shelf
product in retail stores, through exclusive agents and in
company-owned stores across California and Nevada. Significant
competition exists, particularly from the two established cellular
companies in each market.

In an FCC auction that concluded in January 1997, SBC
acquired eight additional PCS licenses for Basic Trading Areas that
are within the five-state area. . .

SBC also has state-approved interconnection agreements to
receive reciprocal compensation from interexchange carriers and
other local service providers accessing its wireless networks in
all states where it provides wireless services.

Companies that were granted licenses in areas where SBC
also provides wireless service include subsidiaries and affiliates of
AT&T, Sprint and other RHCs. Significant competition from PCS
providers axists in SBC's major markets. Competition has been
based upon both price and service packaging, such as unlimited
calling plans, and has contributed to SBC's decline in average
subscriber revenue per wireiess customer.

Under the Telecom Act of 1996, SBC may offer interLATA long
distance over its wireless network both inside and outside the
regulated operating areas. SBC has entered the wireless long
distance markets, and offers wireless long distance service in ail
of its wireless service areas.

Directory

SWBYP, PB Directory and SNET Information Services, Inc. face
competition from over 100 publishers of printed directories in
their operating areas. Direct and indirect competition also exists
from ather advertising media, including newspapers, radio,
television and direct mail providers, as weil as from directories
offered over the internet.

OTHER BUSINESS MATTERS

New Accounting Standards In june 1998, the Financial
Accounting Standards Board issued Statement No, 133, “Accounting
for Derivative instruments and Hedging Activities” (FAS 133), which
will require all derivatives to be recorded on the balance sheet at
fair value, and will require changes in the fair value of the deriva-
tives to be recorded in net income or comprehensive income. FAS
133 must be adopted for years beginning after june 15,1999, with
earlier adoption permitted. Management is currently evaluating the
impact of the change in accounting required by FAS 133, but is not
able to quantify the effect at this time,

See Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for
a discussion of the new accounting standard on software costs.
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Wireless Acquisition See Note 17 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements for a discussion of the acquisition of
Comcast Cellular Corporation.

Long Distance Agreement On February 8, 1999, SBC
announced an agreement with Williams Communications
{Williams}, a subsidiary of Williams Cos., Inc., under which Williams
will serve as SBC’s long distance provider. As part of this agree-
ment, $BC plans to acquire 10% of the common stock of Williams,
This investment will gccur simultaneously with an initial public
offering of common stock by Williams, scheduied for the second
quarter of 1999,

Merger See Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for a discussion of the merger agreement with
Ameritech Corporation.

SBC’s Year 2000 Project SBC operates numerous date-
sensitive computer appiications and systems throughout its
businesses. Since 1996, SBC has been working to upgrade its net-
works and computer systems to properly recognize the Year 2000
and continue to process critical operationat and financial informa-
tion. Companywide teams are in place to address and resolve Year
2000 issues and processes are under way to evaluate and manage
the risks and costs associated with preparing SBC's date-impacted
systems and networks for the new millennium.

SBC is using a four-step methodology to address the issue,
The methodology consists of inventory and assessment, hard-
ware and software fixes, testing and deployment. S8C measures
its progress by tracking the number of completed hardware and
software applications, network components, personal computers
and building facilities that can correctly process Year 2000 dates.

Inventory and assessment is estimated to require 20% of
the overall effort and includes the identification of items (i.e,
line-by-line review of software code, switch generics, vendor
products, etc.) that could be impacted by the Year 2000 and the
determination of the work effort required to ensure compliance.
The inventory and assessment phase has been completed. This
process involved reviewing over 340 million lines of software
code, 1,200 central office switches, 7,000 company buildings,
conducting an inventory and assessment of 117,000 personal
computers, and coordinating with 1,300 suppliers of 14,000
products to obtain adequate assurance they wili be Year 2000
compliant or determine and address any appropriate
contingency plans or backup systems.

Making the hardware and software fixes is the second phase
of the process and is estimated to require 25% of the overall
effort. This activity involves modifying program code, upgrading
computer software and upgrading or replacing hardware.

As of December 31, 1998, the hardware and software fixes were
substantially complete.

Testing involves ensuring that hardware and software fixes
will work properly in 1999 and beyond and occurs both before
and after deployment. Testing is estimated to comprise 45% of
the overall effort. Testing began early in 1998, is more than
two-thirds complete, and will continue through 1999 to allow
for thorough testing before the Year 2000. Contingency plans and
backup systems are currently being written.




Deployment involves placing the “fixed” systems into a live
environment to ensure they are working properly. Additional
testing is done after deployment as well. Deployment is esti-
mated to require 10% of the overall effort. More than half of the
deployment phase was completed as of December 31, 1998.

SBC expects to spend approximately $265 on the entire
project, with approximately $140 spent through December 31,
1998. As testing and hardware and software fixes are estimated
to require most of the expenditures, there is not a strict correla-
tion between expenditures and project completion.

The activities involved in SBC's Year 2000 project necessarily
require estimates and projections, as described above, of activities
and resources that will be required in the future. These estimates
and projections could change as work progresses on the project.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

SBC had 5460 of cash and cash equivalents available at
December 31, 1998. Commercial paper borrowings as of
December 31, 1998 totaled $1,044. SBC has entered into
agreements with several banks for lines of credit totaling
$1,460, all of which may be used to support commercial paper
borrowings (see Note 10 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements). SBC had no borrowings outstanding under these
lines of credit as of December 31, 1998.

“ash from Operating Activities

Ouring 1998, as in 1997 and 1996, SBC's primary source of funds
continued to be cash generated from operations, as shown in
the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. Net cash provided
by operating activities exceeded SBC’s construction and capital
expenditures during 1998, as in 1997 and 1996; this excess is
referred to as free cash flow, a supplementai measure of liquidity.
SBC generated free cash flow of 52,454, $1,366 and 52,046 in
1998, 1997 and 1996,

Cash from Investing Activities :

To provide high-quality communications services to its cus-
tomers, SBC, particularly its Wireline and Wireless operations,
must make significant investments in property, plant and equip-
ment.The amount of capital investment is influenced by demand
for services and products, continued growth and regulatory
commitments.

SBC's capital expenditures totaled $5,927, 56,230 and $5,855
for 1998, 1997 and 1996. Capital expenditures in the Wireline
segment were ralatively unchanged in 1998 compared to 1997,
The Wireline segment’s capital expenditures increased 12% in
1997 due primarily to demand-related growth, network upgrades,
customer-contracted requirements, ISDN projects and SWBell's
regulatory commitments. The Wireless segment’s capital
expenditures decreased 17% and 23% in 1998 and 1997 due
primarily to expenditures for initial buildout of the PCS network

nd conversion of SBC’s largest cellular markets to digital during
1997 and 1996,

in 1999, management expects total capital spending to be

between $6,400 and $6,800. Capital expenditures in 1999 will

relate primarily to the continued evolution of the Telephone
Companies' networks, including amounts agreed to under
regulation plans at SWBell, and continued buiidout of Mobite
Systems’ markets and PBMS. SBC expects to fund ongoing capital
expenditures with cash provided by operations.

SWaell has substantially completed the additional network
and infrastructure improvements to be made over periods
ranging through 2001 to satisfy reguiatory commitments.

Cash from Financing Activities

Dividends declared by the Board of Directors of 5BC were $0.935
per share in 1998, $0.895 per share in 1997, and $0.86 per share in
1996.These per share amounts do not include dividends declared
and paid by PAC and SNET prior to their respective mergers.The
total dividends paid by SBC, PAC and SNET were $1,836 in 1998,
$1,755 in 1997 and $1,795 in 1996. Pursuant to the terms of the
merger agreement, PAC reduced its dividend beginning in the
second quarter of 1996. The lower second and third quarter
dividends paid in 1996 improved 1996 cash flow by approximately
$195. SBC's dividend policy considers both the expectations and
requirements of shareowners, internal requirements of SBC and
long-term growth opportunities.

In February 1998, SBC called $630 of long-term debt for
retirement, including $175 at PacBell and $425 at SWBell, and
issued approximately $200 in debentures at PacBell due
February 2008 and approximately $200 in debentures at SWBeil
due March 2048, In September 1998, SBC called $175 of
long-term debt for retirement, all at SW8ell. In October 1998,
PacBell repurchased $684 of debentures.

Total debt increased during 1997 due primarily to the issuance
of medium-term notes and debentures at the Telephone
Companies and debt redeemable either in cash or Telmex L shares.

During 1996 PAC issued 51,000 of TOPrS, $500 at 7.56% in
January 1996 and $500 at 8.5% in June 1996 (see Note 11 of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements), The proceeds were
used to retire outstanding short-term debt, primarily commercial
paper that had increased significantly during 1995.

SBC's total capital consists of debt (long-term debt and debt
maturing within one year), TOPrS and shareowners’ equity. Totai
capital increased $108 in 1998 and $1,056 in 1997. The increase
in 1998 was due to 1998 earnings, partiaily offset by lower debt
levels. The increase in 1997 was primarily due to higher debt
levels and 1997 earnings.

SBC’s debt ratio was 48.9%, 57.1% and 56.8% at December 31,
1998, 1997 and 1996.The debt ratio is affected by the same
factors that affect total capital.

MARKET RISK

SBC's capital costs are directly linked to financiat and business
risks. SBC seeks to manage the potential negative effects from
market volatility and market risk. Certain financial instruments
used to obtain capital are subject to market risks from fluctua-
tions in market interest rates. The majority of SBC’s financial
instruments are medium- and long-term fixed rate notes and
debentures. Fluctuations in market interest rates can lead to

PAGE 17




MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (conrinuen)

Doliars in millions except per share amounts

significant fluctuations in the fair value of these notes and
debentures. [t is the policy of SBC to manage its debt structure
and foreign exchange exposure in order to manage capital costs,
control financial risks and maintain financial flexibility over the
long term, Where appropriate, SBC wiil take actions to limit the
negative effect of interest and foreign exchange rates, liquidity
and counterparty risks on shareowner value.

Quantitative Information about Market Risk
Foreign Exchange Risk Sensitivity Analysis

additional 26% from mid-February 1999, SBC wouid record
additional expense of approximately $8.

Interest Rate Sensitivity

The principal amount by expected maturity, average interest rate
and fair value of SBC's liabilities that are exposed to interest rate
risk are described in Notes 10 and 11 of Notes to Consclidated
Financial Statements. Following are SBC's interest rate derivatives
subject to interest rate risk (none of these derivatives mature in
2000 through 2003):

U.S. Dollar Value of Net Underlying

Net Foreign Foreign Currency

Exchange Transaction

December 31,1998 Contracts £xposures
Swiss Franc §249 $24
Japanese Yen 142 142
French Franc 37 37
Chilean Peso 32 : 32
Total Exposure $235 $235

Note: There is no net exposed long/short currency position and no foreign exchange loss
from a 10% depreciation of the U.S. dollar.
The preceding table describes the effects of a change in the value
of the Swiss franc, Japanese yen, Chilean peso and French franc
given a hypothetical 10% depreciation of the U.S.doliar. Since the
identified exposure is fully covered with forward contracts, changes
in the value of the U.S. dollar which affect the value of the under-
lying foreign currency commitment are fuily offset by changesin
the value of the foreign currency contract. If the underlying

" currency transaction exposure changed, the resulting mismatch
would expose the company to currency risk of the foreign
exchange contract. For this reason, all contracts are related to firm
commitments and matched by maturity and currency.

Equity Price Risk Sensitivity Analysis

SBC is exposed to equity price risk related to the change in the
price of AirTouch Communications, inc. {(AirTouch) common stock
related to the settlement of employee stock options. At
December 31, 1998, the net appreciated value of the equity swap
contract entered in 1994 was $26, while the value of the underly-
ing employee stock option exposures for AirTouch common stock
was $25, leaving a net exposed long equity position of $1.1f the
value of AirTouch cornman stock increased by 26%, the net
exposed long equity position would increase by $1 to $2.Since
January 1, 1995, the average yearly share price of AirTouch
common stock has increased 26%. The equity swap contract
expires April 1999 and the last option grant expires January 2003,
(See Note 11 of Notes to Censolidated Financial Statements.) In
February 1999, management evaiuated the exposure to future
appreciation of AirTouch common stock and the benefit to
“unwinding” the swap. As a result, SBC began exiting the equity
swap contract, receiving cash for the appreciated value of the
contract and recagnizing a minimai gain. Once exited, SBC will
record in other income (expense) - net future changes in the
value of the underlying employee stock option exposure. If

the value of AirTouch common stock were to increase by an
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Maturity
After FairValue
1999 2003 Total 12/31/98
Interest Rate Derivatives
Interest Rate Swaps
Receive Variable/Pay Fixed
Notional Amount’ $50 — 550 S
Fixed Rate Payable 7.2% —
Weighted Average Variable
Rate Receivable? 5.1% —_
Receive Variable/Pay Fixed
Notional Amount® —_ 513 $13 5(1)
Fixed Rate Payable 6.7% 6.7%
Weighted Average Variable
Rate Receivable* 5.0% 5.5%

'Receive Variable/Pay Fixed amount is offset equally by $50 in Variable Rate Debt maturing in
1999 with an average interest rate of 4.5% and a fair vaiue of $50.

Weighted Average Variabie Rate Receivable based on current and the implied forward rate:
in the yield curve at the reporting date for Constant Maturity Treasury minus 20 basis poirn

*Receiva Variable/Pay Fixed amount offsets $13 in lease obligation due after 2003 with an
average interest rate of 5.8% and a fair value of 513,

“Weighted Average Variabie Rate Receivable based on current and the implied forward rate:
in the yield curve at the reporting date for One Month LIBOR.

As a result of interest rate fluctuations, if SBC were to terminate
the contracts, it would be required to pay $2 to replace the fixed
rate flows or “unwind” the interest swaps. SBC does not intend to
terminate the $50 contract as it is linked to the variable rate debt
issued by SBC that also matures in 1999.

There has been no material change in the updated market
risks since December 31,1997,

Qualitative Information about Market Risk

Foreign Exchange Risk

From time to time SBC makes investments in operations in for-
eign countries, is paid dividends, receives proceeds from sales or
borrows funds in foreign currency. Before making an investment,
or in anticipation of a foreign currency receipt, SBC will often
enter into forward foreign exchange contracts. The contracts are
used to provide currency at a fixed rate. S8C’s policy is to measure
the risk of adverse currency fluctuations by calculating the
potential doilar losses resulting from ¢hanges in exchange rates
that have a reasonable prabability of occurring. S8C covers the
exposure that results from changes that exceed acceptable
amounts. SBC does not speculate in foreign exchange markets.
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CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF
SBC ADVANCED SOLUTIONS, INC.

ARTICLE ONE

The name of the corporation is SBC Advanced Solutions, Inc.

ARTICLE TWO

The address of the registered office of the Corporation in the State of
Delaware is Corporation Trust Center, 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington, New Castle
County, Delaware 19801. The name of the registered agent of the Corporation at such
address is The Corporation Trust Company.

ARTICLE THREE

The purpose of the Corporation is to engage in any lawful act or activity

for which Corporations may be organized under the General Corporation Law of the
State of Delaware. :

ARTICLE FOUR

The total number of shares of stock which the Corporation is guthorized

to iasue is one thousand (1,000) shares of common stock, having a par value of one
dollar ($1.00) per share.

ARTICLE FIVE

The business and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed by the
Board of Directors. The directors need not be elected by ballot unless required by the
Bylaws of the Corporation.

No director of this Corporation shall be liable to this Corporation or its
stockholders for monetary damages, for breach of fiduciary duty as a director, except
for liability 1) for any breach of the director’s duty of loyalty to the Corporation or its
stockholders; 2) for acts or omissions not in good faith of which involve intentional

misconduct or knowing violation of the law; or 3) for any transaction from which a
director derived an improper benefit.
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ARTICLE SIX

In furtherance and not in limitation of the powers conferred by the laws

of the State of Delaware, the Board of Directors is expressly authorized to adopt,
amend or repeal the Bylaws.

ARTICLE SEVEN

The initial Board of Directors of the Corporation shall be constituted of
the following individuals having the respective business office addresses stated herein:

A. Dale "Zeke" Robertson 530 McCullough, San Antonio, Texas 78215

dJ. Michael Turner 530 McCullough, San Antonio, Texas 78215

Albert F. Porta 530 McCullough, San Antonio, Texas 78215
ARTICLE EIGHT

The Corporation reserves the right to amend and repeal any provision contained
in this Certificate of Incorporation in the manner prescribed by the laws of the State of
Delaware. All rights herein conferred are granted subject to this reservation.

ARTICLE NINE

The incorporator is Robert A. Shives, Jr., whose mailing address is 175 East
Houston Street, San Antonio, Texas 78205.

I, the undersigned, being the incorporator, for the purpose of forming a
corporation under the laws of the State of Delaware do make, file and record this Certificate

of Incorporation, do certify that the facts herein stated are true, and, accordingly, have hereto
set my hand this 26th day of July, 1999,
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Dear Fellow Investor:

SBC had a great year in 1996, achieving our filth consecutive year of double-digit earnings growth.
That's the best record among the major telecommunications companies. We continue to seek and take
advantage of the tromendous growth opportunities in our industry.

One of those opportunities is our agreement to merge with Pacific Telesis
Group. This merger agreement, the first under the new telecommunications law,
reflects our fundamental growth strategy of identifying and seizing opportunities to
enter attractive markets and provide a broad range of telecommunications services

 to excellent customer bases.

Combining SBC and Pacific Telesis is a positive move for customers,
communities and shareowners. The merger would create a strong platform from
which we will be better able to realize the potential of our deep local market

Edwaro £. Whitacre Jr. presence and extensive wireline and wireless networks. The markets served by the
Chaizman of the Bpard and . . . . . .
Chief Exscutive Officer combined companies would include California and Texas, the states that economists

expect to be first and second in population growth over the next 10 years. And our
combined border with Mexico offers the potential for increased international telecommunications traffic.
The merger is currently expected to close shortly after you receive this briefer-than-usual annual report;
should the merger be compleled, we will present the “new SBC” in a follow-up report 1o all of our shareowners.
Overall, the passage of the Telecommunications Act made 1996 a watershed year for our industry
and our company. The Act is designed to open local markets to full competition, with competitors offering
local service in our markets and SBC providing long-distance service. We worked hard for passage of the
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legisiation, because it enables us to offer our customers the broad array of services and one-stop shopping
they tell us they want. The Act has already sharply altered the competitive landscape. The announcement
of our agreement with Pacific Telesis was followed by announcements of several other major mergers and
scores of strategic initiatives, as competitors tried to position themseives for the new marketplace.

We also know that the implications of telecommunications reform reach well beyond the U.S. marketplace.
Telecommunications has clearly become a global business; ultimately, the regulators of our industry in this
country must have as one of their goals the enhancement of our industry’s ability to compete around the world.

As events unfolded during the year, we became more convinced than ever that our local networks and
market presence, combined with the experience we have gained in our international markets, not only enhance
SBC’s competitive positioning but also provide a superior platform for growth.

Those strengths are why, in an environrnent that offers tremendous potential for the best companies,

I believe SBC’s future is bright:

We are in an excellent growth industry. Grthh trends are everywhere - in exploding demand for
Internet access and high-speed data services; in the continuing strong growth of wireless services; in the
accelerating movement toward work-at-home applications; and in the demand from our business customers for
technology sclutions, not just products, as networks expand and become more complex. Combine all that with
tremendous overseas growth opportunities, especially in developing countries, and with the opportunities
technological advances give us to reduce costs and improve quality and network speed for our customers - and
there are few industries with so much potential for profitabie growth.

We are well on our way to the deregulated marketplace. This transition involves many complex issues
and requires decisions by federal and state regulators, but its momentum is unstoppable. We still have much
hard work to do to secure the full promise of the Telecommunications Act, and you can expect us to challenge
unfair regulatory decisions. But, 'm confident the outcome will be a deregulated marketplace that gives us a
fair opportunity to serve all of our customers’ telecommunications needs and service requirements.
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SBC is positioned for continued success. We are focused on growth, and we have the strategies,
networks, competitive skills and dedicated employees to extend our record of outstanding performance.

We’re moving quickly to realize the opportunities the new legislation gives us to provide a full range of
telecommunications services to customers in all of our markets.

Let me take a moment to review our 1996 performance highlights:

+ Double-digit earnings growth. Earnings per share increased 11.6 percent, before an accounting
change in 1995.

* Record revenues. Our revenues were up 9.7 percent to $13.9 billion. Strong revenue growth is the
foundation of our success; we achieved it by responding to strong demand in our wireline, wireless and
international markets and by effectively marketing our products and services.

+ Outstanding operating resuits. In our five-state telephone operations, revenues increased a record
8.9 percent and normalized operating cash flow was up 10.4 percent to $4.3 billion. Access lines grew
5.1 percent for the year - our best access-line growth ever, up significantly over the record 4.5 percent
growth in 1995. Our domestic wireless business added 739,000 customers during the year, and we
achieved 10.8 percent penetration of our markets, the best among the major U.S. wireless companies. With
4.4 million customers in 63 markets, our wireless business is an excellent growth platform. We're realizing
this potential by delivering an array of additional services — wireless and wireline long distance, Internet
access, wireline local service - to our wireless customers outside our five-state region.

Unfortunately, the stock market did not reward us - or, in fact, most of the companies in our industry - for
these accomplishments. During the year, our cumulative retwrn to shareowners - including price appreciation
and reinvested dividends - declined 6.3 percent. 'm not happy with that, and [ know you’re not.

But I do understand why investors treated our industry with caution in 1996. Investors tell me that industry
change creates uncertainty as to when competitors will enter our markets, when we can offer long-distance
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service to our customers, and, in short, who will be the winners and losers in a more open, competitive
marketplace. This uncertainty was clearly among the reasons most of the stocks in our industry lagged the
market during 1996.

In the face of this change and uncertainty, it's reasonable to ask: Can SBC maintain its growth
momentum in light of increased competition?

My answer is simple: Yes,

Let me tell you why I'm so confident.

First, SBC already has what it takes to succeed in competitive ‘markets:

« More than 65 million direct customer contacts every month, and an employee workforce that gives us deep
roots in our communities. This local presence is an important competitive edge, and we have an active,
effective program to ensure that the diversity of our communities is reflected throughout the company.

+ Brands ~ Southwestern Bell and Cellular One - that customers equate with quality, reliability and
performance.

« Ezpansive distribution channels that reach new customers and offer convenient access to our products
and services.

+ A strong marketing organization skilled at identifying and effectively targeting new fast-growing markets.

» A globally focused corporate development tearn with the proven ability to identify and quickly acquire new
opportunities for growth.

« And a skilled management team focused on creating shareowner value by making investments - in our
emplovees, our networks, and our customer service operations - that grow revenues without sacrificing
margins or cash flow.

Second, you can he confident in your investment in SBC because we don't just talk about growth.
We deliver it. We've built our growth momentum by creating strategies that put customers at the center of our
plans, then executing those plans well. The results are clear - in our industry-leading sales of additional services
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to our telephone customers; in the 8.6 percent growth of business lines in 1996, our largest increase ever; in strong
additional line sales, which accounted for more than 60 percent of the increase in residential access lines in 1996; in
the 43 percent penetration of our wireless customer base with our long-distance offering; in our accomplishments
in international markets such as France, where we doubled our wireless customer base in {996.

I expect this growth momentum, combined with the opportunities the deregulated marketplace will give us
to increase revenues per customer by delivering a broader array of services to an expanding customner base,
to be very positive for our shareowners. While we will inevitably lose some of our retail customers, most of those
customers will still generate wholesale revenue,.as competitors lease portions of our expansive local wireline
neiworks. And our plans show continued strong rnargih.s, with increased spending on marketing and advertising
offset by productivity gains as we continue to redesign our processes.

[ view the future with great enthusiasm. We're in an excellent growth industry. We have strong positions in
excellent markets. We have the local networks and Operdting systems that can provide the products and services
our customers demand. We are dedicated to understanding and meeting the needs of our customers. And we
have a talented team of employees who think like shareowners because most of them are. They're the primary
reason why SBC, for the second year in a row, was voted the “most admired” telecommunications company in
America by Fortune magazine.

Underlying these attributes is an unwavering focus on the creation of shareowner value.
Throughout our organization, we know that the essential indicator of our success is our ability to build long-
term value for our shareowners, and we measure everything we do by that yardstick,

On behalf of our employees and our Board of Directors, I would like to express our appreciation to you ~
our shareowners - for the confidence you have placed in us. We remain determined to justify that confidence
with continued industry-leading performance in the years ahead.

il & Mm}

Edward E. Whilacre Jr.
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
February 19, 1997
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Selected Financial and Operating Data

Dollars in millions except per share amaunts

1Shareowners’ equity used in book value per camman share and debt ratio calculations includes extraordinary loss and changes in accounting principles.

*Calculated using income before extraordinary toss and changes in accounting principles. These impacts are includad in shareowners’ sguity.
'EBITDA is earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amartization (oparating incame plus depreciation and amortizatian). SBC considars EBITDA an

impartant component in our economic value added systems as an indicatoer of the cperational strength ang performance of our businessas. It is provided as
supplemental information and is nat intended to be a substitute for operating income, net incoma or net cash provided by operating activities as a measure .

of financial performance or liquidity.
* Compound Annuat Growth Rate from 1992 to 1996.

At December 31 or for the year endeg: 1998 1995 1934 1993 1992 CAGR*
Financial Data {/_,\,_
Operating revenues $13,898 $12,670 $11,772 $10,840 $10,150 8.2% !
Operating expenses $1042  $9633  $9010  $8480 §7953  68%
Operating income $ 3,586 $ 3,037 $ 2,762 $2360 § 2197 12.8% '
Interest expense $ M $§ 515 § 480 $ 4% § 530 - '
Equity in net income of affiliates § 24 § 156 § 223 $ 250 § 208 - =
Income taxes $ 1,166 $ 903 § 785 § 625 § 568 - |
Income before extraordinary loss and cumulative _

effect of changes In accounting principies $ 210 $ 1,889 § 1,649 $ 1,435 $ 1,302 12.7% ;
Net income (loss) $ 2,101 $ (930) $ 1,649 $ (845) 8 1,302 - L.
Earnings per common share: —
Income before extraordinary loss and cumulative ‘i

effect of changes in accounting principles’ $ 346 $ 310 § 274 $ 239 $ 217 12.4% I
Net income (loss) $ 3.46 $ (1.53) § 274 $ 141y § 247 - —
Total assets $23,449 $22,002 $26,005  $24,308  $23810 - L
Long-term debt $ 5,505 $ 5672 $ 5848 $ 5459 § 5716 - N
Construction and capital expenditures $ 3,027 $ 2,33 $ 2,350 $ 2,221 $ 2,144 9.0% -
Free cash flow* $ 1,197 $ 1685 $ 1,618 $1220 $1470 5.2% -
Dividends declared per common share $ 172 $ 165 § 158 8 151 § 146  42%( ;\j :

|

Book value per common share * $ 11.39 $ 1027 $ 13.72 $ 1261 $ 1547 - .
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges 6.59 581 541 451 3.96 - -
Return on weighted average shareowners’ equity 31.22% 24.18% 20.61% 18.29% 14.28% - t— -
Debt ratio * 51.40% 54.03% 47.36% 47.49% 42.99% -

_Operating Data* Y
EBITDA® $ 5,79 $ 5,207 $ 4,800 $ 4367 § 4040 9.4% L“
Network access lines in service (000) 14,955 14,223 13,612 13,145 12,724 - 41% & i
Access minutes of use (000,000 58,568 53,681 48,430 44,203 41,235 - {__,J
Long-distance messages (000,000) 998 988 1,018 1,012 974 - .
Cellular customers (000) 4,398 3,659 2,992 2,049 1,413 - L
Number of employees 61,540 59,300 58,800 58,400 59,500 -

*(Operating data may be periodically revised to reflect the most current information available. L
'1995 Discontinuance of Regulatory Accounting; 1993 Early Extinguishment of Debt and Gumulative Effect of Changes in Accounting Principles.
*frea cash flow Is net cash provided by aperating activitiss less construction and capital expenditures. b
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Dollars in milliens gxcet per share amounts

SBC Communications Inc. (SBC) is a holding company whose subsidiaries and
affiliates operate predominantly in the communications services industry. SBC's
subsidiaries and affillates provide landline and wireless telecommunications
services and equipment, directory advertising and cable television services.

SBC’s largest subsidiary is Southwestern
Bell Telephone Company (Telephone
Company), which provides telecommuini-
cations services over approximately
15 million access lines in Texas, Missouri,
Oklahoma, Kansas and Arkansas (five-state
area). The Tetephone Company is subject
to regulation by each of the state jurisdic-

tions in which it operates and by the
Federal Communications Commission
(FCC). In 1996, the Telephone Company
provided 70% of SBC's operating
revenues and 65% of its net income.
This discussion should be read in con-
junction with the consolidated financial
statements and the accompanying notes.

Results of Operations
Summary Financial results, including percentage changes from the prior vear, are
sumnmarized as follows:

Parcent Change

1996 vs. 1995 vs.

1598 1995 1994 1985 1994

Operating revenues $13,398 $12,870 $11.772 8.7% 7.6%

Qperating expenses $10,342 $ 9,833 $ 9,010 7.4% 6.9%

Income before extracrdinary loss $ 2,10 $ 1,889 $ 1,649 11.2% 14.6%
Extraordinary loss - $(2,319) - - -
Nat incema (loss) § 2,11 $ {930} $ 1548 - -

SBC recognized an extraordinary loss in
1995 from the discontinuance of regulatory

and products at the Telephone Company
and Mobile Systems, and an after-tax gain of

accounting at the Teiephone Company.

The primary factors contributing to the
increase in income before extraordinary
loss in 1996 were growth in demand for
services and products at the Telephone
Company and Southwestern Beil Mobile
Systems, Inc. (Mobiie Systems).

The primary factors contributing to the
increase in income before extraordinary loss
in 1995 were growth in demand for services

$111 associated with the merger of SBC’s
United Kingdom cable teievision operations
into TeleWest P.L.C. (TeleWest). These fac-
tors were partiaily offset by an after-tax
charge of $88 recorded in connection with
SBC's strategic functional realignment.

[tems affecting the comparison of the
operating results between 1996 and 1995,
and between 1995 and 1994, are discussed
in the following sections.

Operating Income
(dalfars in biilions)

Operating income
has grown by more
than faif since 1992,
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis, continued

Ouallass in millions &xcept par share amounts

Operating Revenues Total operating revenues increased $1,228, or 9.7%, in 1996 and
$898, ar 7.6%, in 1995. Components of total operating revenues, including percentage

changes from the prior year, are as follows:

Percent Change

1998 vs. 1995 vs,
1995 1995 1994 1995 1994
Local servica
Landline $ 4,718 $ 4302 5 4,039 9.7% 6.5%
Wireless 2,678 2,247 1,749 191 28.5
Network access
interstate 2,145 2,035 1,912 5.4 6.4
[ntrastate 1,009 1,032 945 6.5 82
Long-distance service 945 841 a7 12.4 (8.3
Directory advertising 914 953 947 (4.1} 0.8
Cther 1,401 1,260 1,263 11.2 (.2
$13,898 $12,670 $11,772 9.7% 7.6%

Local Service Landline revenues
increased in 1996 and 1995 due o increases
in demand, primarily increases in residen-
tial and business access lines and vertical
services revenues. Total access lines
increased 5.1% in 1996 and 4.5% in 1995,
Nearly two-thirds of the access line growth
ocowrred in Texas, which now has approxi-
mately 59% of the Telephone Company’s
access lines. Approximately 29% in 1096
and 25% in 1995 of access line growth was
due to the sales of additional access lines
to existing residential customers. Vertical
services revenues, which include custom
calling options, Caller ID and other
enhanced services, increased by approxi-
mately 22% in 1996 and 17% in 1995.

Wireless revenues increased in 1996
and 1995 due primarily to the growth in the
number of cellular customers of 20.2% and
22.3%. These increases were partially offset
by slight declines in average revenue per
customer. Market penetration at the end of
1996, 1995 and 1994 was 10.8, 9.0 and 7.4
customers per 100 residents in Mobile
Systems’ service areas.

Network Access [nterstate network
access revenues increased in 1996 and 1995
due largely to increases in demand for
access services by interexchange carriers.
Growth in revenues from end user charges,
attributable to an increasing access line
base, also contributed to the increases in
both years. Net rate reductions under the
FCC's revised price cap plan, which was

effective August 1, 1995, partially offset
these increases by approximately $635 in
both 1996 and 1995.

Intrastate network access revenues
increased in 1996 and 1995 due primarily to
increases in demand, including usage by
alternative intralLATA toll carriers.

Long-Distance Service revenies
increased in 1996 due principally to growth
in Mobile Systems’ wireless revenues includ-
ing interLATA service that began in February
1996, and the inclusion in 1995 of the
Telephone Company’s intralLATA toll pool
settlement payments and accruals for rate
reductions relating to an appealed 1992 rate
order in Oklahoma. The settlement of the
appeals in October 1993 eliminated the need
to continue these accruals. Absent these
accruals and settlements, the Telephone
Company’s long-distance service revenues in
1996 would have decreased slightly due to
the continuing impact of price competition
from alternative intral ATA toll carriers.
Competition had less impact on message
volumes in 1996 due to the Telephone
Company’s deployment and promotion of
optional long-distance calling plans, which
generally result in higher message volumes
but lower average revenue per message.
This message volume trend is not expected
to continue, because the Telephone
Company plans to emphasize promotions of
extended area local service plans. Long-
distance service revenues decreased in 1995,
reflecting competition-related decreases in
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residential message volumes and the impact
of optional calling plans and extended area
service plans.

Directory Advertising revenues
decreased in 1996 as increased yellow
pages revenues from Southwestern Bell
Yellow Pages, [nc. were more than offset by
the decrease resuiting from the January
1996 sale of SBC's publishing contracts for
GTE Corporation’s service areas to GTE
Directories. Excluding the impact of this
sale, revenues increased 6.7% in 1996.
Revenues in 1995 were relatively

unchanged from 1994, reflecting the impact
of increased competition.

Other operating revenues in 1996
and 1995 reflect the increased demand
for the Telephone Company’s non-
regulated services and products, including
Caller [D equipment, computer network
services, contract programming and
videoconferencing services, The increase
in 1995 was offset by the decrease in
equipment sales revenues at Mobile
Systems resulting primarily from declining
equipment prices.

Operating Expenses Total operating expenses increased $709, or 7.4%, in 1996 and
$623, or 6.9%, in 1995. Components of total operating expenses, including percentage

changes [rom the prior year, are as follows:

Percent Change

Local senvice

1996 vs. 1985 vs.

1996 1945 1994 1995 1994

Cost of services and products $ 4135 $3.806 83.747 8.6% 1.6%
Selling, general and administrative 3,967 3,657 3,225 8.5 13.4
Depreciation and amortization 2,240 2170 2,038 3.2 6.5

$10,342 $9,633 39,010 1.4% 6.9%

Cost of Services and Products
increased in 1996 due to increases at the
Telephone Company for network expansion

~ and maintenance, employee compensation

and demand-related increases, primarily
increases in switching system software
license fees. Other increases in 1996 related
principally to growth at Mobile Systems.
Similarly, in 1995, expenses increased
primarily due to increases at the Telephone
Company for network expansion and main-
tenance, employee compensation, and
demand-related increases for enhanced
services, These increases were mostly offset
by decreased switching system software
license fees at the Telephone Company,
decreased equipment costs at Mobile
Systems and the absence of expenses asso-
ciated with SBC’s United Kingdom cable
television operations (discussed in Other
Business Matters).

Selling, General and Administrative
expenses increased in 1996 and 1995

- primarily due to growth-related increases

at Mobile Systems and the Telephone
Company including increases in operating

taxes, which include the Texas
Infrastructure Fund assessments, contract-
ed services, employee compensation, adver-
tising and uncellectibles. The increase in
1995 was also attributable to the $139
charge for costs associated with the strate-
gic realignment discussed in Other
Business Matters.

Depreciation and Amortization
increased in 1996 and 1995 due primarily to
growth in plant levels and changes in plant
composition, primarity at Mobile Systems
and the Telephene Company. The increase
in 1995 also reflects the effect of regulatory
depreciation represcription at the

- Telephonre Company.

interest Expanse decreased $43, or
8.3%, in 1996 due to lower interest rates
on short-term debt, lower long-term debt
levels, and capitalization of interest during
construction required by the discontinuance
of regulatory accounting in the third quar-
ter of 1995. Under reguiatory accounting,
the Telephone Company accounted for a
capitalization of both interest and equity
costs during periods of construction as
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Local service revenue
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three-fourths of the
increase in operating
revenues since {992,
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis, continued

Doliars in millicns except per sharé amounts

other income. Interest expense increased
$35, or 7.3%, in 1993 due primarily to an
inerease in the average amouit of debt ott-
standing to finance growih and acquisitions
at Mobile Systems. Interest expense for
1993 also reflects debt issued for acquisi-
tions in France and Chile.

Equity in Net Income of AHiliates
increased $88 in 1996 and decreased $67 in
1995. The 1996 increase reflects increased
income from Teléfonos de México, S.A. de
C.V. (Telmex), Mexico's national telecom-
munications company, due to the relative
stabilization of the peso, net gains on inter-
national affiliate transactionis and improved
results from SBC's investment in French
cellular operations. Results for 1995 include
[osses on SBC’s United Kingdom cable tele-
vision operations, which were accounted
for under the equity method prior to
QOctober 1995, and exchange losses on the
non-peso denominated debt of Telmex.
Results for 1996 and 1995 also reflect reduc-
tions in the translated amount of U.S. dollar
earnings from Telmex’s operations.
Operational growth at Telmex in both years
somewhal offsets these declines. The 1995
decrease is also attributable to SBC’s invest-
ment in French cellular operations.

SBC’s future earnings from Telmex will
continue to be sensitive to changes in the
value of the peso. SBC's investment in
Telmex has been recorded under U.S. gener-
ally accepted accounting principles (GAAP),
which exclude inflation adjusnents and
include adjustments for the purchase
method of accounting. Beginning in 1997,
SBC will use the U.S. dollar, instead of the
peso, as the functional currency for its
investment in Telmex due to the Mexican
economy becoming highly inflationary as
defined by GAAP. Earnings in 1997 will
reflect SBC's reduced ownership percentage
in Telmex as discussed in Note 5 to the
financial statements. These changes are
each expected to have a slightly negative
impact on equity in net income from Telmex.

Other Income (Expense) - Neat [n
1095, SBC recognized a gain from the merg-
er of SBC’s United Kingdom cable television
operations into TeleWest (see Note 12 to the

financial statements). The gain was some-
what offset by expenses associated with the
refinarncing of long-term debt by the
Telephone Company (see Note 6 to the
financial statements}.

Federal Income Tax expense increased
$233, or 28.3%, in 1996 and $140, or 20.5%,
in 1995, primarily due to higher income
before income taxes. The elimination of
excess deferred taxes and the reduction in
the amortization of investment tax credits
resulting from the discontinuance of regula-
tory accounting, as described in Note 2 to
the financiai statements, also contributed to
the increases in both years.

Extraordinary Loss In 1993, SBC
recorded an extraordinary loss of $2.8 bil-
lion from the discontinuance of regufatory
accounting. The loss included a reduction in
the net carrying value of telephone plant
partially offset by the elimination of net reg-
ulatory liabilities of the Telephone Company
(see Note 2 to the financial siatements).

Operating Environment and Trends
of the Business

Regulatory Environment The
Telephone Company’s telecommunications
operations are subject to regulation by each
of the five stales in which it operates for
intrastate services and by the FCC for inter-
state services. Through the end of 1996, the
Telephone Company operated under incen-
tive regulation or price caps for various ser-
vices provided by the Telephone Company.
In early 1997, Arkansas enacted legislation
establishing incentive regulation for elect-
ing companies, replacing a settlement
which had expired on December 31, 1996.
Under price cap regulation, the Telephone
Company is permitted to establish and med-
ify prices, not to exceed the price caps, sub-
ject to expedited approval by the governing
jurisdiction. Prices for some other services
not specifically covered by price caps are
also subject to regulatory approval.

The states set intrastate price caps for
various periods, depending upon the state
Price caps set by the FCC are adjusted
annually for inflation, a productivity offset
and certain other changes in costs.




The productivity offset is a fixed percentage
used to reduce price caps and is designed to
encourage increased productivity.

Under the original FCC plan adopted in
1991, the Telephone Company applied a
productivity offset of 3.3%, with sharing at
various rates of return on investinent. The
FCC adopted revised price cap rules effec-
tive August 1, 1995. The new rules allowed
a choice of three new productivity offsets,
two of which provide for a sharing of profits
with consumers above certain earnings
levels. The Telephone Company elected a
3.3% productivity offset with no sharing,.

The revised FCC price cap plan was
intended to be an interim plan that would
be revised in {996. However, with the pas-
sage of the Telecommunications Act of 1996
{the Telecom Act), the FCC is conducting
further proceedings to address various pric-
ing and productivity issues, and is perform-
ing a broader review of price cap regulation
in a competitive environment. Additionally,
the FCC will also examine universal service
and access charge rules during 1997. The
Telecom Act and FCC actions taken to
implement provisions of the Telecom Act
are discussed further under the heading
“Competition.”

Following is a summary of significant
state regulatory developments.

Texas The Public Utility Regulatory Act,
which became effective in May 1995
(PURA), allows the
Telephone Company and
other Local
Exchange Carriers
(LECs) to elect to
move from rate of
return regulation to price
regulation with elimination
of earnings sharing. In September
1995, the Telephone Company notified the
Texas Public Utility Commission (TPUC)
that it elected incentive regulation under
the new law. Basic local service rates are
capped at existing levels for four years fol-
lowing the election. The TPUC is prohibited
from reducing switched access rates
charged by LECs to interexchange carriers
for the four-year election period.

LECs electing price regulation must
commit to network and infrastructure
improvement goals, including expansion of
digital switching and advanced high-speed
services to qualifying public institutions,
such as schools, libraries and hospitals,
requesting the services. PURA also estab-
lished an infrastructure grant fund for use
by public institutions in upgrading their
communicationts and computer technoliogy.
PURA provided for a total fund assessment
of $150 annually on all telecommunications
providers in Texas for a ten-year period,
haif of which would be paid by the cetlular
and wireless industry. The provisions
establishing different assessment rates for
landline and cellular and wireless service
providers were ruled unconstitutional
under the Texas constitution in January
1996, and the lower rate was ordered to be
applied to both categories of service
providers, resulting in less than a $150
annual assessment. Based on this order,
SBC’s total annual payment is estimated to
be approximately $35 to $45. The 1997
Texas legislative session is considering this
issue with the goal of restoring the assess-
ment to its original $150 annual amount.
As a result, SBC’s annual payment
could increase.

PURA establishes local exchange com-
petition by allowing other companies who
desire to provide local exchange services to
apply for certification by the TPUC, subject
to certain build-out requirements, resale
restrictions and minimum service require-
ments. PURA provides that the Telephone
Company will remain the default carrier
of “1 plus” intraL.ATA toll traffic until all
LECs are ailowed to carry interLATA
long-distance.

In 1996, MCI Commumnications
Corporation (MCI) and AT&T Corp. (AT&T)
sued the state of Texas, alleging that PURA
violates the Texas state constitution, claim-
ing PURA establishes anticompetitive barri-
ers designed to prevent MCI, AT&T and
Sprint Corporation (Sprint) from providing
local services within Texas. SBC is unable
to predict the outcome of this proceeding,

Access Lines
(in miltions)

Texas accounts for
nearty two-thirds
of access line
growth since 1992,




Business
Accass Lines
(in miltions}

Business access lines
hare grown

nearly one-third
since 1992,
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During 1996, the TPUC approved the appii-
cation of Sprint to be granted a certificate of
authority to provide local service. waiving
the build-out requirements specified under
state law for facilities-hased certificates of
autherity, AT&T and MCI have also filed
petitions with the FCC arguing the huild-
out requirements should be preempted;
they have also requested TPUC grant them
similar treatment as Sprint. TPLUC has also
requested the FCC issue an expedited
ruling on whether PURA's build-oul require-
ments are tawful under the Telecom Act.

More than 80 applications to provide
compelitive [ocal service certification have
been approved by the TPUC, with over 30
more applications pending approval. As a
result, the Telephone Company expects
competition to continue to develop for tocal
service, but the specific financial impacts of
this competition cannot he reasonably esti-
mated until ali required tariff filings are
approved by the TPUC for the Telephone
Company and other-companies intending to
provide local service.

Missouri During 1996, Lthe 1995 Cole-
County Circuit Court ruling which
overturned the August 1994 settlement
agreement reached among the Tefephone
Company, the Missouri
Public Service Commission
(MPSC) and the Office of
Public Counsel (OPC)

was uphetd on

appeal. The practicai
effect of this decision is
to eliminate the prospective commitments
under the settlement agreement, including
a rate review moratorium and capital
investment commitments. The decision has
o immediate irpact on the Telephone
Company’s current rates because they were
approved by the MPSC in separate proceed-
ings, which were not appeaied.

Okiahoma On October 30, 1995, the
Oklahoma Corperation Commission (OCC)
approved a seitlernent that resolved pending
court appeals of a 1992 rate order. Under
the terms of the settlement, the Telephene
Company paid a cash settlement of $170 to
business and residential customers, and

offered discounts with a retait value of $268
for certain Telephore Company services.
Previnusly ardered rale reductions of $100
were lowered Lo
$84. of which
$57 had already
been implemented. The
settlement ailowed the
remaining $27 in rate reductions

to be deferred, with approximately $9
becoming effective in 1996 and the remain-
der during 1997, The settlement &lso pro-
vides that no overearnings complaint can he
filed against the Telephone Company until
January {, [998. The Teiephone Company
began accruing for the order in 1992, and
the settlement and associaled costs had

been fully accrued as of the end of the third
quarter of 1995,

Competition Competition continues to
expand in the telecommunications indus-
try. Legisiation and regulation have
increased the opportunities for aiternative
service providers offering telecommunica-
tions services. Technological advinces
have expanded the types and uses of ser-
vices and products available. Accordingly,
SBC faces increasing compelition in signifi-
can! portions of its business.

Domestic On February 8, 1996, the
Telecom Act was enacted into law. The
Telecom Act is intended to address various
aspects of competition within, and reguiation
of, the telecommunications industry, The
Telecom Act provides thal all post-enactment
conduct or aclivities which were subjecl o
the consent decree, referred to as the
Madification of Final Judgment (MFEI},
issued at the time of AT&T's divestiture of
the Regionai Holding Companies (RHCs) are
now subject to the provisions of the Telecom
Act. Among other things, the Telecom Act
also defines conditions SBC must comply
with before being permitied to offer
inter[.ATA long-distance service within the
five-state area and establishes certain terms
and condilions intended to promote competi-
tion for the Tetephone Company’s local
exchange services. Linder terms of the
Telecom Act, SBC may immediately offer
interL.ATA long-distance outside the five-
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state area and over ils wireless netwark both
inside and outside the five-staie area. Before
being permitted to offer landline interLATA
long-distance service in any state within the
Telephone Company's five-state region, SBC
must apply for and vbtain state-specific
approval from the FCC. The FCC’s approval,
which involves consultation with the United
States Department of Justice, requires favor-
able determinations that the Telephone
Company has entered into interconnection
agreement(s) that satisfy a {4-point “compet-
itive checklist” with predominantly facilities
based carrier(s) that serve residential and
business customers or, aiternatively, that the
Teleptione Company has a statement of
terms and conditions effective in that state
under which it offers the “compeltitive check-
list” iterns. The FCC must also make favor-
able public interest and structural separation
determinations. The Telecom Act directed
the FCC to establish rules and regulations to
implement the Telecom Act, and to preempt
specific stale law provisions under certain
circumstances. The Telecom Act also allows
RHCs to provide cable services over their
own networks, but sets limits on RHCs
acquiring interests in cable television opera-
tions in their telephone service areas.

In April 1996, the United States District
Court for the District of Columbia issued its
Opinion and Order terminating the MFJ and
dismissing all pending motions related to the
MFJ as moot. This ruling effectively ended
13 vears of RHC regulation under the MFJ.

In August 1996, the FCC issued rules by
which competitors could connect with
LECs’ networks, inctuding those of the
Telephone Company. Among other things,
the rules addressed unbundling of network
elements, pricing for interconnection and
unbundled elements (Pricing Provisions),
and resale of network services. The FCC
rules were appealed by numerous parties,
including SBC, other LECs, various state
regulatory comnmissions and the National
Association of Regulatory Utility

, Commissioners.

On October 15, 1996, the United States
Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit
(Eighth Circuit) issued an order to stay the

FCC’s Pricing Provisions and its rules per-
mitting new entrants to “pick and choose”
among the terms and conditions of
approved interconnection agreements. The
stay provides that it wiil remain in effect
while the Eighth Circuit considers the
validity of the rules. Other provisicns of
rules adopted by the FCC to implement the
Telecom Act remain in effect.

The effects of the FCC rules are depen-
dent on tany factors including, but not lim-
ited to: the ultimate resolution of the pend-
ing appeals; the number and nature of com-
petitors requesting interconnection,
unbundling or resale; and the results of the
state regulatory commissions’ review and
handling of related matters within their
jurisdictions. Accordingly, SBC is not able to
assess the impact of the FCC rutes.

Recently enacted and pending state laws
and regulations also allow increased com-
petition for local exchange services.
Companies wishing to provide competitive
local service have filed numerous appiica-
tions with state commissions throughout
the Telephone Company’s five-state area,
and the commissions of each state have
begun approving these applications. Under
the Telecom Act, companies seeking to
interconnect to the Telephone Company’s
network and exchange local calls must
enter into interconnection agreements with
the Telephone Company, which are then
subject to approval by the appropriate state
comrmission. Numerous interconnection
agreements have been entered into and
approved in the Telephone Company’s
five-state area. Several companies who
have failed to agree on all interconnection
terms have filed for arbitration before the
state commissions.

In October 1996, the TPUC announced
its ruling in a consolidated arbitration hear-
ing between the Telephone Company and
AT&T, MCI, MFS Communications
Company, Inc. (MFS), Teleport
Communications Group, and American
Communications Services, Inc. The TPUC
approved interim interconnection rates to
be charged by the Telephone Company as
well as certain other terms of interconnec-
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tion between the parties. Some agreements
containing the arbitrated rates and terms
have been approved by the TPUC. The
Telephone Company alse filed revised cost
support for the establishment of permanent
rates with the TPUC, with an anticipated
effective date of April 1997. The Telephone
Company has filed suit in state and federal
court maintaining that, for various reasons,
the arbitration award is unlawful,

In Missouri, the MPSC issued orders on
a consolidated arbitration hearing with
AT&T and MCI and on selected items with
MFS. Among other terms, the orders estab-
lished discount rates for resale of
Telephone Company services and prices for
unbundled network elements. The
Telephone Company has filed suit in federal
court appealing the orders as unlawful.

As a result of the Telecom Act and con-
forming interconnection agreements, the
Telephone Company expects in 1997 it will
experience local exchange competition
from multipie providers in various markets.
SHC intends to use approved agreements in
support of its application to the FCC to pro-
vide interLATA long-distance service in the
Telephone Company’s five-state area.

The Telephone Company also faces
competition from various local service
providers that bypass the local exchange
network. Some of these providers have built
{iber optic “rings” throughout large metro-
politan areas to provide transport services
{generally high-speed data) for large busi-
ness customers and interexchange carriers.
Others provide high-usage customers,
particularly farge businesses, alternative
telecommunications links for voice and
data, such as private network systems,
shared tenant services or private branch
exchange (PBX) systems (which are
customer-owned and provide internal
switching functions without using
Telephone Company central office facilities).
The extent of the economic incentive to
bypass the local exchange network depends
upon local exchange prices, access charges,
regulatory policy and other Factors. End user
charges ordered by the FCC are designed in
part to mitigate the effect of system bypass.

Competition continues to intensify in the
Telephone Company's intral.ATA toil mar-
kets. Principal competitors are inter-
exchange carriers, which are assigned an
access code (e.g., “10XXX") used by their
customers to route iniraLATA calls through
the interexchange carrier’s network, and
resellers, which sell toll services obtained at
bulk rates.

In 1993, the FCC adopted an order
allocating radio spectrum and outlining the
development of licenses for new personal
communications services (PCS). PCS utilizes
wireless telecommunications digital technol-
ogy at a higher frequency radio spechuun
than cellular. Like cellular, it is designed to
permit access to a variety of communications
services regardless of subscriber location. In
an FCC auction, which concluded in March
1995, PCS licenses were awarded in 51
major markets. SBC acquired PCS licenses
in the Major Trading Areas (MTAs) of
Memphis, Tennessee; Little Rock, Arkansas;
and Tulsa, Oklahoma. SBC is currently in the
build out phase of PCS in Tulsa, Oklahoma.
During 1996, SBC received several AT&T
cellular networks in Arkansas in exchange
for SBC’s PCS licenses in Memphis,
Tennessee and Little Rock, Arkansas and
other consideration. In an FCC auction con-
cluded January 1997, SBC acquired eight
additional PCS licenses for Basic Trading
Areas (BTAs) that are within its {ive-state
area. SBC plans to build out the new BTAs as
part of its strategy to be a full service
telecommunications provider. Including -
these new BTAs, SBC will be able to offer
approximately 85% of its landline local ser-
vice customers wireless service as well,

Companies granted licenses in MTAs
and BTAs where SBC also provides service
include subsidiaries and affiliates of AT&T,
Sprint and ether RHCs. The degree of com-
petition which SBC will encounter from PCS
providers will depend on the timing and
extent of the build out of PCS services.

In the future, it is likely that additional
competitors will emerge in the telecommny
nications indusiry, Cable television compa-
nies and electric utilities have expressed an
interest in, or already are, providing




telecommunications services. As a result of
recent and prospective mergers and acqui-
sitions within the industry, SBC may face
competition from entities offering both
cable TV and telephone services in the
Telephone Company’s operating territory.
Interexchange carriers have been certified
to provide local service, and a number of
other maijor carriers have publicly
announced their intent to provide local ser-
vice in certain markets, some of which are

in the Telephone Company’s five-state area.

SBC is aggressively representing its
interests regarding competition before
federal and state regulatory bodies, courts,
Congress and state legislatures. SBC will
continue to evaluate the increasingly com-
petitive nature of its business to develop
appropriate competitive, legislative and
regulatory responses. .

International Telmex was granted a
concession in 1990 which expired in August
1996, as the sole provider of long-distance
services in Mexico. In 1995, the Mexican
Senate and Chamber of Deputies passed
legislation encompassing a series of rules
for the introduction of competition into the
Mezxican long-distance market previously
issued by the Mexican Secretary of
Communication and Transportation. Those
rules specified that there
wouid be an unlimited
number of long-
distance conces-

sions and that
Teimex was

required to provide

60 interconnection points by January 1,
1997, and more than 200 interconnection
points by the year 2000. Several large com-
petitors have announced their intention to
compete with Telmex and have filed for
licenses, including a joint venture between
AT&T and Alfa, a Mexican consortium, and
Avantel, S.A., a joint venture between MCI
and Grupo Financiero Banamex-Accival,
Mexico’s largest financial group. Balloting
for presubscription of long-distance service
" has begun among Telmex’s customers in
selected areas. '

Other Business Matters

Merger Agreement On April 1, 1896,
SBC and Pacific Telesis Group (PAC) jointly
announced a definitive agreement to merge
an SBC subsidiary with PAC, in a transaction
in which each share of PAC common stock
will be exchanged for 0.733 of a share of SBC
common stock, subject to adjustment as
described in the merger agreement based
upon an allocation of the costs, fees and
expenses and other financial effects incurred
or sustained in connection with obtaining
state regulatory approvals. After the merger,
PAC will be a wholly-owned subsidiary of
SBC. The transaction is intended to be
accounted for as a pooling of interests and
to be a tax-free reorganization. On July 31,
1996, the shareowners of SBC and PAC each
approved the transaction, which had previ-
ousty been approved by the board of direc-
tors of each company. On November 5, 1996,
the United States Department of Justice
announced it would not initiate action on
the merger under the Hart-Scott-Rodino
antitrust law. The Public Service Com-
mission of Nevada approved the merger on
December 31, 1996. The FCC approved the
transfer of licenses from PAC to SBC on
January 31, 1997, The merger agreement is
subject to certain other regulatory approvals,
including approval by the California Public
Utilities Commission, which has established
a schedule for review of the transaction with
approval expected before the end of the first
quarter of 1997. If approvals are granted, the
transaction is expected to close in the first
half of 1997 (see Note 3 to the financial state-
ments for more information).

Acquisitions and Dispositions SBC
made several acquisitions and dispositions
in 1996, 1995 and 1994.

SBC’s acquisitions of two cable television
systems located in Montgomery County,
Maryland, and Arlington County, Virginia,
the domestic wireless business of Associated
Communications Corporation, adjacent
properties in New York state and an indirect
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10% ownership of a nationwide ceilular
company in France are described in Note 12
to the (inancial statements. In addition, the
merger of SBC’s United Kingdom cabie tele-
vision operations into Tele¥est is described
in Note 12 to the financial statements.

{n Gcetober 1894, SBC sold an additional
23% of its United Kingdom cable television
operations to Cox Cable Communications.
From Qctober [994 until the merger into
TeleWest in 1993, SBC’s United Kingdom
cable television investment was accounted
for under the equity method. In December
1996, SBC made an additional investment
to maintain its indirect 10% ewnership in
the French ceflular company to offset
dilution of its interest resulting from other
equity sales.

During 1995, SBC also purchased a
wireless system serving Watertown,

New York, and, as previously discussed,
obtained at auction PCS licenses in
Memphis, Tennessee; Little Rock, Arkansas;
and Tuisa, Oklakoma. During 1996, SBC
received several AT&T cellular networks in
Arkansas in exchange for SBC’s PCS licens-
es in Memphis, Tennessee and Little Rock,
Arkansas and other consideration.

In 1995, SBC made an equity invest-
ment in Chile, purchasing 40% of VTR S.A.
(VTR), a privately owned telecommunica-
tions holding company, for $317. VTR
provides local, long-distance, wireless and
cable television services in Chile and is
31% owned by Grupo Luksic, a large
Chilean conglomerate. During 1996, SBC
increased its holding in VTR to 49%
through the purchase of shares from

" another minority shareowner. Also, in 1995,

SBC made an equity investment in a South
Alrican wireless company.

Except as discussed in Note 12 to the
financial statements, none of these transac-
tions had a material effect on SBC’s finan-
cial results in 1996, 1995 or 1994, nor does
management expect them to have a materi-
al effect on SBC’s financial position or
results of operations in 1897.

Strategic Realignment In July 1995,
SBC announced a strategic realignment
which positions the company to be a single-

source provider of telecommunications ser-
vices. All of SBC’s operations within the five
state area report to one management group.
while international operations and domestic
operations outside the five-state area report
o a separate management group. .

In connection with this realignment of
functions, in 1995 SBC recognized $139 in
selling, general and administrative expenses.
These expenses inciude postemployment
benefits for approximately 2,400 employees
arising from the future consolidation of oper-
ations within the five-state area, streamlining
support and administrative functions and
integrating financial systems. [mpiemen-
tation of the realignment has been delaved
due to the pending merger with PAC. The
charge reduced net income for 1995 by
approximately $88.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Capital Expenditures and Other
Commitments To provide high-quality
communications services to its customers.
SBC, particularly the Telephone Compar
and Mobile Systems, must make significant
investments in property, plant and equip-
ment. The amount of capital investment is
influenced by regulatory commitments and
demand for services and products.

SBC’s capital expenditures totaled
$3,027, $2,336 and $2,350 for 1996, 1995
and 1994. In 1996, Telephone Company and
Mobile Systems expenditures increased
33% and 10%. The Telephone Company's
increase in capital expenditures was due
primarily to demand-related growth, net-
work upgrades, customer-contracted
requirements, regulatory commitments
and ISON projects, Mobile Systems
expenditures increased due primarily to
continued growth.

SBC's total reported 1995 capital
expenditures were relatively unchanged
compared to 1994. Reported decreases in
SBC's capital expenditures related to the
change in accounting for its United
Kingdom cable television operations w
offsel by capital expenditures increases
of 5% at the Telephone Company and
6% at Mobile Systems,



In $997. management expects total
capital spending to increase from 1996,
to between $3.300 and $3,500. Capital
expenditures in 1997 will relate primarily
to the continued evolution of the Telephone
Company’s network, inciuding amounts
agreed to under regulation plans, and con-
tinued build out of Mobile Syslems’
markets. SBC expects to fund engoing
capital expenditures with cash provided
by operations.

The Telephone Company continues (o
make additional network and infrastructure
improvements over pericds ranging
through 2001 to satisfv regulatory commit-
ments. Total capital expenditures under
these commitments can vary based on actu-
al demand of potential end users. The
Telephone Company anticipates spending
approximately $150 to $200 in 1997 associ-
ated with these commitments.

Qver the next few vears, SBC is expecting
to incur significant software expenditures for
interconnection and customer number
portability. The extent and timing of these
expenditures wiil vary depending on the
timing and nature of regulatory actions and
cotresponding or compensating network
improvements.

Dividends Declared Dividends declared
by SBC totaled $1,042 ($1.72 per share) in
1996, §1,004 ($1.65 per share) in 1995 and
$954 ($1.38 per share) in 1994.
Management’s dividend policy considers
both the expectations and requirements of
shareowners, internal requirements of SBC
and long-term growth opportunities.

Cash, Lines of Cradit and Cash Fiows
SBC had $242 of cash and cash equivalents
available at December 31, 1996.
Commercial paper borrowings as of
December 31, 1996, totaled $1,318. SBC has
entered into agreernents with several hanks
for lines of credit totaling $730, all of which
may be used to support commercial paper
borrowings. SBC had no borrowings out-
standing under these lines of credit as of
December 31, 1996,

During 1996, as in 1995 and 1994, SBC’s
primary source of funds continued to be
cash generated from operations, as shown

in the Consolidated Stalements of Cash
Flows. {n 1996, 995 and 1994, cash provid-
ed by vperating aclivities was reduced by
the contribution of $37,. $151 and $134 to
the collectively bargained Voluntary
Ewplovee Benefiviary Association trusts
for the future pavment of postretirement
benefits. Net cash provided by operating
activities exceeded SBC’s construction and
capital expendilures during t996, as in
1995 and 1994, this excess is referred to as
free cash flow, a supplemental measure of
fiquidity. SBC generated free cash flow of
$1,797, $1,685 and $1.618 in 1996, t995
and t994.

Duritg 1995, the Telephone Company
refinanced long-teem debt with an aggre-
gate principal amount of $430. Since June
1991, the Telephone Company has
refinanced $3,632 in long-term debt.

Total Capital SBC's total capital consists
of debt (long-lerm debt and debt maturing
within one vear) and shareowners’ equity.
Total capital increased $454 in 1996 and
decreased $2.265 in 1995. The increase in
1996 was due to the reinvestment of earn-
ings, partially offset by the acquisition of
treasury shares. The decrease in 1995 was
due to the effects of the discontinuance of
regulatory accounting. Absent this extraor-
dinary charge, total capital increased by
$554 in 1995 due primarily to the reinvest-
ment of earnings, partiaily offset by foreign
currency translation adjustments resulting
from the decline in the value of the
Mexican peso.

Debt Ratlo SBC’s debt ratio (long-term
debt and debt maturing within one year, as
a percentage of total capital) was 51.4%,
34.0% and 47.4% at December 31, 1996,
1995 and 1994. The debt ratio is affected
by the same lactors that affect total capital.
For 1995, the decrease in equity caused by
the discontinuance of regulatory '
accounting increased the debt ratio by
9.2 percentage points.

Share Repurchases See Note 11 to the
financiai statements.

Employee Stock Ownership Plans See
Note 9 to the financial statements.




Consolidated Statements of Income

Dollars in millions excepl per Share amounts

1996 1995 1984

Operating Revenues
Local service $ 7,394 $ 6,549 $ 5788
Network access 3,204 3,067 2 857
Long-distance service 3945 84t gt7
Directory advertising 94 953 947
Other 1,401 1,260 1,263
Total operating revenues 13,898 12,670 11,772
Operating Expenses
Cost of services and products 4,135 3,806 3,747
Selling, general and administrative 3,967 3,657 3.225
Depreciation and amortization 2,240 2170 2,038
Total operating expenses 10,342 9,633 9,010
Operating Income 3,558 3,037 2,762
Other Income (Expense)
[nterest expense (472) (515) (480)
Equity in net income of affiliates 244 156 223
QOther income (expense) - net {61} 114 {)
Total other income (expense) (289) {245) (328)
Income Before Income Taxes and Extraordinary Loss 3,267 2,792 2.434
Income Taxes
Federal 1,057 824 684
State and local 109 79 101
Total income tazes 1,166 ) a03 785
income Before Extraordinary Loss 2,1 1,889 1,649
Extraordinary Loss from Discontinuance of Regulatory Accounting, net of tax - (2,819) -
Net Income (Loss} § 210 § (830) $ 1549
Earnings Per Common Share;
Income Before Extraordinary Loss $ 346 $ 310 $ 274
Extraordinary Loss - (4.83) -
Net income (Loss] $ 3.48 g (153 § 274

607 609 601

YVeighted Average Number of Common Shares Outstanding (in millions)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consalidated financial statemants.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

Dollars in millions except per share amounts

December 31,

1996 1995

Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents _ $ 242 $ 490
Short-term cash investments and other current assets 513 310
Accounts receivable - net of allowances for uncollectibles of $148 and $134 2,575 2.389
Material and supplies 116 13
Prepaid expenses 261 157
Deferred charges 205 202
Total current assets 3,912 3.679
Property, Plant and Equipment - Net 14,007 12.988
Intangible Assets - Net of Accumulated Amortization of $607 and $548 2,485 2.879
Investments in Equity Affiliates ) 1,955 1.586
Other Assels 1,090 1,070
Total Assets $23,449 $22,002
Liabilities and Shareowners’ Equity
Current Liabilities
Debt maturing within one year $ 1,722 $ 1,680
Accounts payable and accrued Habilities 3,839 3,125
Dividends payable 259 251
Total current liabilities 5,820 5,056
Long-Term Debt 5,505 5,672
Deferred Credits and Other Noncurrent Liabilities
Deferred income taxes 784 723
Postemployment henefit obligation 2,720 2,736
Unamortized investment tax credits 255 287
Other noncurrent liabilities 1,530 1,272
Total deferred credits and other noncurrent liabilities 5,289 5018
Shareowners' Equity
Preferred shares (31 par value, 10,000,000 authorized: none issued) - -
Common shares ($1 par value, 2,200,000,000 authorized:

issued 620,483,301 at December 31, 1996 and 19895) 620 620
Capital in excess of par value 6,322 6,298
Retained earnings 1,739 672
Guaranteed obligations of employee stock ownership plans (229) (272)
Foreign currency iranslation adjustment (633) (581)
Treasury shares (20,616,939 at December 31, 1996 and 11,122,981 at

December 31, 1995, at cost) (984) {481)
Total shareowners’ equity 6,835 6,256
Total Liabilities and Shareowners' Equity $23,448 $22,002

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.




Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Dailars in mitions, increase {decrease) i Cash ang cash equivalents

1996 1995 1994
Operating Activities
Net income (loss) $2,101 § (930) $1.649
Adjustments 1o reconcile net income {loss) to nei cash
provided by operating activities:
Deprectation and amortization 2,240 2170 2,038
Undistributed earnings from investments in equily affiliates (174) (94) (134)
Provision for uncollectible accounts 226 178 153
Amortization of investment tax credits {32) (42) {B1)
Pensions and other postemployinent expenses 221 138 202
Deferred income tax expense 165 463 {124}
Extraordinary loss, net of tax ~ 2,819 -
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable {412) {363} {303
Other current assets (106) 33 (80
Accourtts payable and accrued liabililies 660 {186) 430
Other - net (65) (165} 208
Total adjustments 2,723 4 951 2318
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 4,824 4,021 3.968
Investing Activities
Construction and capital expenditures {3,027) {2,336} {2,350}
[nvestments in affiliates (29) (16} (223
Purchase of short-lerm investments (1,005) (704) {32%)
Proceeds from short-term investments a6 587 390
Drispositions 67 - 141
Acquisitions {264) (538) (1,182}
Net Cash Used in Investing Activilies 13,442) (3,007) (3,348)
Financing Activities
Net change in short-term borrowings with original
maturities of three months or less 5 (1 463
{ssuance of other stiort-term borrowings 209 a1 36
Repayment of other short-term borrowings {134) (91) 41
lssuance of long-term debt 208 981 345
Repayment of long-term debt (393} (272) (430)
Early extinguishment of debt and related call premiums - {465) -
Issuance of common shares - - 40
Purchase of treasury shares (650) (216) (447)
Issuance of treasury shares 52 82 18
Dividends paid (928} (888} {837
Net Cash Used in Financing Activities {1,630} {889} {873)
Net increase {decrease} in cash and cash equivalents (248} 125 (253)
Cash and cash equivalents beginning of year 490 365 618
Cash and Cash Equivatents End of Year $ 242 $ 480 § 365

| ] _"-T _“
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Shareowners’ Equity

Dolfars m millions except per share amounts

Common Shares

Shares

Amount

Capital in
Excess of
Par Value

Guaranteed
Obligations

of Empicyee

Stock

Foreign-
Currency

Retained Ownership  Translation
Plans Adjustment

Earmings

Treasury Shares

Shares

Amount

Total

Balance, December 31, 1993
Net income for the vear
($2.74 per share)
Dividends Lo shareowners
{31.38 per share)
Reduction of debt associated with
Employee Stock Ownership Plans
Foreign cutrency translation
adjustment, net of income lax
benefit of 197
{ssuance of common shares:
Dividend Reinvestment Plan
Other issuances
Purchase of treasury shares
[ssuance of treasury shares
Other

602,744,484

3,334,668
14,404,148

$603

$5.,577

51,891
1.649

(954)

$(353)

38

$ 40

(2,510,404}

(11,301.550)
2.410.326

$(110y

$7.968

Balance, Dacember 31, 1994

Net income (loss) for the year
($(1.53) per share)

Dividends to shareowners
{($1.63 per share) :

Reduction of debt associated with
Employee Stock Ownership Plans

Foreign currency translation
adjustment, net of income tax
benefit of $116

Purchase of treasury shares

[ssuance of treasury shares:
Dividend Reinvestment Plan

Other issuances
Other

£20,483,301

19
(7)

2,993
{930)

{1,004)

(11,401,628)

{4,610,713)

2,730,666
2,158,694

111
87

8,385

Balance, December 31, 1995

Net income for the year
{$3.46 per share)

Dividends to shareowners
($1.72 per share)

Reduction of debt associated with
Emptoyee Stock Ownership Plans

Foreign currency transiation
adjustment. net of income tax
benefit of $28

Purchase of treasury shares

tssuance of treasury shares:
Dividend Reinvestment Plan
Other issuances

Other

620,483,301

620

6,298

26
19)
3

8

(581)

(11,122,981)

(13,009,709)

2,667,752
937,999

(481)

(650)

109
38

6,256

Baiance, Decomber 31, 1998

620,483,301

$620

$6,322

$1,734

$(229)

$(633) (20,616,939)

$(984)

$6.835

The accampanying netes are an integral part of the consalidated financial statements.




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Dollars in millipns except per share amounts

1, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation The consolidated financial
statements include the accounts of SBC Communications

{nc. and its majority-owned subsidiaries (SBC). SBC's
subsidiaries and affiliates operate predominantly in the
communications services industry, providing {andline
and wireless telecommunications services and equip-
ment, directory advertising and cable television services
both domestically and worldwide. Southwestern Bell
Telephone Company {Telephone Company) is SBC’s
largest subsidiary, providing telecommunications
services in Texas, Missouri, Oklahoma, Kansas and
Arkansas (five-state area). :

All significant intercompany transactions are eliminat-
ed in the consolidation process. Investments in partner-
ships, joint ventures and less than majority-owned sub-
sidiaries are principally accounted for under the equity
method. Earnings from certain foreign investments
accounted for under the equity method are included for
periods ended within three months of SBC’s year end.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with generaily accepted accounting principies requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the amounts reported in the financial statements
and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.

Income Taxes Deferred income taxes are provided
for temporary differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liahilities for financial reparting purposes
and the amounts used for tax purposes.

Investment tax credits resulted from federal tax law
provisions that allowed for a reduction in income tax lia-
bility based on certain construction and capital expendi-
tures. Corresponding income tax expense reductions
were deferred and are being amortized as reductions in
income tax expense over the life of the property, plant
and equipment that gave rise to the credits.

Cash Equivalents Cash equivalents include all high-
ly liquid investments with original maturities of three
months or less.

Deferred Charges Certain sales commissions are
deferred and amortized over 12 months. Directory
advertising costs are deferred until the directory is
published and advertising revenues related to these costs
are recognized.

Material and Supplies New and rensable materials
are carried principally at average originai cost. Specific
costs are used for large individual items. Nonreusable
material is carried at estimated saivage value,

Property, Plant and Equipment Property, plant and
equipment is stated at cost. The cost of additions and sub-
stantial betterments of property, plant and equipment is
capitalized. The cost of maintenance and repairs of proper-
ty, plant and equipment is charged to operating expenses.

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated using
straight-line methods over their estimated useful lives,
generally ranging from 3 to 30 years. Prior to September
1893, the Telephone Company computed depreciation
using certain siraight-line methods and rates as
prescribed by regulators. In accordance with composite
group depreciation methodelogy, when a portion of the
Telephone Company’s depreciable property, plant and
equipment is retired in the ordinary course of business,
the gross book value is charged to accumulated
depreciation.

Intangible Assets iniangible assets consist primarily
of wireless and cabie television licenses, customer lists
and the excess of consideration paid over net assets
acquired in business combinations. These assets are
being amortized vusing the straight-line method, over
periods generally ranging from 3 to 40 years. At
December 31, 1996 and 1995, amaunts included in net
intangible assets for licenses were $1,838 and $1,798.
Management periodically reviews the carrying value and
lives of all infangible assels based on expected future
cash flows.

Foreign Currency Translation Local currencies are -
generaily considered the functional currency for SBC’s
share of foreign operations, except in countries consid-
ered highly inflationary. SBC translates iis share of for-
eign assets and liabilities at current exchange rates.
Revenues and expenses are translated using average
rates during the vear. The ensuing foreign currency
translation adjustments are recorded as a separate com-
ponent of Shareowners’ Equity, Other transaction gains
and losses resuiting from exchange rate changes on i
transactions denominated in a currency other than the
lacal currency are inchxded in earnings as incurred.

Earnings Per Common Share The earnings per
common share computation uses the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding, including shares
heid by employee stock ownership pians. Common stoc
equivalents outstanding are not considered dilutive



—

2. Discontinuance of Reguiatory Accounting

In September 1995, the Telephone Company discon-
tinued its application of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 71, “Accounting for the Effects
of Certain Types of Regulation” (FAS 71). FAS 71 requires
depreciation of telephone plant using lives set by regula-
tors which are generally longer than those established by
unregulated companies, and deferral of certain costs and
obligations based on regulatory actions (regulatory assets
and liabilities). As a result of the adoption of price-based
regulation for most of the Telephone Company’s revenues
and the acceleration of competition in the telecommuni-
cations market, management determined that the
Telephone Company no longer met the criteria for appli-
cation of FAS 71.

Upon discontinuance of FAS 71, the Telephone
Company recorded a non-cash, extraordinary charge to
net income of $2,819 {after a net deferred tax benefit of
$1,764). This charge is comprised of an after-tax charge
of $2,897 to reduce the net carrying value of telephone
plant, partially offset by an after-tax benefit of $78 for the
elimination of net regulatory liabilities. The components

* of the charge are as follows:

Pre-tax After-tax
Increase telephone plant accumulated depreciation $4,657 " 82,897
Adjust unamortized investment tax credits 41 (25)
Eliminate tax-related reguiatory assets and liabiiities (38) (88)
Eliminate other requlatory assets 35 35
Total $4,583 $2,819

The increase in accumuiated depreciation of $4,657
reflects the effects of adopting depreciable lives for many
of the Telephone Company’s plant categories which more
ctosely reflect the economic and technological lives of the
plant. The adjustment was supported by a discounted
cash flow analysis which estimated amounts of telephone
plant that may not be recoverable from future discounted
cash flows. This analysis included consideration of the
effects of anticipated competition and technologicai
changes on plant lives and revenues. The adjustment also
included elimination of accumulated depreciation defi-
ciencies recognized by regulators and amortized as part
of depreciation expense.

Following is a comparison of new lives to those pre-
scribed by regulators for selected plant categories:

Average Lives (in Years)

Regulator- Estimated

Prescribed Economic
Digital switch 17 n
Digital circuit 12 7
Copper cable 24 18
Fiber cable 27 20
Conduit 57 50

The increase in accumulated depreciation also
includes an adjustment of approximately $450 to fully
depreciate analog switching equipment scheduled for
replacement. Remaining analog switching equipment
is being depreciated using an average remaining life of
four years.

[nvestment tax credits have histerically been deferred
and amortized over the estimated lives of the related
plant. The adjustment to unamortized investment tax
credits reflects the shortening of those plant lives dis-
cussed above. Regulatory assets and liabilities are related
primarily to accounting policies used by regulators in the
ratemaking process which are different from those used
by non-regulated companies, predominantly in the
accounting for income taxes and deferred compensated
absences. These items are required to be eliminated with
the discontinuance of accounting under FAS 71.

Additionaily, in September 1995, the Telephone
Company began accounting for interest on funds borrowed
to finance construction as an increase in property, plant and
equipment and a reduction of interest expense. Under the
provisions of FAS 71, the Telephone Company accounted for
a capitalization of both interest and equity costs allowed by
regulators during periods of construction as other income
and as an addition to the cost of plant constructed.




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, continued

Oallars in millians except per share amaunts

3. Merger Agreament

On April 1, 1996, SBC and Pacific Telesis Group (PAC)
jointly announced a definitive agreemen) to merge an
SBC subsidiary with PAC, in a transaction in whitch each
share of PAC common stock will be exchanged for 0.733
of a share of SBC common stock (equivalent to approxi-
malely 314 million shares}), subject to adjustrnent as
described in the merger agreement based upon an alloca-
tion of the costs, fees and expenses and other financial
effects incurred or sustained in connection with obtaining
stale regulatory approvais. After the merger, PAC will be a
wholly-owned subsidiary of SBC. The transaction is
intended to-be accounted for as a pooling of interests and
to be a tax-free reorganization. On July 31, 1996, the
shareowners of SBC and PAC each approved the transac-
tion, which had previously been approved by the hoard of
directors of each company. On Novermber 3, 1996, the
Linited States Department of Justice announced it would
not initiate action on the merger under the Hart-Seolt-
Rodino antitrust law. The Public Service Commission of
Nevada approved the merger on December 31, 1996. The
FCC approved the transfer of licenses from PAC to SBC on
January 31, 1997, The merger agreement is subject lo
certain other regulatory approvals, including approval by
the California Public Utilities Commission, which has
established a schedule for review of the transaction with
approval expected before the end of the first quarter of
1997. If approvals are granted, the transaction is expected
to close in the first haif of 1997.

The pro forma effect on SBC's consolidated statements
of income had the merger occurred on January 1, 1994 is
as follows:

Pro Forma {unaudited). 1995 1995 1994

Operating revenues : $23.486 S21.712  S21.007
Income befgre extraordinary loss

and cumulative effect of

accounting changes $3158 §$2937 $2.808
Net income {l6ss) $3,243 §5{3242) 52308
income before extraordinary

loss and cumulative effect of

accounting changes

per Lommaon share $ 343 % 319 ¢ 308
Net income {loss) per commaon share $ 3582 9§ 52 § 308

This pro farma information dees not include the effect
of changes. which will he applied retroactively. o conform
accounting methoedologies hetween PAC and $BC for.
among other itlems, pensions. postretirement benefits,
sales commissions or merger transaction costs and
certain deferred tax adjustments resuliing from the
merger. Based on information currently available,
management estimates these changes will not materiallv
affect the pro forma operating revenues or income before
extraordinary loss and cumulative effect of accounting
changes, and estimates the changes will reduce the
pro forma 1995 extraordinary loss from discontinuance
of regulatory accounting by between $100 and $200.

4, Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment is summarized as
follows at December 31:

1996 1985
Teleghone Company plant
In service $29,035 $ 27,764
Under construction nz2 245
29,347 28,009
Accumuiated depreciation and amortization {17.,588) {16,882)
Total Tefephone Company 11,759 11427
Other 3,407 2,781
Accumulated depreciation and amertization {1,189) 9~
Total other 2,248 1
Property, plant and equipment—nst § 14,007 $12.988

SBC’s depreciation expense as a percentage of
average depreciable plant was 6.8% for 1996 and 6.9%
for 1995 and 1994

Certain facilities and equipment used in aperations
are under operating or capilal leases. Bental expenses
under operating leases for 1998, 1995 and 1994 were
$171, $138 and $126. At December 31, 1996, the future
minimum rental payments under aoncancelable gperat-
ing leases for the years 1997 through 2001 were $105.
$91, 394, $51 and $30 and $167 therealter. Capital leases
were nol significant. .
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5. Equity lnvestmenis

nvestments in affiliates accounted for under the
equity method consist principally of SBC’s investment
in Teléfonos de México, S.A. de C.V. (Telmex), Mexico’s
national telecommunications company. SBC is a member
of a consortium that hoids all of the Class AA shares of
Telmex stock, representing voting conirol of the company.
The consortium is controlled by a group of Mexican
investors led by an affiliate of Grupo Carso, S.A. de C.V.
SBC also owns Class L shares which have limited voting
rights. In January 1997, SBC soid a portion of its Class L
shares so that its total equity investment was below 10%
of Telmex’s total equity capitalization.

In December 1994 SBC made an equity investment in
French cellular operations {see Note 12). Other equity
investments held by SBC include interests in Australian
and lsraeli operations which provide directory, cable
television and other services, minority ownership of
several domestic wireless properties and 1995 investments
in Chilean telecommunications and South African
wireless operations.

The following table is a reconciliation of SBC’s invest-
ments in equity affiliates:

6. Deobt
Long-term debt, including interest rates and maturi-
ties, is summarized as follows at December 31:

1996 1895 1994

. Beginning of year $1.588 31,748 $1.429
Additional investments 292 409 626
Equity in net incorne 244 156 223
Dividends recaived (78} (62} (89)
Currency transiatior adjustment (34) (268) (560)
Reclassifications and other adjustments 3 (397) 127
End of year $1,955 $1,586 $1,748

Currency ranslation adjustinents for 1995 and 1994
primarily reflect the effect on SBC'’s investment in Telmex
resuiting from the decline in the value of the Mexican
peso relative to the U.S. dollar during those years.
Beginning in 1997, SBC will use the U.S. dollar, instead of
the peso, as the functional currency for its investment in
Telmex due to the Mexican economy becoming highly
inflationary.

Other adjustments for 1995 reflect the change to the
cost method of accounting in October 1995 for SBC’s
United Kingdom cable television operations (see Note 12)
and the reclassification of a credit deferred in 1994 pend-
ing completion of the French cellular investment in 1995,

Other adjustments for 1994 reflect the change to the equi- .

ty method of accounting for SBC's previously consolidated
United Kingdom cable television operations.
Undistributed earnings from equity affiliates were

~__J $837 and $663 at December 31, 1996 and 1995.

1996 1995
Telephone Company cebentures
4.50%-5.88% 1997-2006 $ 600 § 600
6.12%-6.88% 2000-2024 1,200 1,200
7.00%-7.75% 2009-2026 1,500 1,500
8.30% 1996 - 200
3,300 3,500
Unamortized discount—nat of premium {29) (31
Total Tefephone Company debentures 3,21 3,469
Telephone Gompany notes
5.04%-7.67% 1897-201Q 1,118 950
Unamaortized discount (8} (5)
Total Telephone Company notes 1,112 945
Qther notes
5.70%-6.98% 1996-2007 299 306
700%-8.81% 1996-2020 1,021 1,129
1,320 1.435
Unamortized discount {14) 21
Total other notes 1,306 1414
Guaranteed obiigations of empioyee stock
ownership planst!
B.41%-9.40% 1996-2000 208 260
Capitalized \sases 12 2%
Tota! long-term dabt, including current maturities 5,909 6,114
Current maturities (404) (442)
Total long-term debt $5,505 $5.672

{1) S¢8 Note 9.

During 1995, SBC refinanced long-term debentures of
the Telephone Company. Costs of $18 associated with
refinancing are included in other income (expense) - net,
with related income tax benefits of $7 included in income
taxes in SBC’s Consolidated Statements of Income.

At December 31, 1996, the aggregate principal
amounts of long-term debt scheduled for repayment for
the years 1997 through 2001 were $404, $302, $447, $323
and $270. As of December 31, 1996, SBC was in compli-
ance with all covenants and conditions of instruments
governing its debt.
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Doflars in-millions except per share amounts
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Debt maturing within one year consists of the follow-""~

ing at December 31:

8—income Taxes.. =
Significant compenents of SBC’s deferred tax liabili-- —-

1996 ve95  ties and assets are as follows at December 31: /

Commercial paper $1,318 $1.238 1396 1985 -
Current maturities of long-term debt 404 442 Depraciation and amortization $2.313 52166
Totat $i7e2 51,680 Other 598 336
Gross deferred tax liabilities 2,911 2,722
The weighted average interest rate on commercial Employes bensfits . 1,485 1,373
paper debt at December 31, 1996 and 1995 was 5.5% and Unamartized investment tax credits ] 108

o . e Qther 563 504 ‘

5.7%. SBC has entered into agreements with several g

. . . Gross deterred tax assets 2,144 2088 | i

banks for lines of credit totaling $750. All of these agree- . >
ments may be used to support commercial paper borrow-  —orod 18X asets valuation alowance % 19

Net deferrad tax liabilities $ 663 § 747

ings and are on a negotiated fee basis with interest rates
negotiable at time of borrowing. There were no
borrowings outstanding under these lines of credit at
December 31, 1996.

7. Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts and estimated fair values of
SBC’s long-term debt, including current maturities, are
summarized as follows at December 31

19868 1895

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amaunt Valus  Amount Value

Talaphone Company debentures 321 83,200 £34B9  $3.553

Tatephane Campany notes 1,12 1,116 945 965
(Other notes 1,306 1,338 1414 1468
Guaranteed obligations of amployes

stock ownership plans 208 rt] 260 280

As a result of implementing Financial Accounting
Standards No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” in
1993, the Telephone Company recorded a net reduction
in its deferred tax liability. This reduction was substan-
tially offset by the establishment of a net regulatory
liability, which was eliminated with the discontinued
application of FAS 71 in September 1995 (see Note 2).

The decrease in the valuation allowance is the result
of an evaluation of the uncertainty associated with the
realization of certain deferred tax assets. The vaiuation
allowance is maintained in deferred tax assets for certain
unused federal and state loss carryforwards. '

The components of income tax expense are as follows: .

1996 1985 1994

—_—

The fair values of SBC's long-term debt were esti-
mated based on quoted market prices, where available,
or on discounted future cash flows using current interest
rates. The carrying amounts of commercial paper debt
approximate fair values.

SBC does not hold or issue any financial instruments
for trading purposes. SBC’s cash equivalents and
short-term investments are recorded at amortized cost.
Short-term investments were $432 and $243 at
December 31, 1996 and 1993, The carrying amounts of
cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments
approximate fair values.

Federal :
Current $ %40 $421 586
Deferred-—net 149 445 {122)
Amgrtization of invastment tax credits {32} {42} (61}

1,087 824 Gt

Stata and locat C
Current 92 61 103
Defarred—net 17 18 i

103 73 1.

Tota) $1,168 $903 5 785




f income tax expense and the
applying the statutory federal

) to income hefore income taxes
QWS

A reconciliation ¢
amount computed by
income tax rate {35% :
and extraordinary loss s as foll

Taxes computad at federal statutory rate $1.143 $977 3852
Incraases (0ecreases) in taxes
rasuiting from: ‘
Amartizaticn of investment 1ax credits
over the life of the plant that gave
risa to the cradits—1996 and |
1995, net of deferred tax (21) (39) (61)
Excess daferred taxes dus to rate change - 124) (35)

Depraciation of tetephone plant

construction costs previousty deducted

for tax purpases—net - 14 18
Stats and local incoma taxes—net of

federal tax benefit 7 SO 66 :
Other—net (2n (76) (55)
Total §1,166 $303 §785

9. Employse Benefits

Pensions Substantially all employees of SBC are
covered by noncontributory pension and death benefit
plans. The pension benefit formuta used in the determina-
tion of pension cost is based on a flat dollar amount per
year of service according to job classification for non-
management empioyees and a stated percentage of
adjusted career income for management employees.

SBC's objective in funding the plans, in combination
with the standards of the Employee Retirement Income
Security Act of 1974 (as amended), is to accurnutate funds
sufficient to meet its benefit obligations to employees
upon their retirement. Contributions to the plans are
made to a trust for the benefit of plan participants. Plan
assets consist primarily of stocks, U.S. government and
domestic corporate bonds and real estate.

Net pension cost is composed of the following:

1996 1085 1984
Service cost—benefits sarned
during the period $ 182 § 163 $157
Interest cost on projected
benefit abligation 514 486 464
Actual return on plan assets (1,208) (2,017 149
Other—net 642 1,495 (670)
Net pension cost $ 128 § 127 %100

The following table sets forth the pension plans’
funded status and the amounts inciuded in SBC’s
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31:

1996 1995

Fair vatue of plan assets $9,293 §8529
Less: Actuarial present vatue of projected

benefit abligation 7.376 7.276

Plan assets in excess of projected benefit obligation 1,817 1,253

Unracognized prior service cost 342 950
Unrecognized net gain {2,447) (1.608)
Unamortized transition asset (605) (686)

Accrued pension cost $ (293) § (91)

Significant assumptions used in developing pension
information include:

1996 1995 1994

Discount rate for determining projected
bengfit abligation 7.5% 7.25% 7.5%
Long-tarm rate of return on plan assats 8.0% 8.0% 8.0%
Composite rata of compensation increase 4.6% 4.6% 4,6%

The projected benefit obligation is the actuarial
present value of all benefits attributed by the pension
benefit formula to previously rendered empioyee service.
It is measured based on assumptions concerning future
interest rates and employee compensation levels. Should
actual experience differ from the actuarial assumptions,
the benefit obligation will be affected.

The actuarial estimate of the accumnulated benefit
obligation does not include assumptions about future
compensation levels. The accumulated benefit obligation
as of December 31, 1996, was $6,562, of which $5,512 was
vested. At December 31, 1995, these amounts were $6,330
and $3,607.

In December 1996, under the provisions of Section 420
of the Internal Revenue Code, SBC transferred $75 in
pension assets {0 a health care benefit account for the reim-
bursement of retiree health care benefits paid by SBC.

Supplemental Retirement Plans SBC also provides
senior and middie management employees with nonqual-
ified, unfunded supplemental retirement and savings
plans. The plans allow employees to defer and invest por-
tiens of their current compensation for later payment, and
SBC matches a percentage of the compensation deferral
according to thresholds specified in the plans. Expenses
related to these plans were $69, $68 and $68 in 1996, 1995
and 1994, Liabilities of $626 and $584 related to these
plans have been included in other noncurrent liabilities in
SBC's Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 1996
and 1995.
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Postretirement Benefits SBC provides certain med-
ical, dental and life insurance benefits to substantially all
retired employees and accrues actuarially determined
postretirement benefit costs as active employees earn
these benefits,

Postretirement benefit cost is composed of the
following:

1998 1995 1994

Sarvice cost—banefits earned

during the peried $ 55 $ 48 $ 49
Intarast cost on actumulated

pastretirement benefit obligation (APBQ) 230 228 225
Actual return on assets (188) (202) [16)
Cther—net 126 144 (24}
Postretirement benefit cost $223 $218 $234

SBC maintains collectively bargained Voluntary
Employee Beneficiary Association (CBVEBA) trusts to
fund postretirement benefits. During 1996 and 1993, SBC
contributed $57 and $151 into the CBVEBA trusts to be
ultimately used for the payment of postretirement bene-
fits. Assets consist principally of stocks and U.S. govern-
ment and corporate bonds.

The following table sets forth the plans’ funded status
and the amount included in SBC's Consolidated Balance
Sheets at December 31:

1986 1995
Retiress $1.743 $1,828
Fully eligible active plan participants 438 353
Other active plan participants 1,025 1,063
Tatal APBG 3,208 3,244
Less: Fair value of plan assets 1,155 Q23
APBO in excess of plan assets 2,051 2,321
Unrecognized prior service cost (68) {77}
Unrecognized nat gain 752 459
Accrued postretirement benefit obligation §2,735 $2.703

In December 1995, the life insurance benefit plan and
the medical plan were merged. Also in December 1995,
$109 of postretirement life insurance assets were trans-
ferred to the CBVEBA trusts. The fair value of plan assets
restricted to the payment of life insurance benefits only
were $265 and $245 at December 31, 1996 and 1995. At
December 31, 1996 and 1995, the accrued life insurance
benefits included in the accrued postretirement benefit
obligation were $107 and $91.
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The assumed medical cost trend rate in 1997 is 8%,
decreasing gradually to 5.3% in 2002, prior to adjust 1t
for cost-sharing provisions of the plan for active and
certain recently retired employees. The assumed dental -
cost trend rate in 1997 is 6.25%, reducing to 3.0% in 200%.
Raising the annual medical and dental cost trend rates
by one percentage point increases the APBO as of
December 31, 1996 by $135 and increases the
aggregate service and interest cost components of the net
periodic postretirement benefit cost for the year ended
December 31, 1996 by approximately $186. Significant
assumptions for the discount rate, long-term rate of
return on plan assets and composite rate of compensatic
increase used in developing the APBO were the same
as those used in developing the pension information.

~ Empioyee Stock Ownership Plans SBC maintains
contributory savings plans which cover substantially
all employees. Under the savings plans, SBC matches
a stated percentage of eligible employee contributions, -
subject to a specified ceiling.

SBC has two leveraged Empioyee Stock Ownership
Plans (ESOPs) as part of the existing savings plans. The
ESOPs were funded with notes issued by the savings
plans, the proceeds of which were used to purchase
shares of SBC’s common stock in the open market = -
notes are unconditionally guaranteed by $BC and v._. t
repaid with SBC contributions to the savings plans, divi-
dends paid on SBC shares and interest earned on funds
held by the ESOPs.

SBC’s match of employee confributions to the savings
plans is fulfilled with shares of stock allocated from the
ESOPs and with purchases of SBC’s stock int the open
market. Benefit cost is based on a combination of the
contributions to the savings plans and the cost of shares
allocated to participating employees’ accounts. Both
benefit cost and interest expense on the notes are
reduced by dividends on SBC's shares held by the
ESOPs and interest earned on the ESOPs’ funds.

Information related to the ESOPs and the savings
plans is summarized below:

1996 1995 &

Banefit expense—nst of dividends and

interest incoma §23 £23 $
Interast expense—net of dividends and

interest Incoma 1 14 X
Net ESOP expanse 34 37 ¢
Additional savings plansg stock purcitases - -
Total expense $34 $37 L
Company contributions for £50Ps $37 $40 &
Dividends and interest income for debt service  $29 $2 s




SBC shares held by the ESOPs are summarized as
follows at December 31:

1996 1995
Unailocated 6,401,613 7,922,909
Committed to be allocated 13,554 25,353
Allacated to participants 11,350,052 10,183,423
Totat ; 17,765,219 18,131,695

10. Stock Option Plans

Various SBC plans authorize the issuance of stock
options to senior and other management employees to
purchase up to 69 million shares of SBC common stock,
of which 32 million have been issued. Options issued
through December 31, 1996 carry exercise prices equal
to the market price of the stock at the date of grant and
have maximum terms ranging from five to ten vears.
Depending upon the plan, vesting of options occurs one
to three years from the date of grant.

In 1996 SBC elected to continue measuring compensa-
tion cost for these plans using the intrinsic value based
method of accounting prescribed in the Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting for
Stock Based Compensation” (FAS 123). Accordingly, no
compensation cost has been recognized for the stock
option plans. Had compensation cost for stock option pians
been recognized using the fair value based method of
" accounting at the date of grant for awards in 1996 and 1995
as defined by FAS 123, SBC's net income (loss) would have
‘been $2,075 and $(939) and net income (loss) per share
would have been $3.42 and $(1.54).

For purposes of these pro forma disclosures, the esti-
mated fair value of the options granted after 1994 is
amortized to expense over the options’ vesting period.
Because most employee options vest over a two to three
year period, these disclosures will not be indicative of
future pro forma amounts until the FAS 123 rules are

applied to all outstanding non-vested awards. The fair
value for these options was estimated at the date of grant,
using a Black-Scholes option pricing model with the
following weighted-average assumptions used for grants
in 1996 and 1995: risk-free interest rate of 6.37% and
6.31%; dividend yield of 3.45% and 3.45%; expected
velatility factor of 16% and 18%; and expected option life
of 4.5 and 4.6 years.

Information related to options is summarized helow:
Weighted

Number of  Average Exercise
Optians Price Per Option

Qutstanding at December 31, 1993
(2,297,538 exercisabie) 9,794,665 $36.30
Granted 5,226,551 41.71
Exercised (386,331) 31.34
Forfeited/Expired (498,315) 38.09

Qutstanding at December 31, 1994
(5,352,273 exercisable} 14,136,570 38.37
Granted 8,101,794 4719
Exercised {1,413,276) 34.79
Forfeited/Expired (362.891) 42.11

Qutstanding at December 31, 1995
(8,539,081 exercisable) 20,462,397 42,04
Granted 8,287 849 50.09
Exercised (816,179) 37.26
Forteited/Expired {445,448) 45.89

Outstanding at December 31, 1896

(11,962,332 exarcisable) 27,488,619 §44.55

Information related to options outstanding at
December 31, 1996:

Exercise Price Range

$27.00-39.99 $40.00-44.98 $45.00-57.38

Numnbser of options:
Outstanding 3,283,091 8,500,278 15,705,250
Exarcisable 3,280,699 7,166,462 1,575,174
Waighted average exercise price:
Qutstanding $32.73 $41.23 $48.81
Exercisable $32.72 $41.12 $ 4736
Weighted average remaining
contractual life 5.6 years 7.2 years 6.2 years

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of each

option granted during the year was $8.32 for 1996
and $8.45 for 1995.

11. Shareowners’ Equity

Share Repurchases From time to time, SBC has repur-
chased shares of common stock for distribution, to offset
shares distributed through its employee benefit plans and
SBC'’s Dividend Reinvestment Plan, in connection with
certain acquisitions or for general purposes. In January
1997, the Board of Directors of SBC (Board) rescinded alt
authorizations to repurchase common stock.

Guaranteed Obligations of Employee Stock
Ownership Plans SBC’s guarantee of the ESOPs’ notes
issued by the savings plans (see Note 9) is presented as a
reduction to shareowners’ equity and an increase in long-
term debt. The amount of debt guaranteed decreases as the
notes are repaid. ,

Shareowners’ Rights Plan The Shareowners’ Rights
Plan (Plan) becomes operative in certain events involving
the acquisition of 20% or more of SBC's common stock by
any person or group in a transaction not approved by the
Board, or the designation by the Board of a person or

il




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, continued

Dallars in miikons except per sharg amounts

group owning more than 10% of the outstanding stock as
an adverse persan, as provided in the Plan. Upon the
occurrence of these events, each right, unless redeemed
by the Board, generally entitles the holder (other than the
holder triggering the right) to purchase an amount of
common stock of SBC (or, in certain circumstances, of the
potential acquiror) having a value equal to two times the
exercise price of $160. The rights expire in January 1999.
After giving effect to a stock split in May 1993, effected in
the form of a stock dividend, each share of common stock
represents one-hailf of a right.

The rights have certain antitakeover effects. The
rights will cause substantial dilution to a person or group
that attempts to acquire SBC on terms not approved hy
the Board, B

The rights should not intérfere with any merger or
other business combination approved by the Board since
the rights may be redeemed.

12, Acquisitions and Dispositions

In October 1995, SBC combined its United Kingdom
cable television operations with those of TeleWest
Communicaticens, P.L.C., a publicly heid joint venture
between Telecommunications, [nc. and U S WEST, Inc.
The resulting entity, TeleWest PL.C. (TeleWest), is the
largest cable television operator in the United Kingdom.
SBC owns approximately 15% of the new entity and
accounts for its investrnent using the cost method of
accounting. Restrictions expiring over the next four years
exist on the sale of SBC’s interest in TeleWest. SBC
recorded an after-tax gain of $111 associated with the
combination. .

During 1994, SBC purchased two cable television sys-
tems located in Montgomery County, Maryland, and
Arlington County, Virginia, for $650. Also in 1994, SBC
acquired the domestic wireless business of Associated
Communications Corporation (Associated) for $705,
including wireless systems in Buffalo, Rochester, Albany
and Glens Falls, New York, and in two separate transac-
tions purchased smaller wireless systems in Syracuse,
Utica and Ithaca, New York, which are adjacent to the
Associated properties. '

[n October 1994, SBC formed a strategic alliance with
Compagnie Génerale des Eaux (CGE), a French diversi-
fied public company. Through this alliance, SBC acquired
an indirect 10% ownership of Société Francaise du
Radiotelephone S.A. (SFR), a nationwide cellular company
in France, and minority ownership interests in other
communications businesses controlled by CGE, and CGE
obtained an effective 10% interest in SBC’s wireless oper-
ations in Washington, D.C.-Baitimore and swrounding

rural markets. SBC and CGE both made contributions

to the alliance. SBC's effective contribution was $376.
This investment is accounted for under the equity method
of accounting.

In addition to payments shown in the Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows, the 1994 acquisitions were also
financed through the issuance of 16 million new and irea-
sury shares, valued at approximately $660, and the
issuance of approximately $360 of long-term debt. All of
the acquisitions were accounted for under the purchase
method of accounting. The purchase prices in excess of
the underlying fair value of identifiable net assets
acquired are being amortized over pertods not to exceed
40 years. Results of operations of the properties acquired
have been included in the consolidated financial state-
ments from their respective dates of acquisition.

The above developments did not have a significant
impact on consolidated results of operations for 1995 and
1994, nor would they had they occurred on January 1 of
the respective periods.

13, Additional Financial information

____ Decemoer 31,
Balanca Shests 1848 1095
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities .
Accounts payable $1,118 $1.
Accrued taxes 799 438 -
Advance billing and customer deposits 351 333
Compensated future absences 211 199
Accrued interast 144 143
Accrued payroll 183 17
Other 1,053 868
Total $3,838 $3.125
Stataments of Income 19498 1085 1994
Interest expanse incyrred $403 $520 $480
Capitalized intarest (21} (5) ~
Total intergst expense $472 $515 $480 .
Allowance far funds used
during construction - i §$ 19
Statements of Cash Flows 1995 199§ 1994
Cash paid during the year for:
interest $469 $504 $481
Incoms taxes $830 $690 $928

No customer accounted for more than 10% of consoli-
dated revenues in 1996 or 1995. Approximately 10% of
SBC’s consolidated revenues in 1994 were from services

- provided to AT&T Corp. No other customer accounted for

more than 10% of consolidated revenues in 1994,

Three subsidiaries of SBC have negotiated contract~
with the Communications Workers of America (CW4,
none of which is subject to renegotiation in 1997.
Approximately 67% of SBC’s empioyees are represented
by the CWA.
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14. Quarterly Financial Information {Unaudited)

Total Earnings per )
Calendar Operating Operating Net Income Common Stock Price
Quarter Reverues ingome (Loss) Sharg High Low Close
1996
First § 3197 $ 80¢ $ 464 $ 076 $60.250 $48.750 $52.625
Sacond 3333 845 501 0.82 50,750 46.250 49.250
Third 3,600 880 593 0.97 51.000 46.000 48125
Fourth 3,768 931 543 4.90 55.250 47.000 51.875
Annual $13,898 $3,556 32,501 $ .46
1998
First $ 2910 § 708 § 395 $ 0565 $43.875 $39.625 $42.000
Second 3.025 754 442 0.73 47.87% 41.625 47.625
Third"! 3,282 883 {2,285) (3.75) 55,125 45,500 55.000
Fourth!?) 3,443 692 518 0.85 58.500 53.125 57.250
Annuail! $12,670 §3.037 § (930) $ (1.53)

{1} Net Loss and Earnings per Commion Share reflact an axtraordinary loss of $2,818, or 34.63 per share, from discontinuance of ragulatory accounting.

(2) Operating Income reflects $139 in sslling, general and administrative axpenses associated with a strategic realignment of functions. Thass expenses inctude
postemployment benefits for approximatsiy 2,400 employees arising from the consolidation of operations within the {ive-state area, streamlining suppert ang
administrative functions and integrating financial systems.

Net income and Earnings par Comman Share reflect after-tax charges of 88 for the strategic realignment of functions and $11 for refinancing of debt and an
after-tax gain of $111 from the merger of SBC's United Kingdom cable teievision operations into TeleWast. The nat of these transactions was $12, or $0.02

par share,
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Report of Management

The consolidated financial statemnents have heen prepared
in conformity with generally accepted accounting princi-
ples. The integrity and objectivity of the data in these
financial statements, including estimates and judgments
relating to matters not concluded by year end, are the
responsibility of management, as is ail other information
inchuded in the Annual Report, unless otherwise indicated,

The financial statements of SBC Communications nc.
(SBC) have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, indepen-
dent auditors. Management has made available to Ernst &
Young LLP all of SBC’s financial records and related data,
as well as the minutes of shareowners' and directors’
meetings. Furthermore, management beiieves that ail
representations made 1o Ernst & Young LLP during its.
audit were valid and appropriate.

Management has established and maintains a system
- of internal accounting controls that provides reasonable
assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the finan-
cial statements, the protection of assets from unauthorized
use or disposition and the prevention and detection of
fraudulent financial reporting. The concept of reasonable
assurance recognizes that the costs of an internal
accounting controls system should not exceed, in man-
agement’s judgment, the benefits to be derived.

Management also seeks to ensure the objectivity and
integrity of its financial data by the careful selection of
its managers, by organizational arrangements that pro-
vide an appropriate division of responsibility and by
communication programs aimed at ensuring that its
policies, standards and manageria} authorities are
understood throughout the organization. Management
continually monitors the system of internal accounting
controls for compliance. SBC maintains an internal
auditing program that independently assesses the effec-
tiveness of the internal accounting controis and recom-
mends improvements thereto,

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, which
consists of six directors who are not employees, meets peri-
odically with management, the internai auditors and the
independent auditors to review the manner in which they
are performing their responsibilities and to discuss audit-
ing, internal accounting controls and financial reporting
matters. Both the internal auditors and the independent
auditors periodically meet alone with the Audit Committee
and have access to the Audit Committee at any time.

Sk & N itor s |

Edward E. Whitacre Jr.
Chairman ot the Board and Chief Executive Otficer

Donald B, Klernan
 Banine Viea Prasident. Treasurer and Chisf Financial Qfficer

Report of Independent Auditors

The Board of Directors and Shareowners
SBC Communications Inc,

We have audited the accompanying censolidated
balance sheets of SBC Communications Inc. (SBC) as

of December 31, 1996 and 1995, and the related consoli-
dated statements of income, shareowners’ equity and
cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 1996, These financial statements
are the responsibility of SBC’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements hased on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examin-
ing, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disciosures in the financial statements. An audit aiso
includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial state-
ments referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the consclidated financial pesition of SBC
Communications Inc. at December 31, 1996 and 1995,
and the consolidated results of its operations and its
cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 1996, in conformity with gener-
ally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, SBC discontinued its application of Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 71, “Accounting for -
the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation” in 1995,

Ws‘ MLLP

San Antonio, Texas
February 14, 1997




Executives of SBC and its Subsidiaries

SBC Senior Executives

Edward E. YWhitacre Jr., 75,
chairman of the board
and chief executive officer.

Rovce 5. Caldwell, 58,
president, Southwestern
Beil Cperations.

James W, Callaway, 50,
senior vice president-

strategic planning,

Cassandra C. Carr, 52,
senior vice president-

human resources.

William E. Dreyer, 59,

senior executive vice president-
external affairs.

James D. EHis, 53,
senior executive vice president
and general counsel.

Charles E. Foster, 60,
president, SBC Operations.

James S, Kahan, #9,
senior vice president-
corporate development.

Donald E. Kiernan, je,
senior vice president, treasurer
and chief financial officer.

Linda 5. Mills, 45,
senior vice president-
corporate comrmunications.

Other Executives

Thomas M. Barry, 52,
senior vice president-federal

relations, SBC Telecommunications.

Liam $. Coonan, 61,
senior vice president and
assistant general counsel.

Patricia Diaz Dennis, 56,
senior vice president and assistant
general counsel-regulation and law.

Pat F. Parker, 49,
president, SBC Center
for Learning,

Alfred G. Richter Jr., 45,
senior vice president and
assistant general counsel.

A. Dale Robertson. 4,
senior vice president-FCC,
SBC Telecommunications.

Charies J. Roesslein, 48,
vice president-strategic planning.

Judith M. Sahm, 51,
vice president and secretary
of the Corporation.

Van H. Taylor, 48,
president and chief executive
officer, Southwestern Bell
Technology Resources and
Southwestern Bell
Communications Services.

$BC's Five-stats Businesses

Stephen M, Carter, 43,

vice president-general manager
(special markets), Southwestern
Bell Telephone.

Lea Ann Champion, 3,

vice president-general manager
(St Louis}, Southwestern Bell
Telephone,

David A. Cole, 48,
president (Texas), Southwesterm
Bell Telephone.

Durwari D. Dupre, 3,

vice president and associate
general counsel-federal external
affairs, Southwestern Bell
Telephone,

J. Cliff Eason, 49,

president and chief executive
officer, Southwestern Bell
Communications.

Melanie S. Fannin, 46,
president (Kansas), Southwestern
Bell Telephone.

James D. Gallemore. 45,
vice president-marketing,
Southwestern: Bell
Communications.

R. McRae Geschwind, 55,
president and chief executive officer,
Southwestern Bell Yeliow Pages.

Michael N. Gilliamn, 44,

vice presideni-general manager
(Arkansas), Southwestern Bell
Tetephone.

Edward L. Glotzbach, 48,

president and chief executive
officer, SBC Services.

Karen Jennings, 46,
president (Missouri),
Southwestern Bell Telephone.

Ronald M. Jennings, JJ,

vice president-general manager-
operator services & public
comununications, Southwestern
Bell Telephone.

Michael Kaufman, J1,

vice president-general manager
{Central/West Texas),
Southwestern Bell Telephone.

Richard G. Lindner, 42,

vice president and chief financial
officer, Southwestern Bell
Telephone.

David R. Lopez, 45,
president {Oklahomay,
Southwestern Bell Telephone.

Robert M. Lynch, 46,

vice president and general counsel-
external affairs, Southwestern Bell
Telephone.

Mary T. Manning, 46,
president and chiefl executive
officer, Southwestern Bell Wireless.

Norma Martinez, 40,

vice president-diversity marketing,
Southwestern Bell
Communicatiens.

Wayne Masters, j1,
vice president-customer services,
Southwestern Bell Telephone.

Tom E. Morgan, jo.

vice president-general manager
{Dallas/Fort Worth), Southwestern
Bell Telephone.

Edward A. Mueller, 9,
president and chief executive
officer, Southwestern Bell
Telephene.

T. Michael Paynie, 46,

vice president, general counsel-
operations and secretary,
Southwestern Bell Telephone.

James B. Shelley, 43,
president {Arkansas),
Southwestern Beil Telephone.

I. Michael Turner, 47,

vice president-general manager
(Houstorn/Southeast Texas),
Southwestern Bell Telephone.

Richard J. Vehige, 51,
vice president-procurement
services, Southwestern Bell
Telephone,

Joe W. Walkoviak, 49,

senior vice president-network,
Southwestern Bell
Communications.

Horace Wilkins Jr., 46,

vice president-general manager
(South Texas), Southwestern Beil
Telephone,

Rayford Wilkins Jr., 47,

vice president-general manager
{Kansas City), Southwestern Betl
Telephone.

SBC’s National and
International Businesses

Wayne Alexander. 48,
president, SBC Internationai {Chile).

John H. Atterbury III. 48,
president and chief executive
officer, SBC International
Operalions.

Richard C. Dietz. J0,
president, SBCI Mexico, SBC
[nternational.

Drew A. Roy, j0,

executive vice president and

chief operating officer,
Southwestern Bell Mobile Svstems.

Stanley T. Sigman, 49,
president and chief executive officer,
Southwestern Beli Mobile Systems.

k]




SBC Board of Directors

Edward E. Whitacre Jr., 559
Chairman of the Board

and Chief Executive Officer
S8C Communications Inc.
San Antonio, Texas
SBC Director since October 1988
Background: Telecommunjeations

e
'

,

£

Clarence C. Barksdale, s4"¥
Vice Chairman, Board of Trustees
Washington University

St Louis, Missouri

SBC Director since October 1983
SWBT Director 1982-1083
Background: Banking

James F. Barnes, 43'"?
Chairman of the Board, President
and Chief Executive Officer

MAPCO Ine, .
Tuisa, Oklahoma
SBC Director:since Noveruber 1990
Baz*gmuzzd_’ig_iversiﬁed energy

e

Jack 8. Blanton. 9t

Chairman

Houston Endowment, Ine.

President and Chief Executive Officer
£ddy Refining Company

Houston, Texas

S8C Director since October 1983
SWBT Director 1977-1985

Background: Petroleum products

R

3 F

. August A. Busch [il, 9% *9

Chairman of the Board and President

Anheuser-Busch Companies, [nc.

St. Louds, Missouri

SBC Director since October {583

SWBT Director 1980-1983

Background: Brewing, family
entertainment, ransportation,
manufacturer of aluminum
beverage conlainers

Ruben R. Cardenas, 66" 3
Partner

Cardenas, Whitis & Stephen, L.L.E.
McAllen, Texas

SBC Director since October {983
SWBT Director 1975-1983
Background: Law

Martin K. Eby Jr., 6212

Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer and
President

The Eby Corporation

Wichita, Kansas

5BC Director since June 1592

Background; General building
construction

Tom €. Frost, 9%

Senior Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer

Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc.

San Antonjo, Texas

SBC Director since October 1983

SWHBT Director {974-1983

Background: Banking

Jess T. Hay, 668

Chairman

Texas Foundation for Higher
Education

HCB Enterprises lnic

Dallas, Texas

S8C Director since April 1986

Background: Financial services

Admiral Bobby R. Inman, 659
United States Navy, Retired
Austin, Texas

$8C Director since March 1985
Background: Private investment

Charles F. Knight, 1%+
Chajrman, President and
Chief Executive Officer
Emerson Electric Co.
St. Louis, Missouri
SBC Director since October {983
SWBT Director 1974-1983
Background: Electrical
manufacturing

Dr. Haskell M. Monroe Jr., 65%%

Professor of History

The University of Missouri-Colurmbia

Columbia, Missouri

SBC Director since October 1983

SWBT Director 1982-1983

Background: Education,
administration

=035

Ing. Carlos Slim Hely, j7
Chairman of the Board
Grupo Carso, 3.4, de C.V.
Mexico City, Mexico !
8BC Director since September 1993
Background: Telecommunications, i
consumer goods, automobile parts, .. ,
construction, retailing -

-~ 4

Patricia P. Upton, 58"

President and Chief Executive-Officer

Aromatique, Inc. g

Heber Springs, Arkansas '

SBC Director since June (9935

Background: Decorative home
fragrances

Committees of the Board:
(1) Audit |
(2) Corporate Development :
(3) Corporate Public Policy
and Environmental Affairs
(4) Erecutive
(35) FinancerPension
(6) Human Resources




Shareowner Information

Toll-Free Stock Trading Praduct For help with your
Sharecowner Hotline Information Information shareowner account and
infarmation on SBC's stock
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SBC Communications Ine.

175 E. Houston

PO, Box 2933

San Antonio, Texas 78299-2933
210-821-4105
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Excellent

: Position.
MarkeR :

SBC has access to
maore than 90 million
customers in seven
of the top 10 U.S.
markets and more

- than 100 million
Potential customers

) Customer internationaily. 38,933
R Reach /

(..

90

i

International

(in millions)

Strong
Core Businesses,

Between 1993 and
1997, 8BC increased its
total number of access
lines and wireless
cusiomers nearly 29%.

rea

st . 21.22%

Total SBC Access
Lines and Wireless

"t Customers
" {in thousands)

18.92% |

g Qutstanding

1 . E Return.
| Executllil /.
' §' E SBC’s total annual

: S 8 compounded shareowner

[ p b return since divestiture
- o v ’

is one of the strongest

— Total Annuai in the industry.

E{ [ Compounded
LS g | Return’, 1984-1997

\\.//' {in percent) P 2ssumes quartarly
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SBC MARKETS

SBC BUSINESSES

SBC EXECUTI|ION

Dramatic Industry Growth.

Erpanding opportunities, ... ... Pageé

Dynamic Domestic Markets.

Positioning ourseives in top U.8. markets.. ..Page7

International Growth Opportunities.

Building our global base. ........................... Page &

awertui distwor.

S!reﬁgzhening our backbone. ...............

Yerticai Services Goals.

. Page 1!

Growing revenues with proven products. ...Page 12

‘Viretess Strenatn.

Building customers in key markets. ... Page 13

The Long Distance Frorential.

Ready to seize the opportunity. ... .. Page 3

Merger Value.
Gaining real benefits,

Customer Service.

Settingusapart. ... Page 16

Locai Competition.

Meet us in the marketplace. Now. ...

..Page 17
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Financial Information (doilars in millions) 1997 1996 Change

Reported earnings - $ 1,474 % 3,189 (53.8)% =
1997 Special charges $ 1,890 $ —_ — .
Adjusted earnings $ 3364 $ 318  55% ]
Adiusted earnings exclude $1.9 billion of one-time charges principally for strategic decisions related to the L -
erger of SBC and Pacific Telesis, as described on Page 19. — x
Per Basic Share of Common Stock 1997 1996 Change '
Adjusted earnings $ 1.84 $ 173 6.4% J jﬂ
Dividend ¢ 895 § 86 41%

Year-end stock price © % 36625 § 25938 41.2% o

{
|

Per basic share amounts restated for the two-for-one stock split, as described on Page 44.

DEAR FELLOW INVESTOR: (-

The principle that guides our business
more than any other is a commitment to creating

Shareowner value. This guiding principle served us well in navigating U

the most eventful — and perhaps the most important — year in SBC Communications’ history

g
as a publicly traded company. Nineteen-ninety-seven provided more challenges than some -~

!
companies face in a decade. But through it all, SBC delivered superior results for our owners. L.

Moreover, SBC's commitment to shareowner value enabled us to make 1997 a solid foundation -

for success in 1998 and for many years to come. In the process, we validated our simple but effective

—

formula for creating Great Value for our shareowners. For SBC, Great Value is the sum of br"

-
1
o
|

Great Markets, Great Businesses and Creat Execution.

FPAGE 2



1 expected. v merger with
Puacifie Telesis slowed net

fncome growth. interrmpling
a five-vear patiern of double-

digit earnings tcreases, But

Y

thanks to swift integration
nf the meraed companies aid
investryents in key mearkees
und businesses. we tarzet

c refurn to double-dizit

ectrningzs groweth by (9948,

fumpleting the Pucitie Tvlesis Viepeer: | This is the first

comprehensive report to shareowners since our merger with
Pacific Telesis, and it will show that SBC smoothly and
successfully completed one of the largest mergers in history, We
moved quickly to develop some 250 initiatives focused on vaiue
creation -— identifying new revenue opportunities, achieving
economies of scale, eliminating duplication and adopting best
practices. Today's SBC has the opportunity to realize significant
benefits created by the merger. Those potential benefits include
$1.2 billion in annual expense savings and $500 million in
incremental annual revenue by the year 2000.

We now have the plans and assets in place to capture the
full benefits of the new SBC's increased marketing strength; of
its greater access to Mexican and Asian markets; of the huge
untapped potential we see in California for sales of vertical
services, such as Caller ID; and of the dynamic growth we expect
in our two largest markets in the United States — California and
Texas. These two states are expected to add 8.5 million new
residents and 4.4 million new jobs over the next decade, and
account for 37 percent of all U.S. population growth over the

next three decades. They already account

/

This report | will detail that formula, and

how we have followed it to deliver the best

DACHE ] L

value to you as an owner of the company. CELARONE

( 55 »)

(Jjg Sontisysieen sl

for a quarter of all high-tech jabs in the
United States, and California alone can
lay claim to 35 percent of worldwide

Internet traffic. Clearly, we are going
forward from a paosition of great strength,
A similar strategy drives our proposed
merger with Southern New England

Others have noticed. Your company is now
ranked as the world's "“most admired”
telecommunications company in Fortune magazine's survey of
our industry’s executives, directors and financial analysts. Not
bad for a company that is oniy beginning to seize some of its
most promising opportunities. Viewed from that perspective,
1997 was just a warm-up for some great years ahead. We did
not digress from our strategy of growth in networked businesses,
growth in wireless businesses and growth through participation
in high-potential international markets. On the contrary, we
positioned SBC even more strongly to defiver on that strategy.

Our strategy now is more important than ever. Increased
competition and deregulation worldwide create a tough
enviranment for those unfamiliar with how to compete success-
fully. But the telecommunications industry offers tremendous
potential for companies, such as SBC, that know how to identify
and seize opportunities.

There's much room for optimism at SBC. and that optimism

comes from the way SBC and its people met the challenges
of 1997

LEDWARD E.

WHITACRE |R.

Telecommunications, announced
in early January: Seize the tremendous
opportunities in wireline and wireless businesses.

{rowing 11 'ireless.lAlthough launching wireless Personal

Communications Services (PCS) in California and Nevada
incurred heavy expenses, it also generated cutstanding results.
The original goal was to end the year with 250,000 subscribers.
A very strong customer response led us to push that goal to
325,000, and by year's end we had nearly 340,000 subscribers.
A similarly strong push in Southwestern Bell's five states
and in our Cellular One markets brought the net total of new
wireless subscribers during 1997 to more than 1 million.
SBC's total wireless customers now number 5.5 million, and
we are among the leaders in the industry with a 12.2 percent
penetration in our non-PCS network-based markets. We
expanded our subscriber base by offering the services
customers have told us they want, such as prepaid wireless
and digital service, and by continuing to emphasize our larger
calling areas, superior distribution network and unmatched
customer service. We are under increasing pressure from
competitors, but in the wireless market competition really
seems to drive overall demand.

PAGE 3




Pursiny Lone Distunce. | Providing long distance service within
our seven-state territory continues to be a primary objective.
Through our wireless subsidiaries, we already serve 3.6 million

long distance customers. They dlearly want to buy all their service
from one company. and we want to give them that choice. Getting
there, however, has proven more difficult and costly than anyone
reasonably expected.

Last year in Oklahoma, SBC became the first Bell company to
complete the entire process of applying to the FCC for permission
to offer interstate long distance service. That application, like
every Bell company application to follow, was rejected by federi
regulators. Nevertheless, SBC befieves we have met our obligations
under the 1996 Telecommunications Act and moved aggressively
to open our local markets. We are meeting new competitors in
the marketplace; by year's end, SBC had processed more than a
million service orders for competitors who are reselling our local
service or using our network to provide service to their customers.

Additionally, SBC pursued — and continues to pursue — every
opportunity to win regulatory relief and create a level playing field for
all competitors. We have challenged in federal court the FCC's
interpretation of the law. and the courts have upheld our position on
some key issues. We have contested as unconstitutional that portion
of the Telecommunications Act which bars SBC from offering long .
distance service. We will keep knocking on the long distance door
until it opens. And when it does, we will finally see the significant new
competition that will generate new business opportunities and
customer benefits.

Given these and other challenges we faced in 1997, it is fair to
ask, how did we do on behalf of our shareowners?

Earnings. | As expected, the merger with Pacific Telesis slowed
net income growth, interrupting a five-year pattem of double-digit
increases. Thanks to our swift implementation of the merger, we
intend it to be a brief interruption. Overall it was a solid year for
earnings considering the costs of completing the merger and
rolling out PCS wireless service. We incurred $1.9 billion in special
charges during 1997, including the effects of strategic decisions
resulting from a comprehensive operations review of the merged
company. By 2000, the benefits of the merger should add
$1 billion a year in additional net income, praviding the flexibility
to seize opportunities as they arise. Our goal is to return to
daouble-digit earnings growth in 1998,

Revenues. ] Qur revenue growth in 1997 was attributabie to very
strong performance in our core businesses, reflecting solid
growth in access lines, vertical services, data services and
wireless subscribers, including PCS. With a focus on growing
vertical services and Caller ID in California, we're targeting
substantial revenue growth.

PAGE #

.
Tatad Return on fnresement. | We realized a one-year total retum

of 45.49 percent. Since divestiture in 1984, SBC's total annual
compounded return has been 21.22 percent, versus a combined
18.92 percent by our telecommunications peers.

As | said at the outset, our ability to extend that kind of
performance well into the future is based on a simple formula
...three slements that add up to Great Value for our shareowners.

Our Muarkets: lHowever you define “market” — by geagraphy,
by customer group, or any other way — SBC is in the right

places at precisely the right time. Worldwide demand for
telecommunications setvices continues to grow at a record pace.
Here and abroad, SBC is positioned to meet that demand...with
a potential domestic customer base of 90 million and the ability
to serve more than three times that many customers through fast-
growing overseas operations in countries such as South Africa,
France and Mexico.

(Jur Businesses:| SBC operates strong, growing businesses under

some of the most respected brand names in our industry —
Southwestern Bell, Pacific Bell, Nevada Bell and Cellular One.
Across all of those brands, we continue to see growth in access lines,

vertical services, wireless and data services. And as the nation moves

closer to a fully competitive marketplace, we see more and more
potential to expand into exciting new businesses.

Qur Execution: jThe best markets and businesses in the worla
are not worth much without managers who develap clear,
warkable plans, then work with a talented team of dedicated
employees to execute those plans. | believe SBC has the finest
people in the industry today, and they work tirelessly — one day

at a time, one customer at a time — to ensure that our markets and -

businesses really do add up to great shareowner value.
Creating that value is where SBC's success begins and ends.

Your investment in SBC is a vote of confidence and we — managers,

employees and the Board of Directors — are obligated to respond
with a healthy return. We know you look to SBC for solid growth
and entrust us with helping you meet important goals, like funding
education or retirement plans. We took significant steps to eam
that confidence and trust in 1997, You have my absolute
commitment that we will strive to continue to eam your support
in the years ahead.

?Mz M@w}.

Edward E. Whitacre Jr., Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
February 20, 1998
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> The telecommunications ndustry is

B.TI;‘plOdmg, and SBC is prepared to take advantage of the opportunities

this growing marketplace presents. Our merger with Pacifi
to some of the hottest markets in the industry. —— Nearly a quarter of the Fortune 500

companies are headquartered in our seven states of Arkansas, California, Kansas, Missouri,

Nevada, Oklahoma and Texas. And we're in key wireless markets outside our seven states,

including Boston, Chicago, central lllinois, upstate New York and Washington, D.C. —~

Domestically and internationally, our operations are in large and growing markets with

increasing demand for telecommunications services. We are proud to be in markets where our

customer relationships span decades.

B UNITED STATES ™
Los Angeles
Chicago National Reach.
Baltimore/Washington, D.C. Serving seven
5an Francisco/Qakland/San |ose of the top 10
Boston (.8, markets
Dallas/Ft. Worth
Houston ‘)
CHILE ™
CHINA Global Reach.
FRANCE .
ISRAEL Serving areas
MEXICQ

twith more than
SOUTH AFRICA ﬁ 300 mitlion
SOUTH KOREA

EROENQHOED

internationaily
TAIWAN
UNITED KINGDOM
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SBC is positioned in

the right places at the

right time to take

advantage of this growth.

DYNAMIC DOMESTIC MARKETS

With the Pacific Telesis merger,

SBC created one of the strongest market combinations in the industry.

By 2000. the global telecommunications market
is expected to produce revenues of $1.3 trillion,
more than double its value in 1995. In the

United States, telecommunications now generates
one dollar of every eight in the gross domestic
product, more than the auto, food or construction
industries create.

This dramatic growth can be attributed in part
to high-quality, dependable telephone service that
has inspired customers’ trust. SBC has played a
major role in building that trust, and today offers
products and services under highly respected
brand names — Southwestern Bell, Pacific Bell,
Nevada Bell and Cellular One.

Customers are increasing their demand for
fax and data transmission, more lines for

convenience, wireless communications and

long distance, and they want to receive these
services from one company.

We are positioned to seize this growth
opportunity: Our seven-state region is one of the
strongest market combinations in the industry.

Texas and California have the largest
populations and some of the fastest growth in
the country. Together, they are expected to add
8.5 million residents over the next decade and to
account for 37 percent of all U.S. population
growth in the next 30 years. Our markets are also
opening to competition for services such as long
distance. This combination is creating a much
bigger opportunity — one that SBC is positioned
to seize.

Because the economies in our markets are

strong, customers have mare disposable income to

PAGE 7




Borderless Service

Studies have shown
that nearly 0 percent
of U.S. calls to Mexico
originate in SBC's

seven-stale reglon.

buy telecommunications services. While the U.S.
economy is expected to grow at a compounded
annual rate of 2.0 percent over the next five
years, California and Texas are anticipated to
expand gross state product by 3.3 percent and
2.8 percent, respectively.

Job growth is also strong, which is a leading
indicator of demand for telecommunications
services, especially in markets receptive to new
technology. Over the next 10 years, California and
Texas are expected to add 4.4 million new jobs.

These states also are home to 25 percent

of the nation’s high-technology jobs. High-tech

environments tend to be more open to data
products, which are growing faster than voice
products, and present impressive opportunities
for SBC to increase vertical services and data
product offerings.

INTERNATIONAL OPPORTUNITIES

We estimate the growth rate for Internet and .
data use at seven times the annual increase for
voice transmissions. California aione is home
to more than one-third of names registered on
the worldwide web.

We are also well positioned in wireless
operations. We provide service in some
of the most attractive markets beyond our
seven states, including Chicago, central lilinois,
Boston, upstate New York, Baltimore and
Washington, D.C.

Our proposed merger with Southern New

England Telecommunications provides us an even

stronger foothold in the Northeast as we enter
Connecticut — our eighth state for wireline
services — to take advantage of wireless and
other businesses that geographically compiement
our operations there.

Over the past 10 years, we have

built an international portfolio that includes operations in 10 countries

on five continents.

We invest where we find the best prospects of
building value for SBC shareowners. We look for
strong partners, opportunities that allow us to
emphasize our role in operations, and the
potential to win long-term customers. In a little
over a decade, SBC has built an international
portfolio on initial investments of about $3 billion,
of which $1 billion was invested in 1997 alone.

In addition to making direct investments,
we also benefit from increasing international
telecommunications traffic. Studies have shown
that nearly 50 percent of U.S. cails to Mexico
originate in SBC's seven-state region. Adding
incoming calls, SBC market areas participate in
60 percent of the telephone traffic between
the United States and Mexico. Where voice
transmissions exist, data will follow, so
opportunities build.

That growth complements two developments
driving new opportunities worldwide: Privatization,

PAGE 8

including the opening of European telecommuni-
cations markets, and the increasing demand for
wireless services. Each offers opportunities for SBC.

Following are highlights of our international
investments.

South Africa. Our initial investment in
cellular service formed the springboard for
greater involvement in South Africa’s
telecommunications market. We purchased an
18 percent stake in Telkom South Africa in early
1997, and it contributed positively to earnings in
the first year. Only about 10 percent of South
Africans have access to telephone service, 5o a
high priority is to expand the number of lines by
75 percent in the first five years. We can help
make that happen through a significant role in
day-to-day management of the company's
operations and an exclusive franchise for

five years.




* barine Middic Fosi. France. with its high per
capita income, offers long-term growth
opportunities for SBC. Our involvement is through
a consortium invested in Cegetel, a company that
provides communications service nationwide,
including cellular, long distance and local services.
In our first two years, Cegetel more than
quadrupled its ceflular subscribers and doubled its
market share to almost 40 percent. Although we
don't know how rapidly the market will evolve, if
the development of the French wireless market
continues to parallel that of the United States,
Cegetel could add mora than 9 miilion customers
in the next four years and achieve a market
penetration of almost 15 percent.

Like most of Europe, France and Switzerland are
opening their long distance markets to competition
in 1998. As that happens, we expect to offer focal,
long distance, data and wireless services in both
countries. In Switzerland we formed a consortium
(diAx) with six Swiss electric utilities in which we
have a management role. Switzerland has one of the
world's highest ratios of telephones per capita, and
revenues per access line are the highest of any
country in the world — 50 percent higher than in
the United States.

SBC also holds a 15 percent interest in
TeleWest, the largest cable/telephony entity in
the United Kingdom, and a 50 percent stake in
AUREC Croup, an Israeli cable television and
publishing company.

lsi¢. Asia’s telephone density is less than
one-half the world average, and the number
of wireless customers is only about the same as
in the United States. Our goal is to provide
telecommunications services where it makes
business and economic sense.

In South Korea, we are part of a consortium
designing, building and operating the country’s
second nationwide cellular network. Our
investment there gave us a foothold in Asia, which
we expanded in 1997 by winning a regional
license far cellular service in Taiwan.

Finally, one of the most exciting and strategic
Asian developments is the undersea fiberoptic cable
project linking China and the United States. SBC is
the only regional Bell company among 14 companies
participating worldwide. The China-U.5. network is
expected to be in service by 1999.

This investment secures significant future
long distance capacity to and from Asia.

With California's proximity to the Pacific Rim,
we are well positioned to take advantage of
this opportunity.

Latin lmerica. SBC owns a stake in
Teléfonas de México (Telmex), Mexico’s national
telecommunications company and the largest
telecommunications provider in Latin America.
Since 1990, when it was privatized, Telmex has
spent more than $12 billion modernizing its

infrastructure. For example, it has increased digital

exchanges from 29 percent to 90 percent.

Such quality improvements benefited Telmex
as its domestic market opened to competition
in 1997: Given a choice, most customers
remained loyal.

Telmex is positioned to benefit from the
improving Mexican economy and expanded
demand for telecommunications services as
well as its potential entry into the U.S. long |
distance market.

We also own over 44 percent of VTR,

a Chilean company offering a wide range of
telecommunications services.

PAGE 9
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—- strong markets become even more
L‘(LZU(Lb[B as we grow our businesses. — We carefuily invest in products

and services that keep us competitive and those that produce the highest return for our
shareowners. SBC's 1997 growth confirms that we are investing in the right businesses:

Access lines grew by 5 percent, additional lines increased 16 percent, wireless subscribers
grew 24 percent and integrated Service Digital Network (ISDN) lines grew 70 percent.

— Strong brands also make a difference. SBC operates under some of the most respected
names in the industry — Southwestern Bell, Pacific Bell, Nevada Bell and Cellular One —

which helps us compete for a greater share of the growing telecommunications market.

SETWORK BACKBONE \
Invested aver $ 23 billion in the
network over the last five years Growth Strategy.
scs Building
Invested in all-digjtal wireless : E pusinesses that
network in California and Nevada
heep us

VERTICAL SERVICES .

- Targeting $100 million in competiive
new revenue from California

Caller 1D effort by 2000 J

RELIABILITY \

Dependable dial tone 99.9 percent

; Strategic Resuits.
of the time rateg
[nresting in
WIRELESS LEADERSHIP -
« Grew wireless subscribers 24 percent N products and
REVENUE DRIVER services that
- Increased industry-leading Caller ID residentiai fave the hichest

penetration to 47 percent in Southwestern Bell
markets and grew it from 1.5 percent to
6.4 percent in California _/

reLn
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In 1997, our solid growth

confirms that SBC is

investing in and developing

the right businesses.

THE SBC ADVANTAGE| Sirong brand recognition and operating experience

truly set us apart from competitors.

Our customers tell us they want one-stop
shopping — all telecommunications services,
including local, long distance, data and wireless
services — from one provider. We are working to
be their provider of choice.

The merger with Pacific Telesis brought
together critical skills for successful growth in many
areas. Southwestern Bell brings wireless expertise,
industry-leading marketing abilities and financiat
discipline, while Pacific Bell offers extensive
experience in data networks, Internet development
and expense control.

Networks are key to our businesses, and over
the past five years, SBC has invested more than

$23 billion to keep our networks strong. More
than 971 percent of our switches are digital; we
have more than 1.8 million miles of fiber strands
grouped into 42,000 miles of cable; and we have
more than 2,700 SONET (Synchronous Optical
Network) fiber rings for reliable transmission. This
infrastructure enables us to deliver a high-quality,
dependable dial tone 99.9 percent of the time.

A focus on building strong networks has
allowed SBC to build value in core operations
while setting the stage to extend that value
through new revenue streams.
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DATA STRENGTH

SBC balances the need to grow existing services with |

the desire to be among the first-to-market with new products.

Over the past year, SBC significantly increased
sales of existing, high-speed data services such as
integrated Services Digital Network (ISDN) and
frame relay through creative marketing.

We created Turbo Access ISDN, which inciudes
product instaliation and inside wiring so that all
customers have to do is sign up. Frame Relay is
another high-speed service that allows data to be
exchanged very quickly. SBC developed FasTrak
Managed Frame Relay Service for customers who
want to outsource existing frame relay networks.
We launched FasTrak DSL, based on Asymmetric
Digital Subscriber Line technology (ADSL), in a
limited number of cities, and we expect a broader
launch in 1998. ADSL enables high-speed digital

data service over existing copper lines.

Also new is our internet/Intranet Transport
Service (lITS), designed to route Internet traffic from
the voice network to a high-speed data retwork.

Qur reputation for reliabiiity is driving demand
for our Internet service. In fact. Business Week
magazine recently ranked Southwestern Belf and
Pacific Bell Internet Services as No. 1 and No. 2,
respectively, in percentage of successfui connections.

As the demand for high-speed data services
increases, SBC will continue to see a solid return
on investment in this high-growth area.

VERTICAL SERVICES OPPORTUNITIES

Our vertical services strategy is

simple: create more value from existing assets.

The more services a customer has on one telephone
line, the greater the revenue produced by that line.
As we increase our access lines, we are selling more
services on those lines.

I fact, Southwestern Bell leads the industry
with an average of 2.27 vertical features per line.
We are sharing the expertise gained in the
Southwestern Bell markets at Pacific Bell, where the
average is 0.73 features per line. The goal is to
increase this average to 1.15 features by 2000
through a combination of promotion, sales skills
training, packaging, third-party sales and strategic
pricing changes. These efforts should produce
$100 million in new revenue by 2000.

In Caller ID, SBC has an industry-leading
residential market penetration of 47 percent in its
Southwestern Belf markets. Caller ID penetration in
California increased from about 1.5 percent in
1996 to 6.4 percent in 1997 Pacific Bell is targeting
30 percent residential penetration and an additional
$100 million in new annual revenue by 2000 from
this effort.

PAGE 12

Key to our success is helping customers
understand the benefits of Caller ID and reducing
the number of fines that block Caller ID, a common
probiem in California. At the end of 1997, one
million more customers chose to let their numbers
show. We are continuing our customer education
campaigns and adding features such as Caller Name
to increase the value of Caller ID.

Diversity marketing practices will help; for
example, Southwestern Bell and Pacific Bell
employees communicate with customers in eight
languages.

New products such as Call Waiting Deluxe,
which will be introduced in 1998, help customers
use their telephones more efficiently. At the same
time, SBC gains more of the telecommunications
doilar from high-volume customers. Call Waiting
Detuxe displays the name and number of the
person calling even when the customer is on
another call. This new product will be part of a
complete SBC call management system.




WIRELESS STRENGTH

With 5.5 million wireless subscribers, SBC is one of

the largest and strongest wireless providers in the world.

We have a 13-year record of successful wireless
business strategies and a 12.2 percent wireiess
penetration rate, one of the highest in the industry,
in our traditional, network-based cellular markets.
In 1997 alone, SBC added 1 million wireless
subscribers, including nearly 340,000 for Personal
Communications Services (PCS) at Pacific Bell
Mobile Services.

In California and Nevada, SBC offers PCS under
the Pacific Bell and Nevada Bell brand names. In the
southwest region and select markets throughout
the country — including Chicago, central lllirois,
Boston, upstate New York, Baltimore and
Washington, D.C. — SBC offers wireless services

under the Southwestern Bell and Celiular One brand

names — names customers have come to trust for
reliabie, dependable service.

The success of our PCS launch in California
and Nevada exceeded qur expectations and we are
growing the business. We invested $770 million to
build out our all-digital PCS network that covers the
major roadways to reach 90 percent of California
and Nevada residents.

Among 35 million people living in both states,
there are only an estimated 7 miflion wireless
customers — a substantial growth opportunity for
the new PCS services.

An all-digital PCS network, strong cellular
markets and operational experience give us a strong
competitive advantage.

THE LONG DISTANCE OPPORTUNITY

Providing long distance in our

markets is a top priority.

The Telecommunications Act of 1996 offered
hope that Bell companies would no longer be
barred from the long distance business.

SBC challenged portions of the Act that
unfairly singled us out. and we continue to apen
our markets to local competition as required by
the Act, which we never contested. Our goal is to
pravide long distance service, and we are pursuing
a dual-track process — through the application
process in each state and through legal channels
-— to gain entry into this business. We want the
support of and will continue to work with the
FCC, the U.S. Depariment of Justice and state
regulators to show that we have opened our
markets.

Overall, long distance in our service territory
is about a $13 billion opportunity. Assuming a
15 percent to 20 percent penetration rate —
which other companies have achieved — our

revenue opportunity from long distance could be

PCS Strategy
Qur PCS launch in

California and Nevuda

$1.5 billion to $2 billion annually.
Long distance is a natural product extension
of our existing telecommunications business.

shows the value of
Through our wireless subsidiaries, we already serve wifering u high-quality
3.6 million long distance customers. product under

When we are allowed to do so, our strategy is srong brands.
to enter the market as a reseller of long distance
service to all customers in our seven-state region.

Reselling has many advantages. It gives us a
tow entry cost and flexibility. We can better control
costs during a phased rollout of the service by
market as the FCC grants authority, and we can
maintain appropriate margins.

Longer term, we plan to build or acquire
network facilities that will allow us. to offer service
through our facilities when it makes ecanomic and
business sense.
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—> he ability to spot and seize

OppOl"l‘lm.lfl‘Z.t?S has enabled us to build strong businesses in growing
markets — and derive the maximum value from each opportunity. SBC has a solid track
record of converting acquisitions to long-term shareowner value. Meanwhile, we divest
ventures when they do not bring value to our shareowners, as demonstrated in scaling
back our direct involvement in video services in 1997. - SBC’s deliberate management
style guided us through our merger with Pacific Telesis. It continues to provide the
framework to address industry issues, such as local competition, and make scund, strategic

investments here and abroad.

Fxecution

D.STOMER FQJL S \

* Making nearly 10 miilion
customer contacts a month Recognizing
SWISS OPPORTUNITIES Potential
* Managing role in Switzerland consortium oving 1l
. . m—————————  Spping Hie
with plans to offer local, long distance, ceing le
data and wireless services value i eaclh
CROWING TRENCH WIRELESS npportunity
+ Doubled wireless market share to
40 percent in the first two years J
-
PACIFEC TELESIS w
* ldentified opportunities to add .
. . Seizing
$1 billion in net income by 2000
CrLLULAR ONE Opportunities.
* Today boasts industry-leading Converting
wireless penetration wequisitions (0 ¢
SOUTH AFRICA direowner
* An 18 percent stake in Telkom e
South Africa that already has had

a positive effect on earnings /
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Becoming the

world’s most admired

telecommunications company

was no accident.

THE VALUE OF THE MERGER

SBC’s recognition by Fortune magazine

underscores the reputation and record of success resulting from our

disciplined management approach and focus on creating long-term

shareowner value.

SBC's merger with Pacific Telesis is a solid example
of seizing an opportunity to generate greater
returns as ane company than either company
could have achieved alone.

The key to unlocking the value of the merger
has been the swift integration of the two companies.
Within a week of completing the Aprii 1, 1997,
merger, we assembled more than 50 employee value-
creation teams to evaluate all aspects of the
combined business. The teams identified
250 initiatives, each with an associated business plan
with direct ties to compensation for performance.

Based on these initiatives, SBC identified
opportunities to add $1 billion annually to net

income by 2000. This opportunity is the after-tax
combination of $500 million in revenue and
$1.2 billion in expense savings. in addition, mare
than $300 miilion in annual capital savings are
targeted by 2000.
Realizing the full value of the merger involves
some initial costs. We expect to incur about
one dollar of cost for each dollar of opportunity
identified, so the full value of the merger will not
be reflected in our operating resuits until 2000.
Our initiatives focus on identifying new revenue
opportunities, taking advantage of scale, eliminating
duplication and adopting best practices.
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Hevene Unporigtiies: Reaching our
$500 million revenue goal by 2000 will depend
largely an increasing our revenue per access line
through efforts such as increasing the level of vertical
services penetration and through products such
as Caller ID (See Section on Great Businesées).

Taking \drantage 0! Seale: SBC's new
combined buying power should help to save about
7 percent in procurement costs. We estimate saving
$500 million per year by 2000 — $200 million in
expense and $300 million in capital — through
these efforts.

Etiminating Duplication: About $350 million
in savings will come from combining similar
services within each company without lasing

quality or our customer focus. After careful review,

CUSTOMER SERVICE STRENGTH

we are consolidating our network operating
centers from 48 to six: telemarketing centers from
10 to four; and collection centers from 24 to 13
without sacrificing quality or service.

ldopting Best Practices: We were fortunate to
find outstanding practices in both companies and
have been quick to use the best of each. Qur goal
is to save $650 million in expenses through these
initiatives by 2000.

Some of these practices include innovative
ways 1o increase productivity while impraving
customer service. For example, we have adopted
Clobal Positioning System (GPS) technology to
help track and dispatch our thousands of trucks
to service calls more quickly, Qur pilot program
in Dallas shows that GPS use reduces the time

required to complete service calls.

A true test of running our business well

— and what sets us apart from our competitors — is service.

SBC makes about 10 million customer contacts
each month. We know that good service every day
is critical to retaining and winning business.

Our customers tell us we're doing things right.
In the 1997 ].D. Power & Associates Wireline
Customer Satisfaction Survey, Pacific Bell and
Southwestern Bell anked number two and number
three, respectively, among the 13 largest U.S.
tetephone companies.

As demand for telecommunications services
expands, the challenge is to manage growth while
reducing expenses and improving customer service.
In California, we hired about 2,000 people to
meet demand and market our capabilities more
effectively.

Through on-the-job training programs, such as
our STAR (Service That Achieves Revenue) initiative,
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we are ensuring that our people listen to customer.
needs to match them with a range of SBC products
and services,

We have also created a “virtual” sales team
through linked call centers to handle demand more
efficiently and offer longer hours of operation.

As a result, customers can reach us when they need
us, strengthening our reputation for reliable and
dependable service.

The employees of SBC represent an important
competitive advantage, especially through efforts like
our Ambassador Program, which involves hundreds of
employees as personal advocates for customers,



CUSTOMER AOVOCACY l We intervene on our customers’ behalf to make

sure the service they choose is not taken from them illegally.

We have instituted campaigns that help customers
understand their rights and course of action if they
have been slammed.

Slamming is the unauthorized and illegal
switching of a customer’s service from one carrier
to another. We've found that most customers
who have been slammed don't realize it until
unauthorized charges appear on their bills.

A related problem, dubbed cramming, is also
on the increase. Cramming occurs when companies
bill customers for products and services they
haven't ordered, and may not have received.
These activities are increasing as the number of

telecommunications competitors increases.

LOCAL COMPETITION

the markeiplace.

Local competition has been a tough issue for all
major telecommunications providers. As soon as the
FCC considers our local markets open to
competition, SBC will be allowed to offer long
distance service. The way we have handled this issue
while focusing on customers and shareowners has set
us apart from our competitors.

QOur customers say they want one-stop
shopping — telecommunications services,
including local, wireless, data and long distance,
from one company. Our goal is to provide these
services.

However, since passage of the Telecommuni-
cations Act, issues on how we can proceed have
been unclear. SBC has sought to clarify these issues,
resulting in court filings to protect our shareowners
and ensure a level playing field to benefit customers.
We are not alone; every major Local Exchange Carrier
(LEC), InterExchange Carrier (IXC) and most of the
states also have sought court clarification.

SBC is committed to enabling local
lompetition. We created a Special Business Unit of
more than 3,000 employees to manage
compliance efforts, and through the end of 1997

We have introduced education programs to
heip customers understand the problems of cram-
ming and slamming and their rights should these
fraudulent practices affect them. And when an
unwanted change occurs in their service, we become
our customers’ advocate, helping them io continue
receiving the high-quality service we provide, which
is why they chose SBC in the first place.

We're ready to meet our competitors in

spent more than $1.1 billion to open our network
to competitors.

At the end of 1997, SBC had interconnection
agreements with more than 270 competing
companies. About half a million access lines have
been converied ta Campetitive Local Exchange
Carriers (CLECs) and {XCs for resale in our seven-
state territory. Importantly, resold lines still
generate wholesale revenues for SBC. ,

SBC, through our Southwestern Bell subsidiary,
has set the industry standard for Operational
Support Systems (OSS). These highly efficient
electronic order processing systems handle orders
from competitors who have agreements to connect
into SBC’s networks. OS5 is a kay requirement in
opening markets to competition.

We are fully prepared to meet our competitors
in the marketplace. We are committed to opening
our markets and are focused on offering long
distance service — an investment that will truly
create long-term shareowner vaiue.
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- TILELTED FINANCIAL AND OPERATING DATA

_— Dollars in millions except per share amounts

pd

>

P At December 31 or for the year ended: 1997’ 1996 1995 1994 19937

M srnefod Data

; Operating revenues $24,856 _ $23,445  $21.712 $21006  $20,084

— Operating expenses $21,686 517609 $16592 316,056 $17.077
Operating income $ 3170 5 5836 5120 $ 4950 $ 3007

ﬁ interest expense $ 947 3 812 5§ 957 % 935 § 1,005

A Equity in net income of affiliates $ 200 % 207 $ 120 % 226 $ 250

— Income taxes $ 863 $1960 51519 § 1448 § 658

—_— Income from continuing operations before extraordinary

@) loss and cumuiative effect of accounting changes® $ 1,474 33189 $ 2958 $ 2777 % 1,589

Z Net income {loss) $ 1,474 $ 3279 $(3.064) S 2,800 $(2474)
Earnings per common share:
Income from continuing operations before extraordinary

loss and cumulative effect of accounting changes’ $ 081 3% 173 $§ 161 $ 152 % 088
Net income (loss) $ 081 $ 178 3% (166) 3% 154 % (1.37)
Earnings per common share - Assuming Dilution:*
Income from continuing operations before extraordinary
loss and cumulative effect of accounting changes® $ 080 §$§ 172 §$ 160 $ 152 3 0.88

Net income (loss) $ 080 $ 177 % (1.66) $ 153 % (1.37) |-
Total assets $42,132 $39485 337,112 $46,113 347,695
Long-term debt . $12,019 $10,930 $10,409 $10,746  $10,58%
Construction and capital expendltures $ 5766 3 5481 $ 4,338 $ 3981 % 4021
Free cash flow* , $ 1,204 § 1,935 $ 2,452 $ 2952 % 2,147
Dividends declared per common share*’ $085 § 08 § 0825 $ 079 % 0755 |
Book value per common share*? $ 538 $ 528 § 457 $ 729 § 834
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges 2.66 5.34 5.24 5.01 2.9
Return on weighted average shareowners’ equity’ 14.75% 33.73% 23.97% 1943% 11.06%
Debt ratio® 56.19% 55.49% 61.73% 48.57% 45.30%
Phoerating Data® .
EBITDA® $8092 $ 9945 $9154 §$8774 $ 6750
Network access lines in service (000) 33,440 31,841 30,317 29,147 28,234
Access minutes of use {000,000) 129,817 123,303 112,874 100,800 93,877
Wireless customers (000) 5,493 4,433 3,672 2,992 2,049
Number of employees 118,340  109.870 108,189 110,390 113,755

* Restated to reflect two-for-one stock split declared January 30, 1998,

" Operating data may be periodically revised to reflect the most current information availabie.

' As detailed in management’s discussion and analysis of Results of Operations, 1997 results include charges for several items including strategic initiatives
and ongoing merger integration costs, gain on the sale of SBC’s interests in Bell Communications Research, Inc. and a first quarter after-tax settlement gain.
Excluding these items, SBC reported an adjusted net income of $3.364 for 1997

? As noted in management's discussion and analysis of Other Business Matters — Restructuring Reserve, 1993 results include restructuring costs at Pacific Telesis
Group. Excluding these costs, $BC reported incame from continuing operations before extraordinary loss and cumulative effect of accounting changes of $2,450.

* 1996, Change in directory accounting; 1995, Discontinuance of Regulatory Accounting; 1994-1993, Income (loss) from spun-off operations: and 1993,
Early Extinguishment of Debt and Cumulative £ffect of Changes in Accounting Principles,

* Free cash flow is net cash provided by operating activities less construction and capital expenditures.

¥ Dividends declared by SBC's Board of Directors; these amounts do not include dividends deciared and paid by Pacific Telesis Group prior to the merger. 3

¢ Sharegwners equuty used in book value per common share and debt ratio caiculations includes extraordinary loss and changes in accounting principles. S

" Caleulated using income before extraordinary loss and changes in accounting principles. These impacts are included in shareowners’ equity.

* EBITDA is earnings before interest. taxes. depreciation and amortization {operating income plus depreciation and amortization). SBC considers EBITDA an
important cemponent in our economic value added systems as an indicator of the operationai strength and performance of our businesses. It is provided as

supplemental information ang is not intended to be 3 substitute for aperating incomie, net income or net cash pravided by operating activities as a measure
of financial performance or liquidity.

;
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wiAN‘ACEM'ENT's DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Oollars in millions except per share amounts

NRC Communications fne. (SBC) is a holding company whose subsidiaries and affiliates operaie predominanty
1e communications services industry. SBCs subsidiaries and wffiliates provide landline and wireless
Yeleconununications services and equipment. directory advertising and cable felevisinn services.

On April 1, 1997, SBC completed a merger which resulted in
Pacific Telesis Group (PAC) becoming a wholly-owned
subsidiary of SBC. Among PAC’s subsidiaries are Pacific Beil
{PacBell, which also inciudes its subsidiaries) and Nevada Bell.
The merger was accounted for as a pooling of interests and a
tax-free reorganization. Accordingly, the financial statements
for the periods presented have been restated to include the
accounts of PAC (see Note 3 to the Financial Statements).
SBC's largest telephone subsidiaries are Southwestern Bell
Telephone Company (SWBell), providing landline telecommunications
and related services over approximately 16-million access lines in
Texas, Missouri, Oklahoma, Kansas and Arkansas (five-state area),

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Summary

and PacBell, providing telecommunications and related services over
approximately 17 million access lines in California, SBC also provides
telecommunications and related services through its Nevada Bell
subsidiary over approximately 300 thousand access lines in Nevada.
(SWBell, PacBell and Nevada Bell are collectively referred to as the
Telephone Companies.) The Telephone Companies are subject to
regulation by each of the states in which they operate and by the
Federal Communications Commission (FCC).

This discussion should be read in conjunction with the
consofidated financial statements and the accompanying notes.
All per share data has been restated to reflect the two-for-one
stock split, effected in the form of a stock dividend, declared
January 30, 1998 (see Note 15 to the Financial Statements).

Financial results, including percentage changes from the prior year, are summarized as fallows:

Percent Change

1997 vs. 1996 vs.
1997 1996 1995 1996 1995
Operating revenues $24,856 523,445 $21.712 6.0% 8.0%
fnerating expenses $21,686 317609 $16,592 23.2% 6.1%
me before extraordinary loss and
cumulative effect of accounting change $ 1474 § 3189 % 2958 (53.8)% 7.8%
Extraordinary loss - - $(6022) - -
Cumulative effect of accounting change - $ 90 - - -
Net income (loss) $ 1,474 § 3279 $ (3.064) - -

SBC recognized the cumulative effect of a change in accounting
in 1996 relating to recognition of directory publishing revenues
and related expenses and an extraordinary loss in 1995 from the
discontinuance of regulatory accounting at SWBell and PacBell.
SBC's net income for 1997 includes after-tax charges of
approximately $2.0 billion reflecting strategic initiatives
resulting from a comprehensive review of operations of the
merged company, the impact of several regulatory rulings
during the second quarter of 1997, costs incurred for customer
number portability since the merger and charges for ongoing
merger integration costs. Excluding these items, SBC reported
net income of $3,487 for 1997 Net income for 1997 was also
favorably affected by $33 representing SBC's after-tax gain on
the sale of its interests in Bell Communications Research, Inc.
(Bellcore) and a first quarter 1997 $90 after-tax settlement
gain at PAC associated with lump-sum pension payments that
exceeded the projected service and interest costs for 1996
retirements. Excluding these additional items, SBC reported an
adjusted net income of $3,364 for 1997, 5.5% higher than
‘796 income before cumulative effect of accounting change of
$,189. The primary factors contributing to this increase were
growth in demand for services and products at the Telephone
Companies and Southwestern Bell Mobile Systems (Mobile
Systems), partiaily offset by increased expenses at PacBell,

including expenses for the introduction of Personal
Communications Services (PCS) operations in California and
Nevada. The primary factors contributing to the increase in
income before extraordinary loss and cumulative effect of
accounting change in 1996 were growth in demand for services
and products at the Telephone Companies and Mobile Systems.

W Special
charges Income from
Hl Income from Continuing
continuing
operations Operations Before
before
extraordinary Extraordinary Loss
toss and
accounting and Accounting
changes >—'>‘
Changes
Resulls for (997
und (993 were
affected by
94 95 95 97 ERCELER special charges.
in billions) ./

ltems affecting the comparison of the operating results
between 1997 and 1996, and between 1996 and 1995, are
discussed in the following sections.
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AANACIMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS. continued

Dotlars in millions except per share amounts

Dperating Revenues

SBC's operating revenues for 1997 reflect reductions of $188 related primarily to the impact of several regulatory rulings during the
second quarter of 1997 Excluding these reductions, SBC's operating revenues increased $1,599, or 6.8%. in 1997 and $1,733, or
8.0%, in 1996. Components of total operating revenues, including percentage changes from the prior year, are as follows;

Percent Change

1997 vs. 1996 vs.
1997 1996 1995 1996 1995
Local service
Landline $ 9,568 % 8,754 $ 8118 2.3% 7.8%
Wireless 3,034 2,635 2,247 15.1 17.3
Network access
Interstate 3,946 4,008 3,770 (1.5) 6.3
intrastate 1,869 1,823 1.744 2.5 45
Long-distance service 2,115 2,240 2,072 (5.6) 8.1 .
Directory advertising 2,11 1,985 1,984 6.3 0.1
Other 2,213 2,000 1,777 10.7 12.5
$24,856 $23,445 $21,712 6.0% 3.0%

f.ocut >erviee Landline local service revenues increased in
1997 and 1996 due primarily to increases in demand, including
increases in residential and business access lines and vertical
services revenues. Total access lines increased by 5.0% in both
years, of which approximately 50% was due to growth in
California and over 30% was due to growth in Texas. Access
lines in Texas and California account for approximately 80% of
the Telephone Companies’ access lines. Approximately 32% of
access line growth in both years was due to sales of additional
access lines to existing residential customers. Vertical services
revenues, which include custom calling options, Caller ID and
other enhanced services, increased by approximately 20% in
1997 and 29% in 1996. Local service revenues also reflect the
implementation of the California High Cost Fund (CHCFB) that

" Local service \
B Network
access Distribution
N Long-distance of Revenues
‘ Operating revenue
oi >—>
u aé’:;tt?g‘g growth has been
driven by focul
B Other
service growth.

{doltars
in billions) _/)

went into effect February 1, 1997 The California Public Utilities
Commission (CPUC) has stated that the CHCFB is intended to
directly subsidize the provision of service to high cost areas
and allow PacBell to set competitive rates for other services.
The rebalancing provisions of the CHCFB resulted in a shift
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from long-distance revenues of $84 and intrastate network
access revenues of $26 to local service revenues in 1997 For
further information on the operations of the CHCFB, see the
discussion under the heading “Regulatory Environment —
California.” Additionaily, Federal payphone deregulation in 1997
increased local service revenues and decreased long-distancs
service revenues and interstate network access revenues; the
overall impact was a slight increase in total operating revenues.
Rate reductions in 1997 due to CPUC price cap orders partially
offset increases in landline local service revenues. '
Wireless locai service revenues increased in 1997 and 1996
due primarily to growth in the number of Maobile Systems’
ceftular customers of 16.3% and 20.7 %, partiafly offset by
declines in average revenue per customer. 1997 wireléss local
service revenues also include revenues from the introduction of
PCS operations in California, Nevada and Oklahoma. At
December 31, 1997, 58C had 5,068,000 traditional cellular
customers, 60,000 resale customers and 365,000 PCS
customers. At December 31, 1996, SBC had 4,398,000
traditicnai cellular customers and 35,000 resale customers.
Network Access Interstate network access revenues decreased
in 1997 due to $187 in charges. These charges include billing
claim settlements related to the Percentage Interstate Usage (PIU)
factor in California and several Federal regulatory issues including
end-user charges, recovery of certain employee-related expenses
and the retroactive effect of the productivity factor adjustment
mandated in the July 1, 1997 Federal price cap filing. While the
change in the PIU factor in California, which is used to allocate
network access revenues between interstate and intrastate jurisdic-
tions, also had the effect of increasing intrastate network access
revenues, it resulted in a slight deciine in total network access
revenues. Excluding these impacts, interstate network access
revenues increased in 1997 and 1996 due largely to increases in
demand for access services by interexchange carriers. Growth in
revenues from end-user charges attributable to an increasing
access line base also contributed to the increases in both years.
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MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS.

Dollars in millions except per share amounts

associated with lump-sum pension payments that exceeded the
projected service and interest costs for 1996 retirements.
Selling, general and administrative expense increased in 1996
due primarily to growth at Mobile Systems and increases in
contracted services, employee compensation and software
costs. Expenses incurred at PAC to prepare support systems for
local competition and for new business initiatives also
contributed to the increase in 1996.

Lrepreciation and imortizution in 1997 reflects charges
totaling $592 to record impairment of plant and intangibles.

As discussed in Note 3 to the Financial Statements, the most
significant of these impairments related to the wireless digital

TV operations in southern California, certain analog switching
equipment in California,.certain rural and other telecommunica-
tions equipment in Nevada, selected wireless equipment and
cable within commercial buildings in California. Excluding these
charges, depreciation and amortization increased $221, or 5.4%,
in 1997 due primarily to overail higher plant levels. Reduced
depreciation begjnning with the second quarter of 1997 on
analog switching equipment in California at PacBell partially
offset this increase. Depreciation and amortization also increased
in 1996 due primarily to overall higher plant levels.

Interest Expense increased $135, or 16.6%, in 1997 and
decreased 3145, or 15.2%, in 1996. The 1997 increase was
due primarily to increased average debt levels at SBC. Also
contributing to the increase was interest associated with the
second quarter 1997 one-time charges, primarily interest on
the merger-approval costs. The 1996 decrease was due to

_a change in PAC's capital structure, which replaced a portion
of interest expense with amounts recorded as Other Income
(Expense) ~ Net (see Note 10 to the Financial Statements),
lower long-term debt levels in SBC subsidiaries other than PAC,
and capitalization of interest during construction required
by the discontinuance of regulatory accounting in the third
quarter of 1995, Under regulatory accounting, the Telephone
Companies accounted for capitalization of both interest and
equity costs during periods of construction as other income.

Equity in Net Income of Affiliates decreased $6 in 1997
and increased $87 in 1996. The 1997 decrease reflects
decreased income from SBC's investment in Teléfonos de
México, S.A. de C.V. (Telmex). Mexico's national telecommunica-
tions company. This lower income resulted from the change in
the functional currency used by SBC to record its interest in
Telmex from the peso to the U.S. dollar beginning in 1997 and
SBC's reduced ownership percentage after the sale of Telmex L
shares. Results also reflect preoperating expenses in several
international investments inciuding long-distance in France,
Switzerland and Israel, and cellular communications in Taiwan.
These decreases were mainly offset by income from SBC's May
1997 investment in Telkom SA Limited (Telkem) of South Africa,
whose results reflected strong growth and expense manage-

ment, and lower losses resulting from the reduced involvement
in Tele-TV.
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continued

The 1996 increase reflects increased income from Teime:
due to the relative stabilization of the peso compared to 1995
and net gains on international affiliate transactions. Results for
1995 include losses on SBC’s United Kingdom cable television
operations, which were accounted for under the equity method
prior to October 1995, and exchange losses on the non-peso
denominated debt of Telmex. Results for 1996 and 1995 aiso
reflect reductions in the translated amount of U.S. dollar
earnings from Telmex's operations. Operational growth at
Telmex in both vears somewhat offset these declines.

SBC’s earnings from foreign affiliates wili continue to be
generally sensitive to exchange rate changes in the value of the
respective local currencies. SBC's foreign investments are
recorded under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP), which include adjustments for the purchase method of.
accounting and exclude certain adjustments required for local
reporting in specific countries, such as inflation adjustments.
SBC's equity earnings in 1998 will reflect SBC's investment in
Telkom for a full year of operations (see Nota 16 to the
Financial Statements for discussion of the Telkam investment).

Other income (Expense) - Net decreased $5 in 1997
and $276 in 1996. Results for 1997 reflect $26 in second
quarter charges related to SBC's strategic initiatives, primarily
writeoffs of nonoperating plant. Other decreases relate
primarily to the market valuation adjustment on certain SBC
debt redeemable either in cash or Telmex L shares and
distributions paid on an additionai $500 of Trust Originated
Preferred Securities (TOPrS) sold by PAC in June 1996. Partially
offsetting these increased expenses were the gain recognized
from the sale of SBC's interests in Bellcore, royalty payments
associated with software developed by an affiliate and the gain
on the sale of Telmex L shares. The decrease in 1996 reflects
the inclusion in 1995 of the gain recognized from the merger of
SBC's United Kingdom cable television operations into TeleWest
(see Note 16 to the Financial Statements) and interest income
from tax refunds, somewhat offset by expenses associated with
the refinancing of long-term debt by the Telephone Companies
(see Note 9 to the Financial Statements). Additional decreases
in 1996 related to the reclassification of interest during
construction required by the discontinuance of regulatory
accounting in the third quarter of 1995 and the change in
PAC's capital structure noted in the discussion of Interest
Expense (see Note 10 to the Financial Statements).

Income Tax expense decreased $1,097 or 56.0%, in 1997
and increased $441, or 29.0%, in 1996. income taxes for 1997
reflect the tax effect of charges for strategic initiatives resulting
from SBC's comprehensive review of operations of the merged
company, the impact of several regulatory rulings during the
second quarter of 1997, costs incurred for customer number
portability since the merger and charges for ongoing merger
integration costs. Excluding these items, income taxes for 197
were lower. Contributing to the decrease in income tax expen.
in 1997 was, among other items, realization of foreign tax
credits. Income taxes paid, net of refunds, reflect the impact of
reduced tax payments due to merger-related and integration costs




ncur-4. The 1996 increase was due primarily to higher income

sef.  come taxes. Taxes also increased in 1996 reflecting a
‘year's effects of the elimination of excess deferred taxes and

. _s reduction in the amortization of investment tax credits

-esulting from the discontinuance of regulatory accounting,

. ich occurred in the latter part of 1995.

Extraordinary Loss In 1995, SBC recorded an extraordi-
nary loss of $6 billion from the discontinuance of regulatory
accounting, The loss included a reduction in the net carrying

wwe of telephone plant and the elimination of net regulatory
.ssets of SWBell and PacBell (see Note 2 to the Financial
Statements).
Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change As discussed in
ote 1 to the Financial Statements, PBDirectory changed its
method of recognizing directory publishing revenues and
-alated expenses effective January 1, 1996. The cumulative
fter-tax effect of applying the new method to prior years is
recognized as of January 1, 1996 as a one-time. non-cash gain
applicable to continuing operations of $90, or $0.05 per share,
he gain is net of deferred taxes of $53. Management believes
ais change to the issue basis method is preferable because it is
the method generally followed in the publishing industry,
scluding Yellow Pages, and better reflects the operating activity
f the business. This accounting change is not expected to have
a significant effect on net income in future periods.

FATING ENVIRONMENT
. TRENDS OF THE BUSINESS

Regulatory Environment The telecommunications industry
is in transition from a tightly regulated industry overseen by mul-
tiple regulatory bodies, to a more incentive-based, market driven
industry monitored by state and federal agencies. The Telephone
Companies’ wireline telecommunications operations remain sub-
ject to regulation by the seven states in which they operate for
intrastate services and by the FCC for interstate services. ln 1997,
new price cap regulatory plans were implemented for the
Telephone Companies in Missouri and Nevada, and in Oklahoma,
iegislation passed allowing alternative regulation. The Telephone

' Companies under price cap regulation have the freedom to
establish and modify prices for some services as long as they do
_not exceed the price caps, as well as the freedom to change
-~ prices for some services without regulatory approval.

Federal Regulation During 1997, the FCC issued an Access
Reform Order restructuring access charges paid for interex-
change carrier access to the Telephone Companies’ networks.
The order raises the flat monthly end user charge for primary
business lines, and additional residence and business lines, and

 lowers the price caps on per minute access charges for interstate
* long distance carriers. These changes, which took effect in 1997
and January 1998, are supposed to shift sources of revenue
from carriers to end users without changing the total amount of
~venue received by the Local Exchange Carriers (LECs).

4 The FCC's price cap plan for the LECs provides for changes
to be made annually to the price caps for inflation, productivity
and changes in other costs. In 1997 the Telephone Companies
were ordered to begin using a 6.5% productivity offset, with no

sharing. Prior to 1997, there were three productivity offsets,
two of which provided for a sharing of profits above a specified
earnings level with the Telephone Companies’ customers and a
higher productivity offset which did not include sharing. The
Telephone Companies had elected the higher 5.3%
productivity offset without sharing.

With the passage of the Telecommunications Act of 1996
(Telecom Act), the FCC has been conducting further
proceedings in conjunction with access reform to address a
number of pricing and productivity issues. and is performing a
broader review of price cap regulation in the context of the
increasingly more competitive telecommunications enviranment.
The Chairman of the FCC has indicated that the FCC intends to
act on these proceedings in 1998. The Telecom Act and FCC
actions taken to impiement provisions of the Telecom Act are
discussed further under the heading “Competitive Environment.”

Pursuant to the Telecom Act, the local coin rate in the
payphone industry was deregulated by the FCC on October 7.
1997, and LECs were required to remove any direct or indirect
subsidy of payphone service from their regulated
telecommunications operations. Removal of the subsidy caused
the Telephone Companies to raise local coin rates throughout
their operating territories in 1997
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State Regulation With the implementation of Nevada's
price cap plan which efiminated the sharing provision previously
in effect, six of the seven state regulatory plans under which the
Telephone Companies operate do not include sharing. The
California price cap plan still includes sharing. However, there
has been no sharing in California in the last two years.

Culifornia The California Public Utility Commission's (CPUC)
form of price caps requires PacBell to submit an annual price cap
filing to determine prices for categories of services for each new
year. The productivity factor used in calculating price caps has
been set equal to the inflation factor for the period 1996-1998.
The price cap plan includes a sharing mechanism that requires
PacBell to share its earnings with customers above certain
earnings levels. in December 1997, the CPUC adopted a decision
on PacBell's 1997 price cap filing resulting in a revenue reduction
in 1998 of approximately $86 effective January 1, 1998. The
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